D<mark>O NOT REPR</mark>INT © FORTINET

FERTIFIED PROFESSIONAL

Network Security

Secure Wireless LAN Administrator

Study Guide

FortiOS 7.4





DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET

Fortinet Training Institute - Library

https://training.fortinet.com

Fortinet Product Documentation

https://docs.fortinet.com

Fortinet Knowledge Base

https://kb.fortinet.com

Fortinet Fuse User Community

https://fusecommunity.fortinet.com/home

Fortinet Forums

https://forum.fortinet.com

Fortinet Product Support

https://support.fortinet.com

FortiGuard Labs

https://www.fortiguard.com

Fortinet Training Program Information

https://www.fortinet.com/nse-training

Fortinet | Pearson VUE

https://home.pearsonvue.com/fortinet

Fortinet Training Institute Helpdesk (training questions, comments, feedback)

https://helpdesk.training.fortinet.com/support/home



5/3/2024

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET

TABLE OF CONTENTS

00 Wireless Network Fundamentals	
01 Managed FortiAP	
02 Wireless Security	
03 Wireless Network Access	
04 FortiAP Profiles	
05 Rogue APs and FortiPresence	
06 Advanced Options and Monitoring	
07 Troubleshooting	



In this lesson, you will learn about wireless technology concepts.

Lesson Overview

Radio Transmission Fundamentals

Wireless LAN Fundamentals

WFA, IEEE, and 802.11 WLAN Standards

Wireless LAN Architecture and AP deployment

F BRTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 2

In this lesson, you will learn about the topics shown on this slide.



After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objectives shown on this slide.

By demonstrating competence in radio transmission fundamentals, you will be able to plan and build an efficient wireless network.

What Are RF Signals?

- Alternating analog electromagnetic current which travels between two or more points that are not physically connected
- An antenna that radiates that signal in the form of a wave
 - Known as a carrier signal
- The wave can be modulated to carry information
 - In wireless LAN technology, binary is encoded
 - In AM/FM radio, music and voice are encoded
- There are many types of signal modulation used in wireless LANs
- The wave propagates through the air until it is received by an antenna
 - · Wave is demodulated back into binary

FERTINET. Training Institute



As you know, when computers talk, they communicate in binary strings of ones and zeros.

Traditional wireless signals behave differently. They use alternating analogue electromagnetic waves to communicate information between two points that are not physically connected.

Typically, radio signals are transmitted or radiated in the form of a sine wave, often known as a carrier signal. This carrier signal has a constant, predictable pattern alternating between two energy levels. By itself, a signal does not carry any information, at least not until it is modulated.

Wireless LAN technology uses encoded binary signals. Traditional radio and TV stations send encoded music, voice, or video signals.

Wireless LANs can use *many* different types of signal modulation. The type depends on the wireless standard in use, and the health of the wireless connection between radios.

Modulation changes various parameters of the signal. Those changes can be used to encode information onto the carrier signal.

Changes in wave form are transmitted across free space until they reach a receiver. During that time they are subject to various laws of physics that can change the properties of the signal, some of which can affect the quality of the signal, and, as a result, the performance of the wireless connection.

Assuming the signal reaches the receiving radio in good condition, the receiving radio compares the sine wave pattern with the encoded version to detect the changes made during modulation and then decodes the information that was sent.

RF Signal Properties—Frequency

- Measure of how many times a wave cycles from peak to peak in a second
- The higher the frequency, the higher the tone
 - Human ear can detect 20 to 20,000 Hz
 - Fog horn—150 Hz
 - High-pitched scream—3000 Hz
- RF frequency range:
 - 3 kHz to 300 GHz

FURTINET

Training Institute

• The more waves there are, the more options you have to modulate data



The defining property of RF signals is frequency. Frequency is a measure of how many times the wave alternates from a lower energy state to a higher energy state in a second.

For an extremely low frequency signal of 2 Hz, the wave will cycle two times a second. The higher the frequency, the more times the signal will alternate.

A useful analogy is sound, which, although it's not traditionally considered to be part of the electromagnetic spectrum, exhibits similar properties to radio waves. The human ear can detect a range of frequencies of sound, from the lowest at 20 Hz, to the highest at 20,000 Hz. The lower the frequency, the lower the tone. For example, a fog horn typically emits a signal at about 150 Hz, which results in a sound that can travel a long way. A high-pitch scream emits a signal at approximately 3000 Hz. This higher frequency sound wave typically requires more energy to generate. Similarly, higher frequency wireless signals will also require more energy, which can have implications for battery usage.

Radio waves adopt the same principles, but are considered to be part of the electromagnetic spectrum—a range of frequencies that includes extremely low frequency radio up to radio waves, microwaves, visible light, and finally up to ultraviolet, x-rays, and gamma radiation.

Radios typically operate in a frequency range between 3 kHz, a signal that alternates 3000 times a second, up to 300 GHz, which is a signal that alternates 300 billion times a second. Wireless LANs typically use frequencies of approximately 2.4 GHz, or 2.4 billion cycles a second, and five GHz, or five billion times a second, or approximately twice as many cycles a second.

Each cycle of a wave allows the possibility of modulation so, in theory, higher frequency waves can carry more information.

FURTINET

Training Institute

RF Signal Properties—Frequency (Contd)

- Signals transmitted in different frequencies do not usually interfere with each other
 - The closer signals get in frequency, the more chance they will interfere with each other
- Radios and antennas will receive all signals in a broad range of frequencies
 - They have to be tuned to listen to only one
 - · Just like tuning your radio to listen to a favorite station
- Radios and antennas will also tune to the frequency to transmit



So, you can transmit signals in waves that cycle a different number of times a second. Each wave operates in its own precise part of the electromagnetic spectrum. If you transmit a signal at a two different frequencies, the two waves do not interact or interfere with each other. This is why some access points (AP) can transmit 2.4 and 5 GHz signals at the same time, through the same antenna.

If you transmit two signals on the same frequency, those signals can interfere with each other. The waves will interact with each other, altering the wave forms and corrupting any modulated signal.

Because radios are not perfect at transmitting in a precise frequency, the energy spills over into adjacent frequencies. The result is that two radios transmitting on adjacent frequencies can interfere with each other. The closer the radios are in frequency, the more likely that interference will occur.

In general, antennas and radios can receive signals that are in a broader range of frequencies. Like the radio receiver in your car that can be "tuned" to different radio stations, an AP radio can be tuned to only one frequency (or channel) for both receiving and transmitting wireless signals.

RF Signal Properties—Amplitude

- The amplitude of the signal is the measure of its energy, power, or loudness
- As the signal travels, its energy is reduced or attenuated to a greater or lesser extent by:
 - Air
 - Walls
 - Water
 - And so on
- Eventually the amplitude or loudness will be so low that the signal can no longer be heard or demodulated clearly
- Because of the way antennas receive signals, lower frequency signals are easier to receive

F RTINET. Training Institute



Another important property of radio signals is amplitude. Amplitude is a measure of the amount of energy in the signal. It is measured as the difference in energy level from a point of equilibrium and the peak signal oscillation.

If you compare amplitude with sound, amplitude is the loudness of the signal. On earth, the signal has to travel through various types of mediums. The medium will absorb energy from the radio signal and, as a result, the amplitude of the signal is reduced or attenuated. Different materials have different abilities to absorb energy. Air has very little attenuation whereas walls, water, human bodies, and so on, can attenuate much more.

As the amplitude, or loudness, of the signal is reduced, there will a point where it is difficult for the receiver to understand or decode the information in the signal. For example, if you are having a conversation with a friend at a normal volume and your friend is standing 6 feet away from you, they will easily be able to hear and understand what you're saying. However, If your friend moves 100 feet away, and you carry on the conversation at the same volume, your friend will no longer be able to hear clearly what you are saying. They may hear you talking—they can hear a signal—but they will not be able to understand or decode what you're saying. To allow your friend to hear what you're saying, you could increase the amplitude, or loudness, of your voice, otherwise known as shouting.

In theory, the frequency of a signal does not make any difference to the distance that it travels. Only the amplitude matters. However, one of the practical side effects of different frequencies is that antennas send and receive different frequencies at different efficiency rates. A feature of antenna design, called the antenna aperture, means that higher frequency signals are harder to receive successfully than lower frequency ones. This means, practically, that higher frequency signals have a shorter range.

The Inverse Square Law



Another major impact on the energy level of radio signals is the inverse square law. It is not a property of the signal but it does affect the reception of all types of electromagnetic signals significantly.

The inverse square law states, "The intensity or power of a signal changes in inverse proportion to the square of the distance from the source". As the signal leaves its source, it has to cover more and more space. Because there is only a fixed amount of energy to begin with, the energy dissipates as the volume of space grows.

<section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><list-item><list-item><list-item>

If a radio signal is being transmitted from a single point, such as a signal of 1 watt being transmitted from an antenna, the signal travels in all directions at the same time.

As the signal travels out, the volume of space that that 1 watt has to illuminate increases and the quantity of signal to cover the space decreases. This happens regardless of the medium involved.

The Inverse Square Law (Contd)



To see how this affects energy levels for radios, the table on this slide shows the strength of the signal power plotted against the distance from the AP. The scale is 1 to 30. The unit doesn't matter—it could be inches, yards, miles, or even light years.

As the client moves away from the signal source, the signal strength rapidly drops. Even at very short distances, the signal is reduced to one-quarter or one-ninth of the power, but as the client moves farther out, the rate of reduction in power decreases. Even so, at 25 yards, the signal is approximately 1/625th of the power level emitted by the antenna. However, the signal strength never actually reaches zero. In theory, you could place the AP on the moon and some of its energy would still reach the wireless client on earth, although its energy level would be miniscule. This is why you can see stars from the other side of the galaxy, countless light years away. Some of the photons of light still manage to reach the earth because of the inverse square law.

This reduction in signal strength can have an enormous effect on the wireless signal received by your clients.

Measuring RF Signal Strength

- The monitoring and correct installation of wireless networks requires that you have a basic understanding of RF mathematics
- Signal receive strength and transmission power are usually measured in decibels referenced to 1 mw (dBm)
- Why?
 - Maximum transmission power of a typical AP radio = 200 mW
 - Minimum receive signal strength of a client connected = 0.0000000001 mW
- The watt scale is linear and does not reflect the logarithmic nature of wireless signals
 dBm does reflect the logarithmic nature
- 3 dB *increase* in level is approximately equivalent to *doubling* the power—for each 3 dB *decrease* in level, the power reduces by about one half.

F::RTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 11

So, how do you measure amplitude or power?

To correctly install and monitor a wireless network, it is necessary to have a basic understanding of RF mathematics. You must be able to take signal strength measurements and perform signal strength calculations to ensure that you select, for example, the right antenna and don't exceed any legal power limits.

Light is measured in the form of watts, for example, a 60w light bulb or 10w LED. But the signal strength of radio waves is measured in dBm, or decibels referenced to 1 millwatt. Most APs can transmit at up to 200 mW or 0.2 of a watt.

Consider the previous slide and the reduction in power that occurs over relatively short distances. By the time the client is any distance away, the received signal strength is very small. The actual signal strength the client can decode is the smallest number shown on the previous slide.

The watt scale is linear. It makes working with very large and very small numbers difficult and does not reflect the logarithmic nature of the inverse square law. Imagine asking an end user what their client's received signal strength is and having them read out 0.0000, and so on.

Remember decibels are logarithmic, so be aware that increasing the power of the signal by 3 dB effectively *doubles* the power, while decreasing the power of the signal by 3 *halves* the power.

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET dBm to mW Table

	Power referenced to 1 mW (dBm)	Power in watts (W)	Power in mW	Notes
	296	386000000000000000000000000000000000000		Total power output of sun (best estimate)
	80	100000		Typical transmission power of FM radio station with 50-kilometre (31 mi) range
	60	1000	1000000	Typical combined radiated RF power of microwave oven elements (inside oven)
еr	36	3.98	3981	Maximum outdoor power used by wireless networks in most regulatory domains.
ž	30	1.00	1000	
8	29	0.794	794	
c	28	0.631	631	
<u></u>	27	0.501	501	Typical cellular phone transmission power Maximum output from a UMTS/3G mobile phone
SS	23	0.200	200	Maximum indoor power used by 5GHz radios in most regulatory domains.
Ë	20	0.100	100	Maximum indoor power used by 2.4GHz radios in most regulatory domains.
ม	15	0.0316	32	Typical transmission power used by a wireless client
Ĩ	14	0.0251	25	
Ë	5	0.00316	3.2	
	4	0.00251	2.5	
	0	0.001	1	
	-10	0.000100000000	0.1	Maximum received signal power of wireless network
	-30	0.000001000000	0.001	
	-50	0.000000100000	0.00001	
Ħ	-53	0.000000050119	0.0000050	
ē	-70	0.000000001000	0.0000001	
о	-72	0.00000000631	0.0000001	
	-80	0.000000000100	0.000000010	
	-90	0.000000000010	0.000000001	
	-100	0.000000000001	0.0000000001	Minimum received signal power of wireless network
	-127	0.0000000000000020		Typical received signal power from a GPS satellite
	3 dB incr	ease in level is approximately equiva	lent to <i>doubling</i> th	e power. For each 3 dB decrease in level, the power reduces by about one half.

The table on this slide shows some common decibel to watt/mw conversions. The blue area shows the power levels that the radios transmit in. The green area shows the power of the same signal when it arrives at the receiving radio. Remember the power of the inverse square law, and see the difference in power levels.

The power of the dBm scale is that at one end it can represent the power of the sun at 296 dBm, and at the other end it can represent the weakest wireless LAN or GPS signal, all within four characters.

Remember decibels are logarithmic, so be aware that increasing the power of the signal by 3 dB effectively *doubles* the power, while decreasing the power of the signal by 3 *halves* the power.

Antennas

- · An antenna converts electric currents into radio waves, and vice versa
- The size ranges from a few centimeters for an AP antenna to very large radio telescopes
- · Antennas can improve the strength of a signal
 - Measures in dB, usually in relation to a ideal isotropic antennas (dBi)
 - · Improves the strength by careful design of the shape of the antenna elements
 - · Does not use an active power amplifier—antenna gain is passive



An antenna is an electrical device that converts electric currents into radio waves, and vice versa. Typically, an antenna consists of an arrangement of metallic conductors (elements) electrically connected to the receiver or transmitter.

In wireless APs, an antenna is sometimes visible and attached externally, and is sometimes embedded and hidden in the AP body casing.

Antennas are typically passive elements. They do not use electrical amplifiers to improve a signal, but shape its direction, which provides a gain in the transmission system.

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET

Antenna Patterns

- · If an antenna is directional, it emits a focused beam
 - Like a torch beam that can be focused—a focused torch beam reaches further at the expense of coverage
 - Useful for point-to-point links or wall mount to cover a hallway
- If an antenna is omnidirectional, it emits a signal in all directions
 - Ripples, like when throwing a stone in water
- With distance, strength weakens
 - Still subject to the inverse square law



Do antennas emit radio waves in all directions? Can a wireless client be located anywhere relative to the antenna? No.

Most obviously, the signal is best when closer to the antenna. Signals become weak over distance.

The geometry of the antenna also affects how far the signal will reach, and where. Shapes determine the radiation pattern (also known as antenna pattern or far-field pattern). Strength depends on the direction for some antennas.

The sun radiates in all directions. It's an example of an isotropic antenna shape.

Radio links usually use a directional antennal, also called a *beam antenna*, which focuses its power in transmitting in a specific direction.

Wireless LAN routers and mobile adapters often have an omnidirectional antenna . This doughnut shape radiates radio wave power uniformly, in all directions, on one plane.

Different patterns are suitable to different deployments, which is why there are many different AP models available.

F RTINET

Training Institute

Bandwidth

- Wireless signals are not usually transmitted on a single frequency, but on a range of frequencies
- Known as a frequency band
 In wireless LAN terminology, this is often referred to as a channel
- The more bandwidth or the wider the channel, the more data the channel can carry



Along with frequency and amplitude, signals occupy bandwidth.

Often, radio signals are not transmitted on a single frequency, but on a range of frequencies, known as the frequency band, or in the wireless LAN world, a channel.

Usually, the wider the channel, the more frequency space is available for transmission. In modern wireless networks, the more frequency space that is available to transmit signals, the more data the channel can carry.

The screenshots on this slide show images taken on a spectrum analyzer. The images show different types of wireless signals being transmitted at different bandwidths. Incidentally, it is also possible to see the noise floor as well. Noise will be covered later in this lesson.



Because the frequency range assigned for wireless LAN use is limited, the wider the channel, the fewer the channels that you can fit into the assigned frequency space. This can limit the number of APs that you can efficiently deploy in a network.

Current wireless standards allow the use of multiple channel widths, from 20 MHz up to 160 MHz. However, this depends on the standards in use. The practical applications of the wider channel widths depend on the wireless technology in use and the environment the network is operating in. It is widely acknowledged that networks will not be able to use 160 MHz channels in anything more than a single AP home environment. There simply are not enough 160 MHz channels available to accommodate the multiple channels that are required for a larger wireless network to minimise co-channel interference (CCI).

Channel Widths

- · Creates a single 40 MHz channel from two adjacent 20 MHz channels
 - More than doubles effective data rates
- Channel bonding is not practical on 2.4 frequency bands, but often in 5 GHz bands
 - 802.11n standard defines HT (high throughput)



Channel bonding is impractical in the 2.4 GHz band because it consumes a lot of the available bandwidth the bonded channel is 40 MHz—but it can still be used where there are few APs in the band.

It is more practical in the 5 GHz band. This is because there is a greater number of channels available. This concept was introduced in the 802.11n standard amendment, which defines high throughput (HT) on WLANs.

Noise

- Noise is the presence of an unintended signal at the same frequency
- · This could be from multiple sources
 - Another AP or client (with a weak signal that could not be decoded)
 - Another radio device (which would never be decoded)
 - Or simply random energy from a device such as a microwave
- This noise can disrupt the intended signal. The amount of disruption depends on:
 - · The amplitude or power of the signal
 - The amount of time the signal is transmitted. This is known as duty cycle

FERTINET. Training Institute



Noise is the presence of an unintended signal in the same frequency as the one that you're trying to listen to or receive.

To listen to a radio station on longwave or AM, you must tune the radio precisely to get the best quality signal. Even then, you often hear a constant background

hiss—unintended signals or background noise transmitted on the same frequency at the same time from another source. Usually, while annoying, this background noise does not stop you from listening to the radio station. You can still understand the words the radio presenter says, or in wireless terms, decode the signal

However, if someone turned on an electrical appliance, such as a vacuum cleaner, the interference on the radio could increase dramatically, possibly to the point where you could no longer hear the radio presenter clearly.

Signals could be from another radio device that can use the same frequency—for example, a baby monitor or garage door remote control. It could be random energy from a device such as a microwave, which uses the energy of microwaves to heat the water in food.

Wherever the signal comes from, it could be at a power level that drowns out the signal you are trying to hear, making it impossible to understand what is transmitted.



It is important to note that multiple noise signals can add up, increasing the total noise signal. In wireless networks, the effect of noise is most often measured using SnR; this is the number of decibels *difference* in signal strength *between* the noise signal(s), sometimes called the noise floor and the signal strength of the intended signal. SnR measures the relative power of the noise signal; but equally important is how *long* the noise signal is present. The amount of time a signal is receivable is called the duty cycle. It is a measure of the percentage of air time utilized. A signal with a duty cycle of 80% is receivable for 80% of any given period.

For a wireless LAN, a noise signal with a high duty cycle but lower signal strength can be as disruptive as a powerful noise signal with a short duty cycle. While the constant low-level noise may not completely disrupt the wireless signal, it will cause high levels of retransmission or loss. The impact on the perceived performance of the wireless network can be significant—perhaps more so than the infrequent loss of connection caused by short duty cycle, high strength interference. All noise signals need to be analyzed, considering both measures.

Most enterprise wireless systems are able to measure the noise floor. It is one of the most critical measurements to monitor in a wireless environment. However, the APs take noise measurements. The amount of noise can vary depending on the location of the noise source, the clients connecting to the AP, and the location of the AP. So, even though the APs may *not* be measuring a very high noise floor, your clients could still be suffering from a noise problem if the source of noise is closer to them. Noise can be highly localized, depending on the type of source. All wireless LAN radios have to detect the noise floor to operate correctly, but reporting that measurement is another matter. Some clients can report the noise level detected, but the ability to do so depends on the client, the operating system, and whether the noise level is reported in a useful format. Often, you have to use another type of device to take precise noise measurements in different parts of the network.

Constructive and Destructive Interference

- Constructive interference is caused when two waves are in phase
- Destructive interference is caused when two waves are out of phase



As you have learned, wireless LAN signals transmit in the form of waves. However, waves do not transmit in isolation. Radio waves can modify each other during transmission using the process of wave interference. Wave interference applies to all types of waves. If you drop a single pebble in a pond of water, you will see how the ripples, or waves, travel or propagate across the water. Drop two stones simultaneously and watch how the two sets of ripples interact with each other. You will see the ripples interfere with each other, generating all sorts of different effects, including constructive and destructive interference.

Wireless LAN signals behave in a very similar way, where two or more waves superpose to form a resultant wave of greater, lower, or the same amplitude. Constructive and destructive interference results from the interaction of correlated or coherent waves, either because they come from the same source or because they have the same, or nearly the same, frequency.

Theoretically, signals can cancel each other out if they are identical in form and one hundred and eighty degrees out of phase. Complete cancellation is unlikely in the real world; modulated waves are never likely to be identical and not likely to be exactly out of phase. More commonly, signals are modified by the presence of other radio waves. This is the reason noise signals can add up. Many multiple background noise signals can constructively interfere with each other causing a net increase in the noise level. Likewise, signals can have their amplitude increased through constructive interference.

Wireless LAN chipsets can decode waveforms modified to a certain point; however, if there is a lot of interference, it will soon become impossible to decode the signal correctly. Any interference is traditionally an issue for wireless LAN radios; however, the newer standards can beneficially use constructive interference, as you will see later in this module.

Lesson Progress

Radio Transmission Fundamentals

Wireless LAN Fundamentals

WFA, IEEE, and 802.11 WLAN Standards

Wireless LAN Architecture and AP deployment

FERTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 21

Good job! You now understand radio transmission fundamentals.

Now, you will learn about Wireless LAN fundamentals



After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objectives shown on this slide.

By demonstrating competence in wireless LAN fundamentals, you will be able to plan and build an efficient wireless network.

Wireless Works Like a Network Hub

- Wireless is a shared medium
 - · Like an original network hub, all devices are sharing the transmission medium
 - Clients take turns to transmit
 - Like a two-way radio (or walkie-talkie)
 - Users have to wait for other users to complete their transmission, to avoid talking over each other
 - The shared medium is half-duplex
 - Users can communicate with each other, but not simultaneously; the communication is one direction at a time
- · Wireless devices share the same radio spectrum
 - · ALL devices using the same channel, share the SAME airtime
- · Wireless device can only receive OR transmit at any time
 - Unlike wired devices, which can listen to their own signals as they transmit them
- Wireless devices talking at the same time, on the came channel, make each other's signal hard to understand
 - Called a collision



© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 23

Wireless isn't like copper wires or optical cables, where you know only two devices might be talking: one at each end. *Space is a medium shared by all wireless devices.* So devices need a way to avoid destroying each other's signals.

Wi-Fi works like a walkie-talkie—only one party can communicate at a time. All devices running on the same channel *must* take turns and transfer data, one by one.

If two radios do transmit at the same time, this is called a collision. The data contained in the two transmissions is usually corrupted.

To prevent collisions and to achieve an acceptable throughput, Wi-Fi uses the CSMA/CA algorithm. You will explore that next.

CSMA/CA—Accessing the Physical Media

- Wi-Fi uses a carrier sense multiple access with collision avoidance (CSMA/CA) algorithm to avoid midair collisions
 - Cannot detect a collision because wireless stations cannot receive and transmit at same time
 - For any unicast frame, the receiver must send an ACK frame confirming successful transmission
 - If transmitter does not receive ACK, it assumes there was collision/error at receiver, and transmits again after a short wait period
- ACK frames are a management frame
 - They do not carry user data
 - They take airtime





You may be wondering how wireless compares with copper wire Ethernet networks. *Carrier sense multiple access with collision detection (CSMA/CD) is used by Ethernet networks, and CSMA/CA is used by wireless networks.*

Stations using either access method must first listen to hear whether any other device is transmitting and wait until the medium is available—carrier sense (CS) and multiple access (MA).

The key difference between CSMA/CD and CSMA/CA exists at the point when a client wants to transmit and no other clients are presently transmitting.

A CSMA/CD node can immediately begin transmitting. If a collision occurs while a CSMA/CD node is transmitting, the collision will be detected and the node will temporarily stop transmitting.

Wireless devices can't transmit and receive at the same time, so they cannot detect a collision during transmission. For this reason, wireless networks use CSMA/CA instead of CSMA/CD—they can't *detect*, so they try to *avoid* collisions.

Modulation Schemes

- Modulation means to vary or change a carrier signal
 - Unmodulated signal has no data
- Modulated carrier signal carries data
- Carrier signal can be modulated using different methods
 - Direct-sequence spread spectrum (DSSS), frequency-hopping spread spectrum (FHSS) for low data rates
 - Binary phase-shift keying (BPSK) and quadrature phase-shift keying (QPSK) for medium data rates
 - Quadrature amplitude modulation (QAM). From 64 to 1024 bit for the highest data rates
 - 4K QAM introduce extremely high throughput (ETH) in Wi-Fi 7
- The more complex the modulation, the better quality signal required

FERTINET. Training Institute



Modulation is the process of changing the wave (carrier) with a signal that encodes the information. It's the radio binary equivalent of morse code. Analog messages, such as voice, can be modulated over an analog carrier using: amplitude modulation (AM) and frequency modulation (FM). These are the most basic signal modulations in use for over a hundred years in radio technology.

Wireless LAN technologies use many more complex technologies, depending on the wireless standards used and the signal quality. The first 801.11 standards use DSSS or FHSS. These methods modulate the data using GFSK, DBPSK, or DQPSK. These older standards enabled data rates of between 1 Mbps and 11 Mbps.

The later 802.11a and 802.11g standards introduced a different method of utilizing the wireless channel, and use two broadly similar modulation methods. Binary phase-shift keying (BPSK) and quadrature phase-shift keying (QPSK) allowed the coding on binary bits by changing the phase of the waveform. By offsetting/changing the wave phase by 180°, it's possible to encode a 0 or a 1 bit. By offsetting/changing the wave phase by 90°, four bits of data (or symbols) can be represented: 00,01,10,11. Later wireless standards use quadrature amplitude modulation (QAM). This adds another modification of wave amplitude, along with the phase. Each modulation of the signal is known as a symbol. Each symbol can represent a sequence of binary bits. The number of binary bits that can be represented depends on the size of QAM. 16 bit QAM is the smallest constellation supported. The constellation is a diagram that shows the number of points that wave will modulate to, a 16 bit QAM has 16 points, each representing a string of binary. The highest form for 802.11ax is 1024 bits. Each increase in QAM level requires an increase in modulation accuracy. The highest forms of QAM require a very high SnR and a strong signal. A full discussion of how modulation works is beyond the scope of this course. The key takeaway is that various modulation schemes used to enable high throughput are highly reliant on signal quality and wireless standards in use.

MIMO Wireless Systems

- A physical layer (PHY) configuration in which both transmitter and receiver use multiple radio interfaces, or radio frequency (RF) chains
- Each multiple input/multiple output (MIMO) system is defined with an NxM:S matrix
 - N—Number of transmit (TX) RF chains
 - M—Number of receive (RX) RF chains
 - S—Number of streams. Number of RF chains does not always equal the number of streams
 Streams define the data capacity



Older wireless LAN radios consisted of a single digital signal processor (DSP) to perform the modulation. The DSP connects to a single radio, modulating data into a radio wave transmitted through one or two antennas. The original Wi-Fi standards allowed for the use of antenna diversity. This allows the Wi-Fi chipset to use one *or* the other antennas, depending on which one is better placed to receive the signal. When receiving a signal from another radio, it would listen on both antennas. The antenna that had the strongest receive signal would be the one that would be used to transmit back to the other radio.

802.11n allows the use of multiple-input and multiple-output (MIMO) radios. MIMO allows each radio to have multiple subradios or RF chains. Each RF chain consists of a single antenna and enough supporting radio components to allow signal reception and transmission of a stream.

The number of radio chains can vary depending on the wireless standard. The most basic wireless client can have one antenna, one radio chain, and one DSP. This is known as a 1x1:1 client. These are typically used in handheld devices where power consumption is critical, and performance is not a priority, because each RF chain can consume power. 802.11ax hardware has up to eight RF chains. However, these high chain counts are usually found only in AP hardware because of power consumption. Radios with different RF chains and stream counts can communicate with each other. A single RF chain client can easily talk to an eight-RF chain AP. The number of RF chains does not always equal the number of data streams. It is common for AP radios to have three RF chains but only two data streams. It is the number of data streams that determines the quantity of data the radio can transfer. When transmitting or receiving data, the AP chooses the most suitable of the three RF chains to use, not unlike the older antenna diversity mechanism.

The first benefit of multiple RF chains is the ability to use them to receive data better. Maximal ratio combining (MRC) is a type of receive diversity technique where multiple received signals are combined, improving overall signal quality.



MIMO is utilized to provide other benefits as well. Alongside the increased radio sensitivity enabled by maximal ratio combining (MRC), it is also possible to increase data throughput using multiple streams. Radio waves can be reflected or refracted by objects. Walls, cabinets, and other solid objects commonly found in offices can cause multiple reflections. This causes the signal to bounce around and to travel further, before reaching the receive radio. Because the signal has traveled further, it takes longer. This causes the same wave form to be received at the radio, but slightly out of sync, resulting in destructive interference. For older standard wireless radios, this is a problem, but for newer MIMO standard clients, it is an opportunity. Where a MIMO radio detects multiple signals arriving at a radio, rather than send the same signal and receive multiple copies, it can choose to send different copies of data using the different signal path options. More reflections mean more path options, meaning more opportunities to send different data streams. The stream negotiation happens automatically as part of normal management traffic and is known as spatial multiplexing.

MIMO can also be used to improve the transmission signal. By controlling the timing of signals transmitted from multiple radio chains, MIMO can use the resulting constructive interference to increase a signal's amplitude for a specific client. Carefully controlling the phase of the signals transmitted from multiple antennas has the effect of emulating a directional antenna. This is known as beamforming. Transmit beamforming is part of the 802.11n standard and further enhanced in 802.11ac. Initially, the sending radio would gather information about implicitly. The beaming forming radio would take numerous measurements of the target radio when it received data. It would approximate the other client's location from the difference in timing of the received signals. It would then have an idea of where the radio is and form a beam to it. This is a passive process, not requiring the target radio to be aware of the beam. Explicit beamforming requires the other radio to be aware of the beamforming requires the other radio to be aware of the beamforming requires the other radio to be aware of the beamforming requires the other radio to be aware of the beamforming requires the other radio to be aware of the beamforming requires the other radio to be aware of the beamforming requires the other radio to be aware of the beamforming requires the other radio to be aware of the beamforming requires the other radio to be aware of the beamforming requires the other radio to be aware of the beamforming requires the other radio to be aware of the beamforming requires the other radio to be aware of the beamforming requires the other radio to be aware of the beamforming requires the other radio to be aware of the beamforming requires the other radio to be aware of the beamforming event and allows more accurate calculations. 802.11ac/ax mandates explicit beamforming, and the resultant beamform performance is better than achieved with the initial 802.11n implementation. Both spatial multiplexing and beamforming *could* be used at the s



The second revision (wave 2) of the 802.11ac standard introduces the ability to use MIMO to transmit to multiple clients simultaneously. The enhancement is known as MU-MIMO, or multiuser MIMO. Older standards only supported radios communicating with one other radio at a time. MIMO allows the *simultaneous* use of multiple RF chains to talk to up to four other radios. The new 802.11ax is proposing to extend that number to eight. Wave 2 802.11ac restricts the multi-user ability to AP to client transmission, known as downstream or downlink MU-MIMO. The later 802.11ax standard introduces the ability for APs to *receive* simultaneous, multiple transmissions from clients, known as uplink or upstream MU-MIMO.

MU-MIMO uses explicit beamforming of *groups* of RF chains to form a signal targeted to a specific client. At the same time, the AP uses other RF chains to create beamform groups for other clients. All the clients will hear *all* the transmissions, but because its own signal group is beamformed, it receives a stronger signal. This allows the client to decode the data successfully, even though there are other, interfering signals being transmitted at the same time. Uplink MU-MIMO extends the system further to allow upstream transmissions to be received simultaneously.

APs have different MU-MIMO abilities that depend on the number of RF chains and MU-MIMO groups they can create. The AP dynamically decides how many RF chains to use and how many groups to make. It does this by exchanging sounding frames with the clients that establish the client's capability and location. The data transferred to the clients also matters. MU-MIMO transmissions are simultaneous and depend on suitable data buffered at the AP for transmission. The complex sounding and coordination mechanism make it resource-intensive and time-consuming to transmit data in this way. Clients are often located close to each other. This makes the beamforming less effective at reducing interference. Often, MU-MIMO does not result in a big uplift in performance and can decrease performance because of the increased management traffic required. As a result, in some scenarios, it may be beneficial to disable MU-MIMO.

OFDM Subcarrier

- Orthogonal frequency division multiple access (OFDMA)
- New in Wi-Fi signals, introduced in IEEE 802.11ax
- Technology used in other wireless technologies such as long-term evolution (LTE)
- Frequency channel is broken into sub-channels
 - Transmit and receive packets independently
 - Multiple devices transmit packets at the same time in smaller chunks
 - AP controls sharing bandwidth among clients
- Improvements:
 - Efficiency of channel usage—the waiting process to access channel in parallel with other stations
 - Transmit small packets in parallel without the cost of waiting to access the channel for large number of packets

FERTINET. Training Institute



OFDMA is subcarrier technology that has been used in LTE for years now but is new to Wi-Fi. It breaks the given channel down into sub-channels which can then be used to transmit and receive packets independently. The practical upshot of this is that multiple devices can be transmitting their packets at the same time using smaller chunks of the overall available channel bandwidth. The AP is in control of who is able to use what amount of bandwidth. This can improve the overall efficiency of channel usage by allowing the process of waiting for channel access to be parallelized for multiple stations. It can be a particular benefit for large numbers of small packets, allowing lots of these small packets to be transmitted in parallel without paying large numbers of channel access wait time penalties.

DO NOT REPRINT © F<mark>ORTINET</mark>

OFDM and OFDMA Subcarriers



OFDMA expands on OFDM technology by allowing transmission of small packets by multiple devices simultaneously. In OFDM, each devices must transmit packets in sequence. However, with OFDMA, devices that are transmitting smaller packets can use the subchannel to send and receive packets. As shown on this slide, OFDMA divides the available bandwidth into subchannels, which allows transmission of packets from user1 and user3 in parallel. This results in better performance because of decreased wait time and the ability to use the transmission medium more effectively.

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved.

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET

Link Rates

- Each wireless standard has a series of modulation rates that can be used to encode data onto the carrier wave
 - Known as MCS rates
- These rates are measured in Mbps and are the physical data rate that the radio is capable of transmitting and receiving
 - The faster the data rate, the less time spent transmitting and the less airtime used
 - Or more data can be sent
- · Link rates apply in both directions
 - Upstream: from station to AP
 - Downstream: from AP to station

A substantial quantity of wireless design, implementation and monitoring is about ensuring that clients operate at the highest link rates possible

FERTINET. Training Institute

The properties of wireless signals, such as signal strength, noise, and bandwidth, affect the reliability and speed of the wireless network.

Link rates, also known as MCS rates, are used to assess this reliability and speed and are defined as part of the wireless standards. Link rates define the quantity of data that can be encoded and modulated onto a signal at any given time. The higher the link rate, the less time that is spent transmitting data and the more data that can be sent in any given time period.

Transmissions in each direction have a link rate—one link rate from the AP to the station, and one from the station to the AP. Both the station and the AP will negotiate a link rate based upon the health of the connection. The connection health is measured using the received signal strength of the other radio, the signal-to-noise ratio, and the channel width in use. There are other factors to take into account, but these are the main ones.

Link Rates (Contd)

- The choice of which rate to use mainly depends on:
 - Signal strength
 - Signal-to-noise ratio
 - Channel width
- Both the client and AP radio continually monitor these measures together with the health of the connection and will shift the rates up or down if any of the measures change
 - If you move farther away from an AP, the receive signal strength will drop, so the client will shift down to the lower connection rate
 - If the noise increases, the SnR will decrease, and the radio will shift down its link rate account

F::RTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 32

Each radio will attempt to use the highest link rate that conditions allow; however, both radios will continually monitor the link rates and, if the health of the connection changes, shift their link rates up or down. For example, if the station moves farther away from an AP, the client will measure the reduction in AP signal strength and reduce its link rates accordingly.

Likewise, if the noise floor increases for any reason, the signal-to-noise ratio will decrease, resulting in the radios involved reducing their link rates.

A major part of wireless design, implementation, and monitoring is ensuring that your clients achieve the highest link rates possible.

Real Data Throughput

- Many factors affect data throughput:
 - Frequency
 - Media contention (CSMA)
 - Link rates
- · Different frequencies can carry different amounts of data
 - The higher the frequency, the more data can be modulated
- Media contention (CSMA) and the management of it adds management overhead
 - Management frames take airtime but don't carry end user data
- Link rates vary depending on modulation used and equipment capability
- Data rates quoted in the standards are physical layer (PHY) data dates
 - Do not account for management frames overhead
 - · Do not account for CSMA/CA operation, collisions, and backoff delays
- · The amount of real data transferred is less
 - Real data is data transferred by the user, such as a streamed video or file copy
 - Could be up to 50% less depending on the wireless standard and frequency

F**BRTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 33

The frequency bandwidth, data encoding, modulation, medium contention, encryption, and many other factors play a large part in the data throughput.

Because of the half-duplex nature of the medium, the overhead generated by CSMA/CA, and the actual aggregate throughput, is typically 50 percent, or less, of the data rate.

In short, the Wi-Fi medium is a shared medium where collisions must be avoided. Because of this, throughput is an aggregate throughput.

The throughput figures quoted as part of the wireless standard do not represent the *real* data throughput, which would be the rate at which you could, for example, copy a file across a wireless link. The numbers quoted on this slide, and on the specification sheets of wireless equipment, specify the physical layer (PHY) throughput number. Wireless transmission involves a lot of administration and management traffic and processes to make the wireless link work successfully. As a result, some of the headline capacity quoted here is always used for management frames and is not available for carrying real data. These PHY numbers also vary based on the capability of the wireless equipment. Not all APs and clients are created equal in terms of radio capacity.
Knowledge Check

1. What does 3x3 AP mean?

- \checkmark A. There are three receiver and three transmission antennas on the AP.
 - B. There is a total of nine antennas on the AP.
- 2. Which two ranges of frequencies are available for wireless networks?
 - \checkmark A. 2.4 GHz and 5 GHz
 - B. 20 GHz and 40 GHz

F:RTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 34

Lesson Progress

Radio Transmission Fundamentals

Wireless LAN Fundamentals

WFA, IEEE, and 802.11 WLAN Standards

Wireless LAN Architecture and AP deployment

FERTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 35

Good job! You now understand wireless LAN fundamentals.

Now, you will learn about 802.11 Wi-Fi standards.

© FORTINET WFA, IEEE, and 802.11 WLAN Standards WFA, IEEE, and 802.11 WLAN Standards Describe organizations such as WFA and IEEE Describe standards under 802.11 Describe collision avoidance Describe 802.11 frame types

After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objectives shown on this slide.

By demonstrating competence in WFA, IEEE, and 802.11 WLAN standards, you will be able to describe 802.11 standards.

Wireless Network Fundamentals

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved.

37

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET

802.11 WLAN Standard

- · IEEE specifications for wireless LAN technology
 - The IEEE does not test
- Over-the-air interface between either:
 - A wireless client and a base station
 - Two wireless clients
- Based on the OSI model
- · Framework defines the lowest two layers of the OSI model:
 - Physical layer
 - Data link layer
- Data link layer is subdivided into:
 - MAC sublayer (physical)
 - LLC sublayer (logical)
- Subdivision makes it possible to support different wireless media, such as radio frequency signaling and infrared transmission

F::RTINET. Training Institute

The IEEE 802.11 standard was developed by the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE) for wireless LAN technology and describes an over-the-air interface between a wireless client and a base station, or between two wireless clients.

The 802.11 framework defines the two lowest layers of the OSI model: physical and data link. The data link layer is further subdivided to support different wireless media.

Now, you will look at the functionality of each layer.



The data link layer is subdivided into the MAC and LLC layer in order to support different wireless media at the physical layer, such as radio frequency signaling and infrared transmission. For radio frequency signaling, frequency hopping spread spectrum (FHSS) and direct sequence spread spectrum (DSSS) are used. Bluetooth, which is an example of a wireless personal area network (WPAN), uses FHSS; most APs use DSSS.

- Physical layer:
 - In charge of transmission and reception; encodes and decodes signals.
 - The commonly wireless media admitted are infrared (simple and cheap but requires line of sight), radio (FHSS and DSSS), and Bluetooth.
- · MAC layer:
 - Coordinates users' access to the transmission medium.
 - On transmission, assembles data into a frame for transmission.
 - On reception, disassembles frame and performs error detection.
- LLC layer:
 - Provides an interface to upper layers; allows flow and error control.

Wireless LAN Frequencies—Most Common

• 6 GHz range:

- Spectrum released in 2020
- Use is defined in Wi-Fi 6E/Wi-FI 7
- Huge increase in spectrum
 - 1200 MHz in US
 - 500 MHz in Europe

• Only 802.11ax/be

No older standards

5 GHz range:

- First used as part of the 802.11a standard, later as part of 802.11n
- 802.11ac is 5GHz only
- Up to 2340 Mbps or 3390 Mbps with some 802.11ac wave 2
- Split into 19 channels, depending on width
- Some limitations on channel use

2.4 GHz range:

- First used as part of the original 802.11 standard, later as part of 802.11b, 802.11g, 802.11n, and now 802.11ax
- Split into 14 channels but only three usable
- Up to 600 Mbps
- Lower equipment cost

F**BRTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 39

The most commonly used wireless LAN frequencies across the world are the 2.4 GHz range and the 5 GHz range. The 2.4 GHz range, supported in the 802.11b/g/n standards, was the first and, initially, the most commonly used frequency. It consists of 14 channels of which only three are usable. The amount of bandwidth available on 2.4 GHz is relatively small compared to 5 GHz. The lack of bandwidth combined with the lower frequency means that data rates are limited. The positive side of using 2.4 GHz was that the equipment tended to be cheaper and, as a result, it was more popular during the early days of wireless technology. However, as bandwidth requirements have increased, the lack of channels and capacity means that 2.4 GHz is much less popular today.

Initially, the 5 GHz range was less popular in some parts of the world because of local regulations and the cost of equipment. However, there is more spectrum available for the 5 GHz channels. Combined with the higher frequency, this usually means that the capacity, or throughput, of 5 GHz is much greater than 2.4 GHz. Over the years, the 5 GHz spectrum around the world has been deregulated and released from other purposes, and is increasingly being used for wireless LAN transmission. This means that it is possible to have up to 19 channels available for wireless use, depending on the channel width and global location. As it stands today, more 5 GHz frequency space will be released; however, there are some limitations over channel use, as you will explore in this lesson.

Note the numbers quoted on this slide—600 Mbps for 2.4 GHz and 3390 for 5GHz—are not real data throughput. Real data throughput would be the rate at which you could, for example, copy a file across a wireless link. The numbers quoted on this slide and on the specification sheets of wireless equipment specify the physical layer (PHY) throughput number.

2.4 GHz Wireless LAN Channels

- Total of 14 defined
 - · Different number of channels available in different parts of the world
 - · Different power transmission levels used in different parts of the world
- They overlap
 - APs on adjacent channels (1 and 2, for example) interfere with each other—known as adjacent channel interference (ACI)



The International Telecommunication Union (ITU) defined the frequencies between 2.412 and 2.484 GHz for ISM use. That frequency space is split into 14 channels, approximately 20 to 22 MHz wide. However, not all of these channels are available in all parts of the world. Channel availability depends on the local regulatory requirements and the transmission power you're allowed to use.

These channels overlap, which can cause confusion. For example, if you try to use channels 1 and 2, which occupy almost the same frequency space, the signals transmitted on one channel will interfere with the other. This is typically known as ACI. This is probably one of the biggest sources of confusion when configuring requirements for 2.4 GHz. Many users do not know about the channel overlap and potential effects and, as result, might choose inappropriate channels.



In the 5 GHz frequency range, there is far more bandwidth available. In theory, the International Telecommunication Union (ITU) has released a total of 37 possible 20 MHz channels. It should be emphasized that these are possible frequencies and have not been adopted globally.

Unlike 2.4 GHz, the channel numbers shown on this slide are distinct and do not overlap, so you can safely use channels adjacent to each other without any risk of ACI, providing the APs are spaced at least the minimum distance apart.

Dynamic Frequency Selection 5 GHz band

- Dynamic frequency selection (DFS)
 - IEEE 802.11h requires 5 GHz band (U-NII band) radios to avoid other primary-use or mission-critical radio transmissions
- Specific frequencies in the 5 GHz range are also used by airport and weather radar and satellite systems
- In order to share this spectrum, wireless APs and clients have to conform *and certify* to a set of additional wireless standards detailed in the 802.11h standard



DFS (IEEE 802.11h) requires 5 GHz band (U-NII band) radios to avoid other primary-use or mission-critical radio transmissions. The 5 GHz frequency space is not without limitations. Because this frequency space is also used by other licenced applications, wireless LANs have to use a specific method to gain access to certain higher frequencies. This method is known as DFS.

Specific types of radar, such as an airport, weather, military, and shipping radar, operate in the 5 GHz range. Because radar depends on very weak signals returned from airplanes, ships, and so on, radar antennas must be very sensitive. This sensitivity makes it very easy for low-powered APs or wireless clients to interfere with a radar system.

So, to enable wireless LANs to share the 5 GHz spectrum, equipment has to conform and be certified to an additional set of wireless standards detailed in the 802.11h standard.

DFS is very important because 802.11 wireless APs (or any RF emitters) negatively impact radar systems.

6 GHz Wireless LAN Frequencies

- Historical update to Wi-Fi spectrum
- · Wi-Fi 6E is the certified mark for supported devices
- In addition to 20 MHz, 40 MHz, and 80 MHz, it utilizes 160 MHz channel to increase performance and reduce congestion
- The spectrum range is 5.925 to 7.125 GHz for Wi-Fi use (1200 MHz of spectrum)
- · Currently for licensed, it is divided into four mid-bands:
 - UNII-5: 5925 MHz to 6425 MHz (500 MHz)
 - UNII-6: 6425 MHz to 6525 MHz (100 MHz)
 - UNII-7: 6525 MHz to 6875 MHz (350 MHz)
 - UNII-8: 6875 MHz to 7125 MHz (250 MHz)

6 GHz spectrum	UNII-5	UNII-6	UNII-7		UNII-8	
5925 MHz		6425 MHz 652	5 MHz	6875 MHz	7125 MHz	
	ET. ute				© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved.	43

Wi-Fi 6 was introduced using the existence of 2.4 GHz and 5 GHz bands being used for frequency spectrum available. The 6 GHz frequency is becoming a historical update to Wi-Fi technology since the time it was introduced back in 1998.

To avoid confusion, Wi-Fi 6 is not the reference to 6 GHz band support. It is referred to as Wi-Fi 6E which means that devices that can use 6 GHz are required to have Wi-Fi 6E certification. It is set to operate on an unlicensed spectrum starting from 5.925-7.125 GHz.

As Wi-Fi 6 was developed based on OFDMA, which allows multiple users to transmit simultaneously, it is said Wi-Fi 6E uses modulation to address performance and challenges wireless networks usually come across. Unlike with OFDM, OFDMA channel bandwidth (20, 40, 80, or 160 MHz) is divided to simultaneously transmit on the resource units of small channels units. Addressing congestion and performance, Wi-Fi 6E impact often gets compared to upgrading from a single-lane road (OFDM) to a multilane freeway (OFDMA).

The 6 GHz frequency band covers the 5.925 GHz to 7.125 GHz spectrum and is divided into four mid-bands for licensed users:

UNII-5: 5925-6425 MHz (500 MHz) UNII-6: 6425-6525 MHz (100 MHz) UNII-7: 6525-6875 MHz (350 MHz) UNII-8: 6875-7125 MHz (250 MHz)

The mid-band spectrum is currently for licensed users who have deployed services in these frequencies. For example, users include point-to-point microwave links and mobile TV pickups at sporting events relaying signals back to a studio.

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET Wi-Fi Alliance • Wi-Fi Alliance (WFA) Non-profit Specifies interoperability tests Wi-Fi = Wireless Fidelity Trademark for WFA-certified products · Wi-Fi certified products should interoperate out of the box · Yin-yang logo indicates the certification of a product for interoperability Current Wi-Fi certifications: • WPA = Wi-Fi Protected Access (subset of 802.11i security (802.1x with TKIP) WPA2 = 802.11i (AES with Fast Roaming) • WPA3 = Replace WPA2 with more security protection WMM = Wireless Multimedia (IEEE 802.11e extension) Wi-Fi generations • Wi-Fi 4 refers to devices that support 802.11n 9 <u></u> Wi-Fi 5 refers to devices that support 802.11ac • Wi-Fi 6 refers to devices that support 802.11ax <u></u> • Wi-Fi 7 refers to devices that support 802.11be 0 FURTIDET © Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 44 Training Institute

The Wi-Fi Alliance is a non-profit organization that promotes Wi-Fi technology. They certify Wi-Fi products that conform to standards of interoperability and define standards for security.

This organization was founded to solve interoperability issues among products using the IEEE 802.11 standards. For further information on the alliance, go to: http://www.wi-fi.org/

Wireless Network Fundamentals

Wireless Compatibility

- 802.11be is fully backwards-compatible with 802.11a and 802.11n in the 5 GHz band
- Most 802.11ac APs are dual-band, which means they support 802.11a/n/ac/ax on 5 GHz and 802.11b/g/n on 2.4 GHz
- New 802.11be/ax are equipped with triband radios—6, 5, and 2.4 GHz
- 802.11ac wave 2 generation APs support:
 - Multi-user multiple-input multiple-output (MU-MIMO)
 - Only works if both clients and AP support it
 - 160 MHz channels





The IEEE 802.11ac standard is fully backwards compatible with 802.11a and 802.11n in the 5 GHz band. Most 802.11ac APs are dual-band, which means they do 802.11a/n/ac on 5 GHz and 802.11b/g/n on 2.4 GHz. However, to get good throughput, both the client and AP should support the 802.11ac standard.

The IEEE 802.11ac standard uses three main improvements to achieve the throughput:

- More spatial streams (more antennas)
- More spectrum (wider channels)
- Denser modulation (more bits per symbol)

IEEE 802.11ac wave 2 has improved throughput using MU-MIMO.

Knowledge Check

- 1. Which statement about wireless networks is true?
 - A. Multiple devices can send and receive data at the same time.
 - \checkmark B. Two devices can use multiple streams to send and receive data simultaneously.

F**BRTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 46

Lesson Progress

<section-header><image><text><text><text><text><text><text>

Good job! You now understand 802.11 Wi-Fi standards.

Now, you will learn about wireless LAN architecture and AP deployment.

DO NOT REPRINT © F<mark>ORTINET</mark>



After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objectives shown on this slide.

By demonstrating competence in wireless LAN architecture and AP deployment, you will be able to design and deploy wireless network more effectively.

Wireless LAN Architecture

Characteristics of early wireless LAN (WLAN) networks:

- Each AP and associated clients have a one-to-one relationship
- APs and clients must be tuned to the same radio channel
- AP and client radios contend for access: listen first and, if channel is clear, transmit
 - No coordination
 - · First come, first served
 - CSMA/CA manages transmission collisions

F::RTINET. Training Institute



Since being standardized in the late 1990s, WLAN technology has grown and evolved; however, the fundamental operating principles have not changed. This has caused challenges, because wireless networks have grown bigger.

Early wireless networks consisted of one AP. Clients associated with this single AP to gain network access. In order to communicate, the client and the AP needed to be tuned to the same radio channel. Similar to a two-way radio system, the client and AP radios could only transmit *or* receive communications. In networking terms, this is referred to as half duplex.

A radio has to listen to its assigned channel to hear if any other radio is talking before it can transmit. It listens for and decodes the wireless LAN frames it hears, which is known as clear channel assessment (CCA). CCA allows the radio to determine if the channel is being used by another wireless LAN radio. It can also work out how long the channel is going to be used for because it can read specific fields in the frame header that set how long that transmission is expected to last (in microseconds). This is set by the sending radio.



Radio transmissions in wireless networks are governed by strict transmission power regulations.

Think of each AP as an *island*; a single wireless network island covers a relatively small area. To cover a larger area, multiple islands need to be deployed, as shown on this slide. Also, to ensure that the signal remains consistent as clients moved around, some overlap is necessary.

However, if all of the APs on the neighbouring islands are trying to transmit on the same channel without any coordination, this will cause transmission interference, also known as CCI.

FURTINET

Training Institute

Wireless LAN Architecture (Contd)

- Use different channels for each island
- · Limited number of channels
- Some frequencies have more channels, but with limitations



WLANs are allowed to operate in relatively small parts of the radio spectrum.

The small part of the spectrum that WLANS are allowed to use is divided into multiple channels. One of the early methods used to accommodate multiple APs was to assign each island its own channel. This meant that conversations occurring on different islands could take place at the same time without interfering with, colliding with, or inhibiting each other.

The initial portion of the spectrum released for WLAN use was in the 2.4 GHz range. It was subdivided into 14 channels; however, some practical limitations meant that only three channels were usable. Later, more of the spectrum was released in the 5 GHz range, making more channels available. However, there were limitations around using these channels as well.



When different islands are assigned their own channels, the network coverage can grow. However, because there are only three usable channels in the 2.4 GHz range, in any network that has more than three APs, channels have to be reused. To prevent CCI, radios on the same channel need to be kept as far apart as possible.

Often, you have to cope with a reduced number of channels, channels being unavailable or unreliable, and, in the case of a 5 GHz space, dealing with limitations such as dynamic frequency selection (DFS).

In addition to planning channels, you also the need to ensure that the signal is strong and consistent. To achieve performance strength and consistency, APs need to be closer together than is advised from a channel planning point of view. If APs are deployed in high density, you may need to reduce transmission power to avoid CCI. Often, you must also often plan the two radio channels associated with each AP; one in 2.4 GHz and one in 5 GHz

This is known as a *microcell* architecture, and each island is referred to as a cell. Designing and implementing an efficient microcell requires careful planning.

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET SSID, BSSID, and ESSID SSID: MYNETWORK Each AP (or island) is identified by a: BSSID BSSID: 5e-c9-59-7c-b9-0b MAC address of radio for example "5e-c9-59-7cb9-0b" SSID Human readable string for example "MYNETWORK", "Guest-Network" ESSID Group of APs offering same SSID ESSID: MYNETWORK BSSID: 5e-c9-59-7c-b2-0a BSSID: 5e-c9-59-7c-b9-0b Data is communicated at Layer 2 of the **OSI** model Using network frames Data is bridged from the wireless side of the network to the wired and the reverse FURTINET © Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved, Training Institute

Each transmission contains a basic service set identifier (BSSID) and service set identifier (SSID) that identify the originating AP. When clients need to send data to APs, they require an address to send the data to. In WLAN standards, the address of the radio is the Ethernet MAC address assigned by the manufacturer. This is a 48-bit-long address represented in hexadecimal numbers for example, 5e-c9-59-7c-b9-0b.

The WLAN standards also enable the AP to broadcast a service set identifier (SSID), a human readable string that users can use to identify the network, for example MYNETWORK, or Guest-Network.

A connected group of APs offering the same SSID is called an extended SSID or ESSID. When an ESSID is used, even though each individual AP radio still has a BSSID, the entire network is represented by a single "name". For example, if the BSSID of AP1 is 5e-c9-59-7c-b2-0a and AP2 is 5e-c9-59-7c-b2-0b, the ESSID is the same MYNETWORK.

Data in the wireless network is moving at layer 2 and is referred to as frames. Layer 3 protocols sit on top of layer 2 and use it as a transport.

Wireless APs bridge frames from the wireless side of the network to the wired side of the network and the reverse. The AP functions as an Ethernet bridge.



Each AP in the network advertises itself using beacons. A beacon is a specific type of frame that broadcasts:

- The SSID it supports
- The BSSID (unique identity) of the AP
- · A selection of other configuration information, such as supported link rates

Beacons go out approximately every 100 milliseconds, or 1/10th of a second. Beacons are part of a class of frames that are used for the management and maintenance of the wireless network.

Because beacons are a type of broadcast frame, they do not require clients to acknowledge them. They carry *information* around the wireless network, but they do not carry *client data*. The more management frames are in the air, the less airtime is available to send useful data.

When a client arrives and wants to join a wireless network, it starts gathering lists of available networks, identified by BSSIDs, from the beacons that it receives.

When evaluating which network to join, the client looks at:

- Signal strength
- Supported rates
- The SSID offered
- Other information

After performing the evaluation, the client makes a list of preferred candidate BSSIDs.

Roaming

FURTINET

Training Institute

- If a client moves away from the associated AP, the signal will drop
- As the signal drops, the client should look for another BSSID offering the required SSID
- At some point the client will make the decision to roam



Clients are often constantly monitoring the strength of the signal to the AP they are connected to. As the signal strength changes as the client moves, the client *should* start looking at its list of APs to see if there is a better AP to connect to. If the client does decide to disconnect from the original AP and connect to a new AP, this is called roaming.



Clients don't always make the best of decisions, and many of the decisions they make depend on the quality of their wireless chipset and the driver that supports that chipset.

Clients that are used mostly in the home market often choose not to roam. Instead, they choose to remain with the original AP, even when signal strength is poor or the signal drops. As the signal drops, the link rate drops, and the amount of data that the client can transfer is reduced. These types of clients are often referred to as *sticky clients*.

This not only leads to poor performance on that client, it also takes up more airtime to transfer data. This can impact other clients that are associated with the same AP.

Airtime fairness is a mechanism that can help in these types of scenarios.

Sticky Clients

- Sticky clients also extend the area of CCI
 - Other APs in the building will be on the same channel
 - The frames sent from the low speed client will collide with the other APs occupying the same channel and their clients too

F CRTINET. Training Institute

If a client decides not to roam and remain associated with same AP, it is called a sticky client. One side effect of sticky clients is that they extend the area of the CCI. While trying to make low-speed transmissions back to the AP they are associated with, they are also potentially colliding with transmissions from another AP in the building, impacting the performance of that AP and the clients associated with it.

5e-c9-59-7c-b9-0b

MYNETWOR

Se-c9-59-7c-b2-0a

57

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved.

F RTINET

Training Institute

AP Radio Capability

- Most modern APs are dual radio
 - The majority consist of a 5 GHz radio and a 2.4 GHz radio
- Usually there is a need to select a suitable channel for both interfaces
 - Exception: If an interface is going to be dedicated to spectrum or WIPS use, then a specific channel is not required
- The AP will have 2.4 GHz and 5 GHz antenna labeled



Remember, the vast majority of modern APs are dual-band, which means they are equipped with two radio chips that allow simultaneous transmission. Most APs consist of a 5 GHz radio chipset and a 2.4 GHz radio chipset. Usually, but not always, you must assign a channel to both of these interfaces. Sometimes you might want to reserve a radio on an AP for a specific use, such as spectrum analysis or a wireless intrusion prevention system (WIPS). Radios used for these purposes do not need a dedicated channel—often part of their function is to scan multiple channels.

Knowledge Check

- 1. What is an ESSID?
 - A. The MAC address of an AP broadcasting wireless network
 - ✓B. A group of APs broadcasting the same wireless network

2. What triggers roaming?

- A. New client connection requests
- B. A client moving away from the currently connected AP

F RTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 59

Lesson Progress Radio Transmission Fundamentals Wireless LAN Fundamentals WFA, IEEE, and 802.11 WLAN Standards Wireless LAN Architecture and AP deployment

Congratulations! You have completed this lesson.

Now, you will review the objectives that you covered in this lesson.

60

Review

- Understand radio transmission fundamentals
- Explore wireless LAN fundamentals
- ✓ Identify key WFA, IETF, and IEEE 802.11 standards
- Describe wireless LAN architecture and AP deployment

F::RTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 61

This slide shows the objectives that you covered in this lesson.

By mastering the objectives covered in this lesson, you learned about wireless technology concepts and how to apply them when deploying a wireless network using Fortinet infrastructure wireless solutions.



In this lesson, you will learn about FortiAP essentials, focusing on the managed FortiAP devices that use the FortiOS integrated wireless controller.

2

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET

Lesson Overview Introducing FortiAP Integrated Wireless Controller Wireless Topologies FortiLAN Cloud Management

In this lesson, you will learn about the topics shown on this slide.

DO NOT REPRINT © F<mark>ORTINET</mark>



After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objectives shown on this slide.

By demonstrating competence in understanding FortiAP, you should be able to identify Fortinet wireless models and describe some use cases.

Security-Driven WLAN Networking

Secure

FURTINET

Training Institute

· Convergence of security and network access

Flexible deployment and cost

- · Scalable to support enterprises of all sizes
- Full line from large to small secure access appliances
- · Flexible management options
- No additional license required to enable built-in wireless controller

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved.

 $((\bullet))$

Wi-Fi is an important network medium in every type of business from small to medium to large enterprises, and in millions of homes.

Controller-managed wireless solutions that aren't integrated don't fit small and medium businesses (SMB), and pure cloud-managed solutions don't offer comprehensive security, which could expose users to the growing number of cyberthreats.

Fortinet secure wireless LAN (WLAN) meets the needs of these different use cases without sacrificing comprehensive security. It has several deployment models with an integrated wireless controller in FortiGate and FortiLAN Cloud.

The Fortinet integrated wireless solution provides single-pane-of-glass management for security and access. The integrated wireless solution includes the FortiGate network security platform, FortiAPs, and centralized management. FortiGate consolidates WLAN control, firewall, VPN gateway, a network intrusion prevention system (IPS), DLP, malware protection, web filtering, application control, and endpoint control on a single device. FortiGate does not require any additional licenses to enable built-in wireless controller functionality.



Fortinet offers three core use cases for secure WLAN:

- Campus: A single building with multiple floors, or a corporate or education campus with a group of large buildings. The support of designs including Dual 5GHz and tri-band with Wi-Fi 6E in FortiAPs allow a large number of client devices to attach to the network at the same time without over-air congestion.
- Branch or SD-Branch: A highly distributed number of small sites, often with no onsite IT. The built-in network access control (NAC) functionality in FortiOS allows secure onboarding of devices at remote locations where IT doesn't have reliable visibility.
- Teleworker: A remote AP installed at a worker's home or at microbranch office space. Split tunneling allows local traffic to remain local while sending other traffic to the data center for inspection when needed.

Fortinet Wireless Models



Fortinet has different Wi-Fi hardware platforms optimized for different use cases. The same security protection is available across these product families, which allows businesses to choose the topology and management model that suits them best, without giving up important security capabilities.

FortiAP devices are thin wireless access points (AP) supporting the latest Wi-Fi technologies (Wi-Fi 5, Wi-Fi 6, Wi-Fi 6E, and Wi-Fi 7), and the demand for plug-and-play deployment. FortiAP devices come in various form factors (desktop, indoor, outdoor, or wall jack). Fortinet's Security Fabric enables you to easily manage wired and wireless security from a single-pane-of-glass management console and protects your network from the latest security threats. Large deployments require multiple FortiAP devices.

The FortiAP-U series offers a wide range of models with the additional power of FortiGuard services and the flexibility of dual 5 GHz support for Wi-Fi 6 APs.

The FortiWiFi series consists of compact, standalone appliances that combine, in one platform, a full-featured wireless access point, a LAN switch, and an entry-level FortiGate device equipped with WAN features and security functionality. This is also referred to as thick AP and is suitable for a single AP to cover all areas.

Of course, Wi-Fi is not the only wireless technology. In addition to Wi-Fi devices, FortiOS also supports FortiExtender, so you can use cellular and other wireless modems as a WAN interface.

Wi-Fi 7

- New wireless technology—IEEE 802.11be
- Extremely high throughput
 - Supports advanced modulation 4K QAM
 - Increases throughput
 - Reduces latency and jitter
 - Maximum throughput 46.4 Gbps
- Operates on 2.4, 5, and 6 GHz spectrum bands
- Available on the FortiAP K platform
- Key features:
 - MLO

FURTINET

Training Institute

- Multi-RU
- Puncturing

IEEE 802.11be is a new wireless technology (Wi-Fi 7) that introduces extremely high throughput (EHT) in wireless communication which features a boost in wireless bandwidth up to maximum of 46 Gbps. It enhances reliability and reduces latency and jitter in wireless connections and supports advanced modulation with 4K guadrature amplitude modulation (QAM)—4096 QAM..

Wi-Fi 7 is available in FortiAP K models and operates on 2.4 GHz, 5 GHz, and 6 GHz frequency bands, enhancing speed, reliability, and network performance across diverse environments.

Wi-Fi 7 offers multilink operation (MLO) for simultaneous data transmission across all bands. It also offers Multi Resource Units (Multi-RU) for improved channel usage. Puncturing is another feature Wi-Fi 7 offers, to allow access points and clients to share channels if interference is present, to continue use as much of the spectrum of channels as possible.



The Unified Threat Protection (UTP) module is supported only on FortiAP-U models. An additional license is required to enable this feature. UTP is ideal for small remote branch office deployments, where the FortiAP is managed by FortiLAN Cloud and no on-premises FortiGate devices are deployed. UTP-enabled FortiAP-U models also work with bridged SSID when a FortiGate wireless controller manages FortiAP.



This slide shows the different wireless standards supported by different FortiAP models based on their suffixes. For example, FAP-443K supports Wi-Fi 7, FAP-231G supports Wi-Fi 6E, FAP-234F supports Wi-Fi 6, and so on.

DO NOT REPRINT © F<mark>ORTINET</mark>

Fortinet Wireless Management



The FortiGate wireless controller provides a single point of management for all the APs deployed in the network. All FortiGate and FortiWiFi devices have built-in wireless controllers that are used for integrated secure wireless access. The maximum number of supported APs varies based on the FortiGate model. FortiGate does not require any additional licenses to enable built-in wireless controller functionality. This results in security-driven networking, where the network is converged with, and driven by, security. Wireless access controllers are commonly referred as ACs.

FortiLAN Cloud management allows for centralized hosted cloud control of standalone FortiAP devices, scaling from a handful to thousands of FortiAP devices. A FortiLAN Cloud subscription enables advanced features and troubleshooting plus additional configuration options and log retention. FortiLAN Cloud management is recommended for environments where FortiGate does not manage FortiAP.

The **AP Manager** on FortiManager allows you to manage FortiAP access points that are controlled by FortiGate devices and are managed by FortiManager.

FortiSASE connects to FortiAP as an edge device for management. This allows microbranch deployment, where a branch office with FortiAP is managed over a backhaul connection to FortiSASE.

11

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET

CHINE CALCULATE CONTROL OF CONTROL O

Lesson Progress

Introducing FortiAP Integrated Wireless Controller Wireless Topologies FortiLAN Cloud Management

F RTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 12

Good job! You now understand FortiAP basics.

Now, you will learn about the FortiGate integrated wireless controller.



After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objectives shown on this slide.

By demonstrating a competent understanding of the FortiGate integrated wireless controller, you will be able to deploy FortiAP.

Key Benefits of FortiAP Managed by FortiGate

J		0 5		
Zero-touch deployment	Single-paper	manacement	Socurity Echric integration	
 Fast and simple deployment No licenses required to manage 	 Provides cor and control o devices 	mplete visibility of users and	 Integrated firewall, IPS, application control, and web filter protect the wireless LAN from the latest security threats 	
∏ ∠ Sca	alability	Automatio	on	
 Range of p size of dep 	latforms to any loyment	 Removes hu to improve n at the access 	ıman interaction etwork security s layer	
F RTINET Training Institute			© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved.	14

Managing FortiAP devices using FortiGate offers the following important key benefits:

- Zero-touch deployment: FortiGate can automatically authorize FortiAP without the administrator's manual authorization. No additional licenses are required to manage FortiAP devices with FortiGate.
- Single-pane management: You can manage FortiAP using FortiGate or FortiManager. Administrators are not required to log in to FortiAP.
- Security Fabric integration: You configure firewall policies using FortiAP SSIDs in the same way as FortiGate interfaces. FortiGate and FortiManager handle authentication and authorization.
- Scalability: FortiAP devices are available in range of platforms to support any size of deployment.
- Automation: The built-in NAC functionality on FortiOS allows secure onboarding on devices, and endpoints can be quarantined automatically using the Security Fabric automation stitch.

Enabling the Wireless Controller

- Required to discover and manage FortiAP devices on FortiGate
- To enable the wireless controller on FortiGate (enabled on most models):

```
config system global
  set wireless-controller enable
end
```

To display the wireless controller settings on the FortiGate GUI (enabled by default):



Before you can manage your FortiAP device on FortiGate, you must ensure the wireless controller feature is enabled on FortiGate, so FortiGate can discover and manage connected FortiAP devices. By default, the wireless controller feature is enabled on most FortiGate models.

After you enable the wireless controller feature, the related wireless controller settings appear on the GUI in the **WiFi & Switch Controller** section. If the GUI settings are unavailable, make sure that the **WiFi Controller** feature is enabled on the **Feature Visibility** page.

The maximum allowed transmitter power and permitted radio channels for Wi-Fi networks depend on the region in which the network is located. By default, the Wi-Fi controller is configured for the United States. If you are located in any other region, set your geographic location before you begin the wireless network configuration. You can set your geographic location by clicking **WiFi & Switch Controller > WiFi Settings**, and then select the country from the **WiFi country/region** menu.

DO NOT REPRINT

AP Discovery Methods	
 FortiAP devices cycle through six methods to locate and connect to FortiGate: Static You can configure FortiAP with a static controller IP DHCP By default, FortiAP uses DHCP option 138 to get the controller IP DNS FortiAP can discover the controller by using a hostname configured in the AC_HOSTNAME_1 parameter FortiLAN Cloud FortiAP uses the hostname apctrl1.fortilcloud.com for FortiLAN Cloud management 	
 Multicast FortiAP can discover the controller by using the multicast address 224.0.1.140 Broadcast FortiAP broadcasts a discovery request to locate the controller 	
FIRTINET. Training Institute	served. 16

By default, the FortiAP discovery method is set to auto, which means the AP will cycle through the discovery methods and sequence shown on this slide to locate a wireless controller. For every discovery type, FortiAP sends out discovery requests and sets a timer for an interval of a random number of seconds—2 to 180. The default is 5 seconds. Using the FortiGate CLI, you can modify this value with the following command:

```
config wireless-controller timers
  set discovery-interval 5
end
```

After the timeout is reached, FortiAP sends out another discovery request, up to a maximum of three times. After approximately 3 to 15 seconds, if FortiAP has no AC connection, it will switch to another discovery type and repeat the process until the last broadcast fails, leading to SULKING state. After approximately 30 seconds, FortiAP will enter the AC_IP_DISCVER state. After the AC IP is found, it will enter the IDLE state, and will eventually enter the DISCOVERY state, then repeat the process.You can use static IP or DNS hostname methods when the AP is not deployed on the same subnet as the wireless controller and cannot be reached by the multicast or broadcast method. You must make this configuration change on the FortiAP devices manually, before deploying them. You can configure a static IP or DNS on a FortiAP using the GUI or CLI including the serial port on FortiAP.

By default, FortiAP uses DHCP option 138 to receive the wireless controller IP address. You need to convert the IP address of the wireless controller into hexadecimal. Convert each octet value separately, from left-to-right, and concatenate them. For example, 192.168.0.1 converts to C0A80001. If option 138 is used for some other purpose on your network, you can use a different option number, if you configure the AP units to match. The AP unit sends a multicast discovery request and the controller replies with a unicast discovery response message to the AP. The AP and the controller do not need to be in the same broadcast domain, if multicast routing is correctly configured. The default multicast destination address is 224.0.1.140. You can change it using the CLI, but you must make the changes to both the controller and to the AP.



CAPWAP is a network protocol that you can use to provision and manage FortiAP devices using FortiGate. CAPWAP allows an AC to manage a collection of wireless APs. In the Fortinet integrated wireless solution, CAPWAP enables you to manage the configuration and device, and push firmware upgrades to FortiAP devices.

You must enable the **Security Fabric Connection** access on the interface FortiGate uses to connect FortiAP devices using CAPWAP. You also need to enable DHCP.

CAPWAP uses UDP port 5246 as the control channel and port 5247 as the data channel. CAPWAP-enabled devices can create a secure data channel to the AC using DTLS encryption. CAPWAP provides direct administrator access to a FortiGate interface, so it must be enabled on the interface that the FortiAP devices will be connecting to.

The CAPWAP discovery process is as follows:

- 1. FortiAP devices send a discovery request. FortiGate responds with a discovery response.
- 2. Both devices establish a secure DTLS session.
- 3. After FortiGate authorizes the FortiAP, the CAPWAP discovery and join phase takes place.
- 4. After the CAPWAP tunnel is established, FortiGate sends all required management and WLAN-related configuration to FortiAP.

Enabling the Security Fabric Connection

- To use CAPWAP, you must enable Security Fabric Connection access on the interface FortiGate uses to connect FortiAP devices
- Open ports for communication for CAPWAP on UDP ports
 - 5246 control channel
 - 5247 data channel

F RTINET. Training Institute

 Enable DHCP to automatically assign IP addresses to APs

Name	E port4
Alias	Diversional interface
туре VREID 🙃	
Role 🚯	Undefined
Address	
Addressing	node Manual DI ICP Auto-managed by IPAM
IP/Netmask	10.0.13.1/255.255.255.0
Secondary II	Zaridress 🔘
Administrati	ve Access
IPv4	🗆 HTTPS 🔤 PING 🔅 EMG-Access
	SSH SNMP FTM
	Connection
Receive H D	P Use VDOM Setting Enable Disable
Transmit III (OP () Use VDOM Setting Enable Disable

On FortiGate, choose an interface to which you will connect FortiAP devices. You must enable **Security Fabric Connection** access on the interface to use CAPWAP. Enable the DHCP server option to give IP addresses to FortiAP devices, instead of manually configuring the IP address on each AP.

Authorizing an AP			
0	WiFi & Switch Controll	er > Managed FortiAPs	
 FortiOS lists all discovered APs in the 	+Create new - 🖋 Edit	Delete	🐵 Register All 🛛 😂 Refr
Managed FortiAPs window	Access Point 🗘	Authorize	Channel
 Discovered APs are unavailable 	- ? Unauthorized 1	O Reject	
 Right-click an AP, and then click 	(w) FP221E5520041092	R1 🕪 FGTWark (wifi)	R1 6
Authorization > Authorize to start		R2 <u>N/A</u>	R2) N/A
managing the AP			
 FortiOS will push configuration to the AP and automatically assign a default AP profile 	FortiA	P status • FortiAP-	U with UTP
based on the model of the AP		• Onli	ne 🔍
 To allow the wireless controller to 		• Offli	ne 🔘
authorize new discovered FortiAP		• Una	uthorized ()
automatically:		FortiAP	(4.5)
config system interface		• Onli	ne ((T))
edit <interface conne<="" fortiap="" is="" th="" where=""><td>cted></td><td>• Offlin</td><td>ne ((('<u>'</u>'))</td></interface>	cted>	• Offlin	ne (((' <u>'</u> '))
set auto-auth-extension-device enable		• Una	uthorized ((()))
ena			
		© Fortin	et Inc. All Rights Reserved. 19
Training mondule			

You can connect the FortiAP to the interface. After some time, it will appear in the **Managed FortiAPs** list. At this stage, the AP is unavailable. Right-click the AP and then click **Authorization > Authorize** in the dropdown list, or select an AP, and then click **Authorization > Authorize**. This is required because the AP will not function unless it is authorized.

After an AP connects to FortiGate, FortiGate assigns a default profile for the AP model to the authorized AP.

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET Authorizing an AP (Contd) FortiGate discovers the AP on the Security WiFi & Switch Controller > Managed FortiAPs Fabric connection interface (CAPWAP) Access Point 🖨 Channel Clients \$ כות Onauthorized 1 (III) FP221E5520041092 R1 (••) FGTWork (wifi) **R1** 11 0 R2 N/A R2 N/A FortiGate tags AP as authorized; it appears offline as it receives the configuration from FortiGate and reboots Access Point 🗢 🕑 Offline 🕕 (++) FP221E5520041092 R1 (0) FGTWork (wifi) **R1** N/A 0 R2 N/A R2 N/A Green status indicates CAPWAP tunnel is established Access Point 🗘 SSIDs Channel Clients ≑ 🖃 🥑 Online 1 (••) FP221E5520041092 R1 🕪 FGIWork (wift) **R1** 11 υ R2 N/A R2 N/A FURTINET. © Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 20 Training Institute

This slide shows the different statuses of FortiAP during authorization by FortiGate.

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET Firmware Upgrade—Automatic WiFi & Switch Controller > WiFi Settings · Multiple ways to upgrade the WiFi Settings FortiAP firmware: Fortinet_Wifi WiFi certificate FortiAP auto firmware Fortinet Wifi CA WiFi CA certificate provisioning WiFi country/region United States Automatically upgrade newly FortiAP auto firmware provisioning 🚯 🔘 discovered FortiAPs with the System > Firmware & Registration most recent compatible firmware Automatic Patch Upgrades Automatic firmware updates Enable automatic patch upgrades for v7.4 Regularly check for available patch upgrades within the v7.4 version during a configured time windo Upgrade FortiAPs at a upgrade scheduled time within the O Disable automatic patch upgrades Do not automatically download or install patch upgrades. same firmware train Delay Specify days Upgrade schedule Delay by number of days 3 Install during specified time 01:00 AM (9) to 4:00 AM FURTINET © Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 21 Training Institute

You can enable **FortiAP** auto firmware provisioning on the **WiFi Settings** page. When enabled, newly discovered FortiAPs are automatically upgraded to the latest compatible firmware. This happens once during authorization.

On the **Firmware & Registration** page, deselect **Disabled automatic patch upgrades**. Select **Enable automatic patch upgrades for v7.4**, and then schedule a date and time for your upgrade. This upgrades the FortiAP device directly to the target version.

DO NOT REPRINT

© FORTINET Firmware Upgrade—Manual · Use the firmware upgrade tool on the GUI WiFi & Switch Controller > Managed FortiAPs 0 Updathy the immerse will cause the +Create new 🔻 🖋 Edit 🛛 🗑 Delete 🖙 Authorization 👻 📮 Register All 🛛 😴 Refresh 🚺 🔾 Search adu From FortiGuard Uploa Access Point # SSIDe Channel Clients ≑ FGTHome (This Forti Gate) 🖃 🥪 Online 🕕 FAT 201F 🛧 74.0 bail40522 04 FP221E5520041092 R1 04 FGTWork (wifi) **R1** 11 0 C 601 82201 SN2000 000 R2 N/A R Edit 🗓 Delete 🗶 Upgrad 🖸 Restar Upload firmware image to FortiGate execute wireless-controller upload-wtp-image <tftp/ftp> <filename> <IP of server> Upgrade all FortiAP devices execute wireless-controller reset-wtp all FURTIDET © Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 22 Training Institute

You can manually upgrade the firmware on a FortiAP device using the FortiGate GUI. Go to the **Managed FortiAPs** page, right-click the target FortiAP device, and then click the **Upgrade** button. Then, you can choose to have FortiGate download the firmware upgrade file from FortiGuard or upload your local firmware image. You can upgrade only one FortiAP at a time using the GUI.

You can also upgrade the firmware of a FortiAP device using the FortiGate CLI. For this, you must first upload the target firmware image to FortiGate from an FTP or TFTP server. You can upgrade all the FortiAP devices at the same time using the CLI command <code>execute wireless-controller reset-wtp all</code>. This command pushes the firmware from the FortiOS wireless controller to the FortiAP devices. A FortiAP device reboots after the firmware is installed.

DO NOT REPRINT © F<mark>ORTINET</mark>

Hitless Rolling FortiAP Upgrade

 Enable hitless rolling to upgrade 	WiFi & Switch Controller > Managed FortiAP			
multiple FortiAP devices	Ungrado PartiAPs			
 Hitless upgrade algorithm 	O Updaling the first water will occurs the deskets to those.	Investo FarilaBe		
 Staggered approach 	Uppende From Balifsand Upkert Selett File			
 FortiAP devices connected to each 	FortiAP v7.4.3 build0591	Updating the finance will cause the devices to retroot.		
other upgrade immediately	FG1KSD3I10800C65 (Thit FortiGate)	Uprade From Ford Guard Uplace		
 Other devices provide wireless connectivity 	AP-2011 C (4) FE301FTE20007012 C (4) FE301FTE20007012	FortiAPV7A1bulld0591		
connocavity	CH FE231FTE23037047 CH FE231FTE23037047 CH FE231FTE23037047 CH FE231FTE23037047 CH FE331FTE23037047 CH FE331FTE2307 CH FE331FTE23 CH FE331FTE23 CH FE331FTE23 CH FE331FTE3 CH FE33 CH FE331FTE3 CH FE331FTE3 CH FE331FTE3 CH FE33 CH FE33 CH FE33 CH FE33 CH FE33 CH FE33 CH FE3 CH FE33 CH FE3 CH FE33 CH FE3 CH FE3 CH FE3 CH FE3 CH	IN PG1K5D3114800065 (Ti-is ForLiGale)		
 Enable global hitless first on CLI 	global hitless first on CLI	Uklaad Progress 1007X		
<pre>config wireless-controller global set rolling-wtp-upgrade enable set rolling-wtp-upgrade-threshold -70 end config wireless-controller setting set publics str wormsda packla</pre>	(*********************************	0 44 F233F12203575 205 0 46 F233F12203575 215 0 46 F233F12203575 215 0 46 F233F12203720 245 0 46 F233F12203720 198 0 46 F233F12203720 198 0 46 F233F12203720 198 0 46 F233F12203721 195 0 46 F233F12203721 195 0 46 F233F12203721 195		
end		C) 69 F12331T1723037326 ISSUrguement C) 66 F12331T17230373(2 1553		
		© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved.		

Hitless upgrade helps update FortiAP firmware in bulk without interrupting wireless services to clients. It uses an algorithm that upgrades FortiAP in a staggered process and continues to provide wireless communication. You will have to enable global hitless setting first before you can perform hitless upgrade.

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET FortiAP GUI Access IP address: Assigned by DHCP server FortiAP-221 U.C.Slav C Instant 🗇 Sected 🖷 OptimizedbyA Information WANDAN MUDE WAN ONLY HTTPS access enabled by default when Easibua d Thin AP Stassoner Access Point Mede System Statu unmanaged WIP Continueatio Netarek Address Mode CHCP COSIAIRC Relationfigure ADAMENT OF 1 Default login: Settings DNS Server Pidetzuiti 262 11253 Local IP Address (defect) 172-168-1.5 User: admin or all New yet Mask 30 715/15255 Caleway IP (default) 192,169,1.1 Password: (blank) Allow HITPS Access Disabled () Enabled () Controlled by A Allow SHAcces Disabled Disabled Controlled by AC · Both are case sensitive Spannina Trees Folioc in Vicidi 👼 Elivanced Official Constant Wax port satisf Dissouri Character & Controlectover Incolour (Sheway Modify the default (blank) Connectuby liplick 🖲 Filhenet 🔅 Mesh 🔅 Filhenet will mesh ha an sapa password W1º Configuration Adda C Maller C DRCP C DRS C Reactions C Multiple C Relian Cond ACD/somervily/e AC IP Address 1 ACTP Address 0 ALCHOR NEWS wep control Judges anota con AC Host Name 2 ACTION Name S Multion Addres 2240114 FURTINET © Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 24 Training Institute

By default, FortiAP is a DHCP client, meaning it receives an IP address from a DHCP server once it is plugged into your network. HTTPS administrative access is enabled to access the FortiAP GUI for an unmanaged FortiAP device. You may be required to configure a static IP address for FortiOS wireless controller discovery before sending it out to small branch offices where there is no IT staff. After the FortiAP is managed by a FortiOS wireless controller, the administrative access is controlled by the FortiAP profile.

To access the GUI on FortiAP, open a web browser and visit https://<IP address assigned by DHCP server>. Note that you need a firewall policy to allow traffic to access the FortiAP management GUI.

The default login information is public knowledge. Never leave the default password blank. After you log in with default login details, you'll see a message to change the default blank password for the admin user.

25

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved.

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET

FURTINET.

Training Institute

FortiAP BLE

- User FortiExplorer to configure initial settings on BLE-compatible FortiAP devices
 - FortiAP G and later models
- FortiExplorer eliminates the need for a serial console and SSH
- You can use FortiExplorer to troubleshoot FortiAP



FortiAP G and later models are compatible with FortiExplorer using Bluetooth low energy (BLE). This eliminates the need to connect a serial console or establish an SSH connection to FortiAP.

On FortiAP G and later FortiAP models, you can use FortiExplorer to:

- 1. Perform initial configurations on FortiAP
- 2. Debug and monitor FortiAP behavior when it is managed by the wireless controller

Knowledge Check

- 1. Which access must you enable on the FortiGate interface to allow CAPWAP traffic?
- ✓ A. Security Fabric Connection
 - B. FMG-Access
- 1. Which administrative access is enabled on FortiAP by default?
- A. SSH
- 🖌 B. HTTPS

F RTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 26

Lesson Progress



Good job! You now understand the FortiGate wireless controller.

Now, you will learn about the wireless topologies.



After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objectives shown on this slide.

By demonstrating competence in understanding wireless topologies, you will be familiar with the different ways that components connect to a wireless controller.

Managed AP Topologies

- · There are multiple ways of connecting a FortiAP device to a FortiGate wireless controller
 - Direct connection
 - Most simple deployment
 - FortiAP connected directly to FortiGate
 - Switched connection
 - FortiAP connected to FortiGate through L2/L3 switch or router
 - · FortiAP connected to FortiGate located at gateway
 - Connection over WAN
 - FortiAP connected to offsite FortiGate
 - Wireless mesh
 - FortiAP relays traffic through neighbor APs to reach FortiGate

F**BRTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 29

To interconnect the wireless controller and the APs, you will usually use a wired connection. The exception is when remote APs connect indirectly, through a mesh SSID running on another AP to reach the wireless controller.

FortiOS supports the following AP topologies:

- **Direct connection**: Also known as a wire closet deployment. There are no switches between FortiAP and FortiOS. Usually, this deployment type is used where the number of FortiAPs equals the number of internal ports available on FortiGate. FortiAP requests an IP address from FortiOS, enters discovery mode, and quickly finds the FortiGate wireless controller.
- Switched connection: Also known as gateway deployment. FortiAP is connected to FortiOS through a Layer 2 Ethernet switch/Layer 3 router/FortiGate, ports 5246 and 5247 must be open, and there must be a routable path between FortiAP and FortiOS.
- **Connection over WAN**: Also known as a datacenter remote management deployment. The FortiOS wireless controller is remote. When using this method of connectivity, it's best to configure each FortiAP device with the static IP address of the Wi-Fi controller. You can configure each FortiAP with three Wi-Fi controller IP addresses for redundant failover.
- **Distributed connection**: Also known as a wireless mesh deployment. It can provide access to widely distributed clients. The AP that is the root of the mesh is directly connected to the Wi-Fi controller. The root can be either a FortiAP device or a FortiWiFi device.

These physical topologies use two traffic modes:

- Tunnel mode
- Bridge mode



This configuration is commonly used in locations where the number of FortiAPs matches the number of internal ports available on FortiGate. In this configuration, the FortiAP device requests an IP address from the FortiGate device, enters discovery mode, and quickly finds the FortiGate Wi-Fi controller. This is also known as a wire closet deployment.

Switched Connection

- The FortiAP device is connected to the FortiGate Wi-Fi controller by a layer 2 or layer 3 device, or both
 - The layer 3 device FortiAP devices must forward traffic between FortiGate and FortiAPs
 There must be a routable path between the FortiAP and FortiGate devices
 - Ports 5246 and 5247 must be open for CAPWAP control and data traffic
 - Automatic wireless controller discovery using static IP, DHCP option code, or DNS
 - · Great for edge gateway deployments or enterprise campus or HQ deployments



This configuration is commonly used in campus environments and large offices where layer 2 and layer 3 switches are in place for core and distribution-layer connectivity. FortiAP devices could be connected to distribution-layer switches to have wireless access for users. Connecting a FortiAP device to a layer 2 switch is like a direct connection. The wireless controller is discovered either through broadcast or multicast traffic. In a deployment where FortiAP is connected to a layer 3 switch, the wireless controller discovery is performed using static, DNS, or DHCP discovery methods and there must be a routable path between the FortiAP device and the FortiOS wireless controller.

In the example shown on this slide, the FortiAP devices are connected to a power over Ethernet (PoE) FortiSwitch. That switch connects to a FortiGate firewall, using a FortiLink connection, which effectively integrates all switch management and configuration functions into the FortiGate management interface.

The traffic flow path is straightforward. The AP management traffic goes directly to FortiGate. The user or device access path goes to the switch and then to FortiGate. The AP monitors and secures user traffic through the switch, through the firewall, and out to the internet or other destination.



The FortiGate Wi-Fi controller is off-premises. When you use this method of connectivity, it is best to configure each FortiAP device with the static IP address of the Wi-Fi controller. You can configure each FortiAP device with three Wi-Fi controller IP addresses for redundant failover.

Remote WLAN FortiAP models enable you to provide a preconfigured Wi-Fi AP to a remote or traveling employee. After it is plugged in at home or in a hotel room, FortiAP automatically discovers the enterprise FortiGate Wi-Fi controller over the internet, broadcasts the same wireless SSID used in the corporate office and provides access to corporate resources if configured. By default, the remote FortiAP device sends all traffic to the FortiGate wireless controller. FortiGate can inspect all the network traffic from the wireless clients connected to the remote FortiAP device.

FURTINET

Training Institute

Wireless Mesh

- Eliminates the need to physically cable every AP
- On a two-radio FortiAP device, the best practice is:
 - One radio for backhaul SSID
 - Carries CAPWAP control and data traffic
 - One radio for client SSID
- Better performance due to fewer clients on backhaul frequency, fewer collisions
- Best practice is to use 5GHz for backhaul SSID



Mesh (IEEE 802.11s) topologies are useful where physical wiring is impractical. Mesh eliminates the need to *physically* cable every AP to the wireless controller. Instead, APs relay their traffic through a *wireless* connection with their neighbor APs, back to the root, which *is* physically connected to the wireless controller.

Mesh includes the devices and SSIDs shown in the diagram on this slide:

- Mesh root node APs are the only ones connected to the network by a physical cable.
- Backhaul SSIDs between APs are only for relayed connections to the wired network through the root
 FortiAP device. These SSIDs carry CAPWAP discovery, configuration, and other communications that are
 usually carried on an Ethernet connection. *Regular Wi-Fi clients such as laptops and tablets shouldn't
 connect to the backhaul SSID. Make sure that your backhaul SSID and user SSID on different frequencies.*This maximizes performance—the APs don't need to compete with clients for airtime.
- Branch APs are between the root and leaf APs. (Smaller meshes may not have any.) They relay packets if the leaf AP is not in range of the root.
- Leaf APs connect normal clients such as laptops, tablets, and mobile phones.

If your AP has only two radios, then you can't dedicate one of the radios to scanning for rogue APs—unless the backhaul SSID and client SSID share a radio, which decreases performance. For example, the 5GHz radio could have only the backhaul SSID; the 2.4GHz radio could have one or more SSIDs for user connections. Background Wi-Fi scanning is not available in this mode. Alternatively, the backhaul SSID could share the same radio with SSIDs for users, but performance would be reduced because backhaul and user traffic would compete for available bandwidth. Background Wi-Fi scanning is possible in this mode.

A wireless mesh topology is a good way to limit physical cabling, but a wireless medium is not considered reliable for backhaul connectivity due to interference and quality of signal issues. Site surveys are highly recommended before implementing a wireless mesh topology.



To connect two wired network segments, you can also create a wireless mesh.

To set up a full mesh:

- 1. Similar to the previously shown wireless mesh, configure a backhaul SSID and mesh root AP. (Note that unlike a normal mesh, the mesh root AP for a point-to-point bridge *must* be a FortiAP device, not a FortiWiFi device.)
- 2. Configure bridging on the branch FortiAP device.

Knowledge Check

- 1. Which deployment topology has no switches between FortiAP and FortiOS?
 - A. Switched connection
- B. Direct connection
 - 2. What is the best practice to implement wireless mesh on a FortiAP device that has two radios?
 - A. One radio to broadcast tunnel mode SSID and another radio to broadcast bridge mode SSID
- \checkmark B. One radio for backhaul SSID and another radio for client SSID

F RTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 35

Lesson Progress



Good job! You now understand the wireless topologies.

Now, you will learn about the management of FortiLAN Cloud.



After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objectives shown on this slide.

By demonstrating competence in understanding FortiLAN Cloud, you will be able to manage FortiAP devices using FortiLAN Cloud.

F BRTINET. Training Institute

FortiLAN Cloud Licensing

- FortiLAN Cloud offers a free basic license:
 - Up to 30 FortiAP devices per account
 - Up to three FortiSwitch devices per account
 - Up to three sites
 - Log retention of 7 days
- Additional licenses are available for FortiAP advanced management, FortiSwitch advanced management, FortiCloud premium, and multi-tenancy

Dashboard Devices	+	Add					
Devices			profile 🛷 Edit	0	Run		
🗘 Configuration		□ Name ਵ (tries ਵ					
Configuration							
Profiles					1		
9 Profile History					•		
Irot							
atures (exture Averbah) by	_				_	Q 2.	evice States 💿 Percise : Dar
NP Advanced Management Cleanse	srdEwitch Advanced Manca	ement U	conse 11 Femiliacud Premium	Utense	😆 kodiliteranov license		ans available (Picerrium)
	-				Contraction of the second s		Q Sanch.
roless Network	Access Paints Management		User Maragement		Logs and Reports		FortiCloud Prenkin License
Still configuration	* Pattoniji ofrakci Bjarcter		* M4C accession, c		• wilders ogs		
Depleate SHD	* Ar lage		* FortLAN Dood Journal	u .	* Alteria lugo		
Re-VDP al	* Sile configuration		* Change bistory		* Drinet loge		
Probe response suppresidor 🚿	1 Oswarides	Sweridas		d WW	* IFG long.		
Sector Crance and Annotation of	* Trimvers appreses		* MINE		* Web occess logs		
Projected Management #	* PadioLogisticity		• Rula tarance	ĥ	 Asp keisen senizellegi 		
North Company (1971)	1 Map maragement		Treffic Control		• T ray log course		
Wate International IDD-TRO	* Stedom Arcyste	÷	* Ups - bance durion for		 Summing records 		
The iss ownerse out its	* VI AN protei		* L3 friend rules	4	* Weeks op - In stord	6	
ATION TWINAS	* 39M		FECP Option 87		* Type ky status :	6	
Book marsslatouris #	* Biostoulin Low Energy (Bus)		* Tuanci amfiles	é	• Polizinatic Connection Steps	4	
11 11 11 11 11 11 11	* Excitivity rest		P DAS AND	÷	* Anness Polini system	4	
				6			
Rendearze perfection of	1 ARR NOT	4	* Harptur sebs				
Records are proved on the Record and RACS rate on type of	* ASP test * Physical	*	 Bargian sets 				

FortiLAN Cloud offers a free basic license that allows deployment and visibility of FortiAP and FortiSwitch devices. You can deploy up to 30 FortiAP devices and three FortiSwitch devices using the free basic license. FortiLAN Cloud retains logs for 7 days, and you can configure up to three sites.

You can access the FortiLAN Cloud portal through by going to https://support.fortinet.com and then clicking on Services > FortiLAN Cloud or by going to https://fortilan.forticloud.com. To review the different license, click on the FortiLAN Cloud feature reference icon, and then click Feature Availability.

Key Benefits of FortiAP Managed by FortiLAN Cloud



Managing FortiAP devices using FortiLAN Cloud offers the following important key benefits:

- Zero-touch deployment: Initial configuration of network equipment can be a difficult proposition, often requiring expert staff on site to configure each device individually. FortiLAN Cloud with FortiZTP greatly simplifies initial configuration and onboarding by providing one-touch provisioning when devices are deployed.
- Ease of management and troubleshooting: Multiple monitor dashboards offer a view of key statistics for all
 managed switches, ports, APs, radios, clients, and neighboring networks in your environment. Click to drill
 down on a particular item to see details on specific devices in a category. There is no need to change
 screens or hunt through the GUI to find information. You can schedule firmware updates for equipment and
 created update profiles for targeted devices.
- Scalability: Manage deployments from single digits up to multiple thousands of devices and easily grow with your deployment along the way.
- Multi-tenancy: Maintain multi-tenancy for many customers within a single license. Simple central visibility and access across all tenants. Enable read-only customer accounts with unique customer logos on reports.
- Security at the edge: When used with the Fortinet UTP access points (FortiAP-U models) FortiLAN Cloud has the flexibility to enable security services wherever needed in the network.

FortiLAN Cloud Features

 FortiLAN Cloud features include: FortiLAN Cloud Ability to manage and deploy wireless networks 备 Network Level S Use built-in guest management ☆ Wireless t Self-registration La Monitor > Deploy protection profiles 🕺 Access Points > Scheduled upgrades Configuration Use local or remote RADIUS server SSID AP location maps Network · Real-time network visibility Change History Optional premium account supports: **Operation Profiles** Multi-tenancy **Connectivity Profiles** · Multiple customers handled from single GUI Protection Profiles Independent subaccounts Device Management Assign AP networks to subaccount User Access Control FURTINET © Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 40 Training Institute

After purchasing an AP, you can start managing it by connecting it to your FortiCloud account. The free basic version of FortiLAN Cloud provides you with the ability to manage and deploy wireless networks without the need of a premium account. It includes features such as guest management, protection profiles, local user management, RADIUS authentication, and so on.

Premium accounts are also available for enterprise customers that require multi-tenancy and more administrator access control of FortiLAN Cloud.



Deploying a wireless network with FortiLAN Cloud allows management of remote APs without an onsite FortiGate device. FortiAP devices communicate with FortiLAN Cloud for management or control plane traffic. All the wireless client traffic is bridged to the FortiAP and is not tunneled back to FortiLAN Cloud. The FortiAP device initiates the connection to FortiLAN Cloud on HTTPS port 443 and makes the initial discovery. FortiAP sends all configuration, event, logs and statistics are sent on CAPWAP UDP port 5246 and UDP port 5247.

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved.

42

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET Provisioning FortiAP—FortiCloud Key FortiLAN C FortiCloud Key Dashboard · FortiLAN Cloud key printed on a sticker 26 D Inventory Devices 0 Deployed Dr Configuration located on your FortiAP device Туре ち Clients Bulk key import to add multiple FortiAP ab Manage Account Acce 0 devices Add Actions - OQ Individual Bulk 🛆 Add APs Key Type Typa≑ Fortil AN Cloud Key @ 🖪 Register APs 🖉 Sync AP Lic This functionality will be deprecated soon. Pl ease start registering your FortiAP in FortiCare (https://support.fortinet.com/). The FortiAPs registered in your account in FortiCare will automatically appear here in the account inventory. ventory Devices 🚺 Deployed Devices

Ads. Mgm1. License No Larenza

-nd Date #

Not available

6

To provision FortiAP directly on FortiLAN Cloud click Devices > Inventory Devices, and then click Access **Points > Add APs.** You can add a FortiAP device using the FortiLAN Cloud key printed on a sticker located on the FortiAP device. You can also add multiple FortiAP devices in a single import, using the bulk key on the Fortinet purchase order. After you add the FortiAP devices to the inventory, you can right-click a device, and then click Actions > Deploy.

OK

Cancel

Access Points - et Actions - OQ Search

type *

1 ortiAP

Serial Number 9

F RTINET

Training Institute

Adv. Mamt. L cense #

No License

UTP License 9

No License

Start Date #

Not available

GANGEL 📀 PROVI

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved.

43

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET Provisioning FortiAP—FortiZTP FortiZTP Provision FortiAP to FortiLAN Cloud using FortiZTP zero-touch provisioning portal > FortiZTP at Article @ Loon 1/leskes Perica sti inte 🧽 saunte esti <u>36</u> 🕫 H 💟 Uzaw Bost Gray Side M Pretty a 0.0

Provision device/s:1

PROVISIONED DEVICE/S

TAPU231

(LortiAP

Model

TAP... O

Firmware Status #

O Up to Data

re your device selection is correct, then select your target location for your chosen device/s

PU231111122012674

DOFT LOCATION

Fortil AN Cloud GLOBAL

ISE NOTE:you can only bulk-provision a selection of devices to a single target location

To access the FortiZTP portal, click Services > FortiZTP on https://support.fortinet.com. FortiZTP automatically loads devices that are registered to asset management with the same FortiCloud account on https://support.fortinet.com. You can view these devices on the UNPROVISIONED tab in FortiZTP and provision them to various Fortinet services as desired. With zero-touch deployment options, FortiLAN Cloud eliminates the need for costly onsite technical expertise. After you provision a FortiAP on FortiZTP portal, it is automatically listed on FortiLAN Cloud as a deployed device.

FortiLAN Cloud: Devices > Deployed Devices

Dia Ide

Model ©

Tirmware Version \$

🤋 Access Points 🔹 🔍 Actions 🐐 🍸 Adv. Filters 🔹 Deployed To 👓 Combined Default 🗶 🛛 Adv. Mont. Licens

iype #

Deployed Devices 🚺

Name @

P0231E1-H22012674 P0231E1 H22012674 EorthAP EAP0231E

0

Sensi Number *

F RTINET

Training Institute

Type

Fort. D

Knowledge Check

1. How many FortiAPs can the FortiLAN Cloud free basic license support?

B. 50

F**BRTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 44
Lesson Progress



Congratulations! You have completed this lesson.

Now, you will review the objectives that you covered in this lesson.

Review

- ✓ Describe the FortiAP portfolio
- Review some FortiAP use cases
- Understand the wireless controller
- ✓ Deploy wireless APs
- Explore AP discovery methods
- Understand CAPWAP use for managing APs
- Understand wireless topologies
- Understand FortiLAN Cloud licensing
- ✓ Understand the benefits of FortiLAN Cloud management
- Provision FortiAP on FortiLAN Cloud

FERTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 46

This slide shows the objectives that you covered in this lesson.

By mastering the objectives covered in this lesson, you learned how to deploy a FortiAP using Fortinet infrastructure wireless solutions.



In this lesson, you will learn about wireless security deployment using the FortiOS integrated wireless controller.



Lesson Overview

Types of SSID

Wireless Encryption

SSID Security

F CRTINET.

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 2

In this lesson, you will learn about the topics shown on this slide.



After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objectives shown on this slide.

By demonstrating competence in understanding SSIDs, you will be able to use them in your network.

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET Types of SSID There are three types of SSID that you can configure on FortiGate: Tunnel mode—Traffic is tunneled back to wireless controller using CAPWAP data channel · Bridge mode—Traffic is bridged directly to the local LAN that AP is connected to · Wireless mesh—Used as backhaul SSID in a distributed connection WiFi & Switch Controller > SSIDs Create New SSID Name WiFi01 Allas 🕿 WiFi SSID Туре VRF ID 0 0 🖀 Bridge (••) Tunnel Mesh Mesh Traffic mode must be defined at the time of initial SSID configuration F RTINET. © Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. Training Institute

You can configure three types of SSID on FortiGate: tunnel mode, bridge mode, and wireless mesh. It is important to choose the mode that best suits the needs and security requirements of your network.

Tunnel Mode

- Default SSID mode
- Wireless traffic is tunneled to FortiGate using CAPWAP data channel
- Separate interface and dedicated subnet for each SSID
- Requires separate firewall policy for SSID subnet
- Pros
 - Central place to enforce security
 - Layer 3 traffic segmentation
- Cons
 - FortiGate must be sized according to traffic
 - If controller goes down, wireless network will go down

FERTINET. Training Institute



By default, tunnel mode SSID is selected when you define an SSID on FortiGate. In this mode, all traffic within CAPWAP DTLS or non-DTLS tunnels is sent to FortiGate before it is allowed on the LAN or the internet. There are two main advantages to using this mode:

- Traffic is subject to firewall policies and security threat scanning. Traffic must go through a security profile inspection and firewall policy examination before it is placed on the egress interface. This ensures that all security threats are addressed before a device is given access to internal or external resources.
- Traffic is processed at the session level. This gives FortiGate complete visibility of user and device activities on the network. FortiGate can track and log user activities and control access at the user level.

F RTINET. Training Institute

Tunnel Mode—SSID Interface

- Tunneled SSID is treated as a layer 3 interface
- Can configure required administrative access to wireless interface
- Must have separate DHCP and DNS settings

Croate New SSID				
Name Allas Type VRLID ()	WiFi01 WiFiSSID 0			
Address		i inge terstaat		
IP/Netmask Create address ob Name Destination Secondary IP addr	ject matching subnet C	192.168.1.1/24		
Administrative Acc IPv4 2 	HTTPS SSH RADIUS Accounting	PING SNMP Security Fabric Connection	FMG Access FTM Speed Test	
C DHCPServer DHCPstatus Address range	 Enabled Disal 192.168.1.2-192.168.1 	bled		
Netmask Default saferene	C 255.255.255.0 Same as Interface IP	Specify		

A tunneled SSID is treated as an interface; therefore, you can configure relevant parameters as needed, including administrative access and DHCP for end stations connecting to this SSID.

Bridge Mode

- SSID operation at layer 2, with traffic being directly bridged to FortiAP management subnet
- Wireless and wired stations can share the same broadcast domain
- As a best practice, wireless clients must use a VLAN to pass local and internet traffic.
 - Clients will be subject to same firewall policies as if using the same management subnet
- Pros
 - Both wired and wireless stations can be in broadcast domain
 - Potential 1 Gbps or more (if using link aggregation on supported APs) LAN throughput per FortiAP
 - Certain FortiAP models can perform security profile inspection
- Cons
 - Limited VLAN pooling options

FERTINET. Training Institute

<complex-block>

 Internet

 FortiGate

 FortiSwitch

 FortiSwitch

 FortiAre

 <

Local bridge mode keeps the SSID operation at layer 2, with traffic being directly bridged to the FortiAP management subnet. Both wired and wireless stations can be in the same broadcast domain. As a best practice, it is important to assign a VLAN for wireless clients when connected to FortiAP. This mode is useful when deploying an AP that connects to a wireless controller over a WAN link at remote locations. As an added security measure, some FortiAP models can perform security inspection on the wireless traffic without forwarding the traffic to the wired network. This ensures that traffic put on the wired network have already been scanned for security threats.

When deployed locally, wireless traffic is subject to the same firewall policies as the FortiAP broadcasting the wireless network. Local traffic is switched at FortiSwitch and only the CAPWAP control traffic goes to the wireless controller.

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET



If a bridge mode SSID is configured for a managed FortiAP, you can add security profiles to the wireless controller, if the FortiAP model supports the security profile. This configuration allows you to apply the following security profile features to the traffic over the bridge SSID:

- Antivirus (including botnet protection)
- Intrusion prevention
- Application control
- Web filter

This is supported only in bridge mode. The traffic of a tunneled SSID is inspected by FortiGate, as usual.

Bridge Mode—Security Profile Support (Contd)

Create New	0	Name Orther((SSU04)) Alias b
Name \$	Comments \$	Trype WHESSID
EB default	Default web filtering.	Dedkated Management Port
■ monitor-all	Monitor and log all visited URLs, flow-based.	WiFiSettings
wifi-default	Default configuration for offloading WiFi traffic.	SSID fortinet Client Intit @ CD
Create security profile		
Create security profile	Apply security profile to an SSID	Hondicat Xill II I

You can create a security profile and then apply it to an SSID. Supported FortiAPs get security profile updates from FortiGuard through a FortiGuard subscription.

Wireless Mesh

- Minimum three devices are required:
 - FortiGate as wireless controller
 - FortiAP as mesh root AP
 - FortiAP as leaf AP
- Backhaul SSID used by APs to create a mesh network

	WiFi & Switch	Controller > SSIDs	_	
	Create New SSID Name Alias Type VRF ID ① Traffic mode ①	WiFi01 The WiFi SSID O (*) Tunnel Bridge Mesh	For backhaul SSID, select mesh for the traffic mode	
F ERTINET. Training Institute			© Fortinet Inc. All R	ights Reserved. 10

Mesh mode SSID is deployed when Ethernet backhaul is not available. It bridges traffic from one SSID—the client service SSID—to a wireless backhaul SSID. Mesh mode is for cases where a FortiAP radio, rather than its Ethernet port, provides the backhaul to the controller. A mesh SSID is meant only for connecting FortiAPs wirelessly. For example, an outbuilding with power but no Ethernet to the main building could have a FortiAP in mesh mode connected to a root FortiAP that does have an Ethernet connection to the main network.

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET

Wireless Mesh—Config

- · Create a mesh SSID on the FortiGate wireless controller
- Broadcast the mesh SSID manually using the AP profile associated with the root AP
- Access the downstream AP using HTTPS or SSH
 - · Change the uplink connectivity to mesh
 - Enter the mesh SSID configuration on the downstream AP
- Use these commands for configuration through SSH:

F :: A	TI	NET.			
exi	C				
cfg	-c				
cfg	-a	MESH	AP_	_PASSWD=tes	st1234
cfg	-a	MESH	AP_	_SSID=Mesh	Uplink
cfg	-a	MESH	AP_	TYPE=1	

F

			WiF	i & Sw	itch Control	ller > Fo	rtiAP Pro	fil
ame ias	 Mesh Uplink (Mesh Uplink) 	link)	Edit FortiA	P Prohis				
00	♥ WILLSSID		Name		FAP231E default			
afficimode 0	8 Mosh		Comman	nta	Write a comment		# 0/255	
iFi Settings		_	Platform Administ	r Institue access	ENP201F	SSH	SNP	MP
ID	Mesh Uplink			od belencing	E Frequency Handoff	AP Handott		
curity Mode 5	settings		002183	inthentication (>			
curity mode	WPA2 Personal	•	Radio 1					
e-shared Key			SSIDe 🖸	a 🔒	00 Juneal 🖉 Relder	Manual		
					affective in the second second second			
ossphrase 🔒	******	10			R Mesh Uplink (Mesh	Uplink) ¥		
ssphrase 0	FortiAP: Settin	s > Loca	al Configu	uration	1 Mesh Uplink (Mesh	Uplink) X		
ssphrase 0	FortiAP: Settin	s > Loca	al Configu	uratior	Withesh Uslink (Merh	voninki x		
ssphrape 🔒	FortiAP: Settin	æ gs > Loca ○ Etherner	al Configu t • Mesh	uration	Withesh Usink (Meri	cackup supp	port	
ssphrase ()	FortiAP: Settin Connectivity Uplink Ethernet Bridge	s s > Loca Etherner	al Configu t Mesh	uration	* Men Usine (Men	oackup supp	port	
ssphrase 0	FortiAP: Settin Connectivity Uplink Ethernet Bridge Mesh AP SSID	≉ gs > Loca Etherner Mesh Uplin	al Configu t Mesh	uration	* Men-Usine (Men	cackup supp	port	
	FortiAP: Settin Connectivity Uplink Ethernet Bridge Mesh AP SSID Mesh AP BSSID	jæ gs > Loca Etherner Mesht⊔plin	al Configu t Mesh	uration	* Men Usine (Men	packup supp	port	

You can configure a mesh SSID on the SSIDs page. You must enter all required information about the SSID, such as SSID name, security mode, and the SSID Traffic mode must be set to Mesh. You must manually broadcast the mesh SSID using the FortiAP profile associated with the root AP. You will learn more about the FortiAP profiles in another lesson. You can access the downstream AP through HTTPS or SSH, and then change the internal uplink configuration of the FortiAP device from Ethernet to Mesh. You must enter the mesh SSID configuration on the downstream FortiAP for it to connect back to the root FortiAP. You must repeat the same process for any additional downstream FortiAP.

Wireless Mesh—Configuration (Contd)

(**) FP231FTF23032217	 21	(*1) 11 (*2) N/A (*3) N/A	1	v7.4.0 build0540	
+//roots yours ALAA	Daleto 🔿 Authorization a 🕼 Breister		Q Koarda		-
Access Point \$	Authorization	Channel	Clients 🖨	OS Version \$	
🖃 🤗 Online 😰	O Deauthorize				
(**) FP231FTF23032217	 Mesh Uplink (Mesh Uplink) All Tunnel Mode SSIDs N/A 	R1 11 R2 N/A R3 N/A	1	v7.4.0 build0540	
PU231ETH22012674	All Tunnel Mode SSIDs All Tunnel Mode SSIDs	R1 11 R2 140	<u>0</u>	v7.0.0 build0084	

You must authorize the downstream FortiAP on the **Managed FortiAPs** page. You can click + beside the root FortiAP, to view all the downstream FortiAPs associated with it.

Knowledge Check

- 1. What is the default traffic mode when an SSID is created?
 - A. Bridge
- 🖌 B. Tunnel
- 2. Which type of SSID is configured on the root AP when Ethernet backhaul is not available?
- 🖌 A. Mesh
 - B. Tunnel

FERTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 13

Lesson Progress



Good job! You now understand SSID types and options. Now, you will learn about wireless encryption standards.



After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objectives shown on this slide.

By demonstrating competence in understanding the wireless encryption standards on a wireless network, you will be able to implement them in your wireless network.



802.1X is a standard designed to provide authentication services to network devices that want to join a local wired or wireless network. The 802.1X standard defines an authentication protocol called EAP. It also defines how EAP is encapsulated over the LAN (the EAPOL protocol) and over RADIUS.

802.1X involves three parties: the client (also commonly known as the supplicant), which is the device that wants to join the network; the authenticator, which is a network device, such as a wireless access point or switch; and the authentication server, which is a host that supports the RADIUS and EAP protocol, such as FortiAuthenticator.

The client is allowed access to the layer 2 network until the client's identity has been validated and authorized. Using 802.1X authentication, the client provides credentials to the authenticator, which the authenticator forwards to the authentication server for verification. If the authentication server determines that the credentials are valid, the client device is allowed access to the network.

Note that the authenticator does not need to have a certificate or have any knowledge of the authentication method (PEAP, TLS, and so on). The authentication is tunneled from the client to FortiAuthenticator over the RADIUS protocol.

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET FAP Evolved from Point-to-Point Protocol (PPP) Used for wired network authentication Unencrypted Several types of wireless EAP Widely used EAP Cisco LEAP (Cisco's Lightweight EAP) implementation EAP-TLS (EAP - Transport Layer Security) PEAP (Protected EAP) EAP-TTLS (EAP - Tunneled Transport Layer Security) • EAP-SIM (EAP - Subscriber Identity Module) · Intended for use on untrusted networks, such as wireless FURTINET © Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. Training Institute

EAP is frequently used in wireless networks and point-to-point connections to authenticate users *before* they have access to the full network.

EAP is not a wire protocol; instead it only defines message formats. Each protocol that uses EAP defines a way to encapsulate EAP messages within that protocol's messages. EAP is in wide use and has many different versions:

- Cisco LEAP (Cisco's Lightweight EAP)
- EAP-TLS (EAP Transport Layer Security)
- PEAP (Protected EAP)
- EAP-TTLS (EAP Tunneled Transport Layer Security)
- EAP-SIM (EAP Subscriber Identity Module)

Some, such as Cisco LEAP, are proprietary, while others, like EAP-TLS, are considered standard. Also, some may provide only one-way authentication, while others provide two-way authentication more commonly called mutual authentication. This process involves a few elements:

- The supplicant at the client station is a piece of software running on the device that wants to be authenticated.
- The authenticator (in this case, FortiOS) controls access to the network.
- The authentication server (often a RADIUS server) decides to authorize the user or not. It can be local or remote.

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET



Using encapsulated EAP methods, the client establishes a TLS session first. At this point, the authentication server uses a digital certificate to authenticate the client. Encapsulated inside the TLS session, the client uses any native EAP method for client authentication. Two examples of encapsulated EAP methods are:

- PEAPv0/MSCHAPv2: Authenticates the client using MSCHAPv2
- PEAPv1/EAP-GTC: Uses different identification mechanisms (including one-time passwords) for authenticating clients, which makes it very flexible. FortiAuthenticator supports it, but it is not commonly supported by other vendors.

Encapsulated EAP Methods (EAP-TLS)

- Standard, original authentication protocol
- Client and server require a certificate
 - Both client and server must have a valid certificate
- · Requires PKI implementation for all your wireless clients
 - All devices must have a valid certificate installed in order to connect to the wireless network

FERTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 19

EAP-TLS is one of the common native methods that uses TLS and digital certificates on both clients and server to authenticate. EAP-TLS requires PKI implementation for all your wireless clients.

All devices will need to have a valid certificate installed in order to connect to the wireless network

Encapsulated EAP Methods (EAP-TTLS)

- A TLS session is established first
 - X.509 certificate is used to authenticate the server
- Inside the TLS session, attribute-value pairs (AVPs) are interchanged
- These AVPs authenticate the client using on of the following:
 - A native EAP method
 - A legacy authentication protocol, such as PAP or CHAP
- Might require a third-party utility to use for wireless authentication
- Client certificate can be optional

F CRTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 20

Another encapsulated method is EAP-TTLS. With this encapsulated method, AVPs authenticate the clients using either a native EAP method or a legacy authentication protocol (such as PAP or CHAP). EAP-TTLS is not natively supported on many devices. Therefore, you might need to use a third-party utility to perform authentication.

FERTINET

Training Institute

WPA2 Message Handshake

- Robust security network associations (RSNAs)
 - Two stations (STAs) authenticate and associate with each other
 - Create dynamic encryption keys using fourway handshake
- Dynamic encryption-key management method
 - · Five separate keys created
 - Two master keys: group master key (GMK) and the pairwise master key (PMK)
 - PMK is created by 802.1X/EAP or PSK authentication



This slide provides an overview of the WPA2 message handshake. A wireless client using 802.1X authentication must be authenticated before the WPA2 message exchange. After authentication, there is association and, finally, the four-way WPA/WPA2 handshake.

The four-way handshake occurs in the last four frames during either 802.1 X/EAP or PSK authentication. It produces what most people think of as Wi-Fi encryption. IEEE 802.11-2007 defines RSN and RSNAs. RSNAs specify that two stations must:

- · Establish a procedure to authenticate and associate with each other
- Create dynamic encryption keys through a process known as the four-way handshake, which has become a major component for wireless secure communications

RSNAs utilize a dynamic encryption-key management method that involves the creation of five separate keys. Part of the RSNA process involves the creation of two master keys known as the group master key (GMK) and the pairwise master key (PMK).

The PMK is created as a result of 802.1X/EAP authentication, but can also be created from PSK authentication.

DO NOT REPRINT C) FOR HNE I Four-Way Handshake Master keys are seeds to create final Master keys: PMK and GMK dynamic keys Temporal keys: PTK and GTK Supplicant Authenticator Final keys are: Ррмк Сомк ТРМК PTK—Used to encrypt/decrypt unicast traffic a) PMK is known b) Generate SNonce a) PMK is known b) Generate ANonce GTK—Used to encrypt/decrypt broadcast and Message 1: EAPoL-Key (ANonce, Unicast multicast traffic Final keys are created during a four-way Derive PTK EAP frame exchange Message 2: EAPoL-Key (SNonce, Unicast, MIC) Also known as four-way handshake Derive PTK if needed Always the last four frames exchanged during Generate GTK either 802.1 X/EAP or PSK authentication Message 3: EAPoL-Key (Install PTK, unicast, MIC Encrypted GTK Each time a client roams from one AP to another, a new four-way handshake occurs Message 4: EAPoL-Key (Unicast, MIC) 11 Install Install PTK PTK and GTK IEEE 802.11X Controlled Port Unlocked FURTINET © Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 22 Training Institute

This slide shows the four-way handshake.

Since it occurs at the OSI layer 2 link establishment, the handshake is a frame exchange between the supplicant and the authenticator. It uses EAP key frames to generate temporary encryption keys. Those temporary keys are used to encrypt and decrypt the MAC service data unit payload of 802.11 Ethernet data frames.

These master keys are seeds used to create the final dynamic keys, which are used for encryption and decryption.

The final encryption keys are known as the PTK and the GTK.

- The PTK is used to encrypt and decrypt unicast traffic. It has no time out.
- The GTK is used to encrypt and decrypt broadcast and multicast traffic. It changes regularly and is delivered and installed on the client.

Whenever TKIP/RC4 or CCMP/AES dynamic keys are created—including when a client roams from one AP to another—the four-way handshake occurs again.

DO NOT REPRINT © F<mark>ORTINET</mark>

WPA3

- Addresses KRACK vulnerability
- · Simultaneous authentication of equals (SAE)
 - Based on Dragonfly Key Exchange RFC 7664
 - More resilient password-based authentication for users choosing passwords that fall short of typical complexity recommendations
 - SAE strengthens the security that mitigates dictionary attacks by introducing a secure handshake

F RTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 23

This security mode addresses the KRACK vulnerability that affected the previous version of WAP. WPA3 features SAE, which provides more resilient password-based authentication for passwords that fall short of the typical complexity recommendation. SAE strengthens the security of the wireless network against dictionary attacks because it features a secure handshake method. Unlike WPA2, WPA3 no longer uses the passphrase itself for the PMK derivation.

How Is WPA3 Different?

Features	WPA2	WPA3
Released	2004	2018
Encryption	Advanced Encryption Standard (AES) With CCMP standard	AES-GCM encryption & Elliptical Curve Cryptography of CNSA Suite B.
Session Key Size	128-bit	192-bit
Handshake Protocol	Pre-Shared Key (PSK) exchange protocol	Uses Simultaneous Authentication of Equals (SAE), also known as Dragonfly Key Exchange, with Forwards Secrecy feature
Security Modes	WPA2 Personal: Pre-Shared Key (PSK) WPA2 Enterprise: IEEE 802.1X (RADIUS)	WPA3 Personal: 128-bit SAE WPA3 Enterprise: 192-bit SAE
Data Integrity	CBC-MAC having 64-bit Message Integrity Code (MIC)	Secure Hash Algorthm-2 for each input
Protected Management Frames	Mandatory since 2018 BIP-CMAC-AES-128	Mandatory BIG-CMAC-256
Vulnerable to Krack	Yes	No, due to SAE exchange
Vulnerable to offline Dictionary attacks	Yes	Blocks authentication after a certain number of failed login-in attempts
F ##RTINET Training Institute		© Fortinet Inc. All Rig

The table on this slide shows the differences between WPA2 and WPA3 security modes.



This slide shows the WPA3 SAE handshake.

- 1. The client sends a regular probe request to the AP to connect to the SSID.
- 2. The AP sends a probe response to the client's request.
- 3. The client sends an authentication commit 802.11 frame to the AP, which contains a randomly generated scalar and element. These randomly generated values are not related to the SAE password. The authentication sequence for this frame is 1. These values are used to generate the PMK on the client based on elliptic curve cryptography (ECC). The client and AP both need each other's scalar and element values to generate PMK.
- 4. The AP sends an authentication commit 802.11 frame with its own scalar and element value to the client. These values are used to generate the PMK on the AP. The authentication commit is represented with authentication sequence number 1.
- 5. The client sends an authentication confirmation value with a generated key based on the calculated PMK to the AP.
- 6. The AP sends back an authentication confirmation message, letting the client know if the authentication is successful.
- 7. If the authentication is successful, the client sends an association request to the AP.
- 8. The AP acknowledges the request and assigns an association ID to the client.
- 9. A four-way handshake takes place between AP and client using the PMK generated.

Knowledge Check

1. Which type of password encryption is used in WPA3 personal?

A. Pre-shared key

🖌 B. SAE

F**BRTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 26



Lesson Progress



Good job! You now understand wireless encryption standards. Now, you will learn about SSID security.





After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objective shown on this slide.

By demonstrating competence in understanding SSID security, you will be able to use it effectively in your network.

Security Modes

FortiGate wireless controller supports:

- WPA and WPA2
 - Pre-shared keys (WPA2 Personal)
 TKIP
 - 802.1X (WPA2 Enterprise)
 TKIP/AES
 - WPA/WPA2 personal + captive portal
- Wi-Fi protected access 3 (WPA3)
- Captive portal
- Open
- OWE
- OSEN

FURTIDET

Training Institute

List of supported formats

Captive portal. WPA/WPA2 personal. WPA/WPA2 personal with captive portal. WPA/WPA2 enterprise. WPA2 personal with captive portal. WPA2 enterprise. WPA3 enterprise with 192-bit encryption and PMF mandatory WPA3 enterprise with PMF mandatory. WPA3 enterprise with PMF optional. WPA3 SAE. WPA3 SAE transition. Opportunistic wireless encryption. OSEN.

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 29

Security modes are settings for client authentication and traffic encryption between the wireless client and the AP. Remember, wireless is a shared medium; so, there are even more vectors of attack than for wired connections.

The FortiGate wireless controller supports two user authentication methods:

- Username and password (WPA2 Enterprise, WPA3, or captive portal)
- Pre-shared keys (WPA2 Personal) or SAE in WPA3

Alternatively, if you need to provide guest access without authentication, you can use captive portal as the security mode and disclaimer only as the portal type.

WPA2 Personal

- All users and devices share the same static passphrase
- If a user leaves or a device is lost, for security reasons, the shared key must be changed, and every AP and client device will need to be reconfigured
- Key length and complexity of the passphrase is extremely important from a security point of view

User1	WiFi & Switch Controller > SSIDs
User2 SSID: Corp-WiFi Shared Key: passphrase SSID: Corp-WiFi Shared Key: passphrase User3	WiFI Settings SSID Corp-WIFI Client limit Image: Corp-WIFI Broadcast SSID Image: Corp-WIFI Beacon advertising Name Beacon advertising Name Security Mode Settings Security mode Security mode WPA2 Personal
SSID: Corp-WiFi Shared Key: passphrase	Pre shared Key Made Single Multiple Passphrase Image: Comparison of the state of the s
F CRINET. Training Institute	© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 30

WPA2 security with a pre-shared key for authentication is called WPA2 Personal. This mode can work well for one person or a small group of trusted people. But, as the number of users increases, it is difficult to distribute new keys securely and there is increased risk that the key could fall into the wrong hands.

MPSK Profile WiFi & Switch Controller > SSIDs One MPSK profile per SSID SSID Client limit 🚯 🕥 Multiple MPSK groups can be linked to a Broadcast SSID Beacon advertising 🔲 Nam Model MPSK profile Security Mode Setting Security mode Each MPSK group contains keys for a Pre-shared Key Mode 🚯 single device or group of devices MPSK profile RADIUS MAG VLANs can be assigned based on MPSK Corp Name group Maximum concurrent client count 0 MPSK group list Enabling MPSK will discard the single + Add -🖋 Edit 🛛 🗊 Delete 🛛 🗈 Export Groups pre-shared key Create Group Import Groups New MPSK Key New MPSK Group Name Engineering Name user1 VLAN type No VLAN Fixed VLAN Comment MPSK key list Pre-shared key 🕕 0 + Add - 🖉 Edit 🔟 Delete 🗈 Export Keys 🖸 🔾 Search Q 00:00:00:00:00:00 MAC address Create Key ddress ≑ Client Limit Type ≑ Schedule \$ Comments \$ Generate Keys Default Unlimited Specify Client limit type 🕕 Import Keys MPSK schedule No result: FURTINET © Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 31 Training Institute

A Fortinet Wi-Fi option when creating a WPA2 Personal network is to use multiple pre-shared keys (MPSK). In this case, not every device uses the same pre-shared key, sharing the keys among groups of devices or even a unique entry for each device. You can batch generate or import MPSK keys, export MPSK keys to a CSV file, dynamically assign VLANs based on used MPSK, and apply an MPSK schedule on the GUI. On the GUI, MPSK key entries are organized in different MPSK groups. An MPSK group can be created manually or imported. The same SSID can have multiple MPSK groups, with each group assigned a specific VLAN. When MPSK is enabled, the previous single passphrase is dropped.

	. —				
WPA3 S	AE				
	WiFi & Switch Con	troller > SSIDs			
	Edit Interface				
	Name 🐡 mpsk (SSI	002)			
	Alias b				
	VICID (1 0	18			
	Inalliamode 👩 🖉 Bridge				
	Dedicated Management Port				
	WiFi Settings				
	SSID mpsk				
	Client limit 🔿				
	Broadcast SSID				
	Bracon advertising Name	[] Model	SAE pas	sword and key	
	Security Mode Settings		deperated h	v third-party tools	
	Security mode	WPA3 SAE	generated b	y and party tools	
	SAE password	u3q7 zolr gpag sha3 w7se rhhi	J OV 🕅		
	SAE-FK authentication	0			
	SAE PK orlvate key	cf066100s3a7d40699c124977 QEEIC2KpCtw/L89M01166vkG 7/MU/wjfQNRs/gg7/ACm3wAr6 HoUQDQgAENbSmaggimt izTn EOLpQGU0TUMHptmBdDat2 7X57swTtKk71w7FBWv+stlee	151aac5:MHoCA YWO CCG(SMMI9Aw+ 17YnaF0h8Qavh RR15wSsW00mo		

Like WPA2 personal security, you are required to enter a WPA3 SAE password, while configuring an SSID with security mode WPA3. You can also enable simultaneous authentication of equals public key (SAE-PK authentication). When SAE-PK is enabled, you are required to set an SA-PK private key. You can use third-party tools to generate the private key for encryption. You can enter the PK key and SAE password in the SSID settings. On the client side only, you should enter the SASE password for connectivity. You can also enable **Hash-to-Element (H2E) only**, which provides the cryptographic hash function to ensure a secure key exchange process to establish the Wi-Fi connection.

C

DO NOT REPRINT		
© F ORTINET		
WPA3 SAE Tra	Insition	
	WiFi & Switch Controller > SSIDs	
	Cd't Interface	
	Nume Import Import <td></td>	
	Dedicated Management Port	
	WiFiSething: WPA3 with SAE password SGD musk Climitini 0 0 Uroadcast SSID C Bescon adverdaling I Name Model Sertainumber	
	Security Mode Settings Security mode WPAS SAE Transition SAE password SAE password SAE A password WPAS SAE Transition	
	Pre-shared Key Mode @ Single Multiple Excelose @ Single Multiple Excelose @ Single Multiple Support WPA3	
		© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved.

WPA3 SAE transition security mode is configured when there are devices in the network that are not capable of supporting the latest WPA3 SAE security, it will connect to WPA2 personal instead.

34

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET



WPA2 Enterprise, WPA3 Enterprise Only, and WPA3 Enterprise are RADIUS-based security modes. These are the standards any enterprise class network should be using. If you have a database of users with a RADIUS front end, this is what to use. Encryption and authentication are strongest in an enterprise network. When **WPA3 Enterprise Only** or **WPA3 Enterprise** is configured as the security mode, protected management frames (PMF) are enabled automatically. PMFs are designed to prevent attacks such as disconnect, honeypot, and so on. FortiGate supports two types of RADIUS deployment: local RADIUS server and remote RADIUS server.
802.1X Local Authentication · Local EAP, FortiGate acts as: Authenticator · Authentication server Only valid for PEAP Create local user(s), then create a user group to apply on an SSID • WiFi & Switch Controller > SSIDs Select local authentication and select one or more local user groups WIFI Settings SSID Student19 Security mode WPA3 Enterprise Client limit By default, factory default certificates are Local RADIUS Serve Authentication used; however, you can change them to a × 🛄 Guests 🤛 user-uploaded certificate Broadcast 55ID o System > WiFi Settings × To always Schedule () WiFi Settings Block Intra SSID traffic × Broadcast suppression • ARPs for known clients DHCP unicast ×× WiFi certificate Fortinet_Wifi • DHCPuplink WiFi CA certificate Fortinet_Wifi_CA • Filter dients by MAC Address RADIUS server WiFi country/region United States • Quarantine hosi O VI AN pooling a FURTINET © Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 35 Training Institute

In 802.1X local authentication mode, FortiGate plays two roles: the authenticator and the authentication server. This mode is supported only in PEAP implementation and requires a local user database. You must apply user accounts to one or more user groups that can then be used within the SSID configuration for authentication.

Remote RADIUS Authentication

- FortiGate forwards the authentication to a remote RADIUS server
 - · FortiGate is an authenticator but not an authentication server
 - You must preconfigure a RADIUS server on FortiGate
 - · Apply RADIUS server on SSID for authentication



Another 802.1X use case is to configure and use a remote RADIUS server on FortiGate. In this implementation, FortiGate acts as an authenticator only and forwards all authentication requests to the defined RADIUS server. Remote RADIUS server configuration is required for this mode. After you have a working RADIUS server configuration, you can apply the RADIUS server on an SSID for authentication.

Wireless Single Sign-On (WSSO)

- WSSO is a type of single sign-on method:
 - Allows FortiGate to map remote wireless users to local groups
 - Allows FortiGate to enforce different levels of network access with the use of firewall policies and security profiles based on the user group that a specific user belongs to
 - · You must define user groups locally on FortiGate
- RADIUS server must authenticate wireless user and send a group name as a RADIUS attribute back to FortiGate
 - Vendor Specific Attribute (VSA): FORTINET-GROUP-NAME
 - Fortinet vendor id: 12356
- · Group name value is case sensitive
 - · Both RADIUS server and FortiGate local groups must use same name

F**BRTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 37

FortiGate uses WSSO to dynamically map remote RADIUS users to locally defined user groups. This allows FortiGate to use local user groups to apply different levels of network access, and enforce security profiles to the wireless users based on the user group they belong to. You must define user groups with the same name as that sent by the RADIUS server locally on FortiGate. A RADIUS server must authenticate the wireless user and send a group name as a RADIUS attribute back to FortiGate. The server must use the Fortinet-Group-Name attribute when it sends the group name is sent back to FortiGate.

Note that the group name is case sensitive and must match the attribute that by the RADIUS server sends back.

WSSO Configuration

- Local user groups on FortiGate contain only the name that is sent by the RADIUS server
- · You must configure an SSID for RADIUS server

•			Attribute	Value	Vendor	Actions
SSID Bridg	god19		Ender A Course Marrie	at dealer	Francis	
Securitymode W13	A2 Enterprise 👻		Forbnet-Group-Name	students	Fortinet	* ×
Local standalone 🚯 🛛 🗇			Add Attribute			
Cilent limit O						
Authentication Local	ADIUS Server	User & Authenticat	tion > User Group			
Demonster VII. Obligatelementer CTD	an RADIUS +					
Broadcast SSID		EuroserGroup	F	RADIUS server	must send	
ichedule 0 a	lways X	Name students		the same grou	ip name	
	+	Type Firewall		J		
Block intra-SSID traffic 🛛 🕥		Members +				
Optional VLAN ID 0						
iecurity profile group		Remote Groups				
Broadcast suppression C ARP	s for known clients X	+ Add / Edit 🛱 Delete				
DHC	Puplink X	Find Ficare E Balace				
	+	Remote Server 🗢 🛛 🖉	Group Name 🗢			
		No results				

To use the WSSO method, you must first create one or more local user groups on FortiGate. Configure the RADIUS server to send back the Fortinet-Group-Name attribute after successfully authenticating a user. Make sure that the local user group name and RADIUS attribute sent by the RADIUS server match.

Captive Portal Types

- Three types of captive portal:
 - Authentication: Users are prompted to supply login credentials
 - Disclaimer + Authentication: Users must accept a disclaimer and authenticate using valid credentials
 - Disclaimer Only: Users only need to accept disclaimer page-local only

Captive portaintype Supported traffic mode Authentication Tunnel Disclaimer + authentication Tunnel Disclaimer Only Tunnel	Captive portartype Supported traffic mode Authentication Tunnel Disclaimer + authentication Tunnel Disclaimer Only Tunnel		Contine nortel time	Cumported traffic mode
Authentication Tunnel Bridge Disclaimer + authentication Tunnel Disclaimer Only Tunnel	AuthenticationTunnel BridgeDisclaimer + authenticationTunnelDisclaimer OnlyTunnel		Captive portal type	Supported traffic mode
Disclaimer + authentication Tunnel Disclaimer Only Tunnel	Disclaimer + authenticationTunnelDisclaimer OnlyTunnel		Authentication	Tunnel Bridge
Disclaimer Only Tunnel	Disclaimer Only Tunnel		Disclaimer + authentication	Tunnel
			Disclaimer Only	Tunnel
		F BRTINET Training Institute		© Fortin

There are three types of captive portals that you can enable on an interface: authentication, disclaimer with authentication, and disclaimer only.

- Authentication: Requests that users authenticate before they are allowed access to the network.
- **Disclaimer with Authentication:** Presents users with a disclaimer page and an authentication page. The user must accept a disclaimer and authenticate successfully in order to get network access.
- **Disclaimer Only:** Presents users with a disclaimer page. In this case, users do not have to authenticate using a username and password. They will be allowed to access the network after they accept a disclaimer page.

FURTINET

Training Institute

Captive Portal Types (Contd)

- Authentication portal types:
 - Local: FortiGate presents the user with a login page and processes authentication requests
 - **External**: FortiGate redirect the users to an external URL. The external captive portal server is responsible for presenting the user with a login page and validating the authentication.



After you select **Authentication** for the **Portal Type** field, you can select **Local** or **External** for the **Authentication Portal**. Setting **Authentication Portal** to **Local** uses the FortiGate built-in portal page. All the portal configurations, including the web page that is presented to users as a landing page, are hosted on FortiGate.

For external captive portals, you can select **External** for the **Authentication Type** and enter the FQDN or IP of the external captive portal server. In this case, FortiGate redirects the users to the specified server address. After the user meets the requirements of the external captive portal server, FortiGate allows user access based on the firewall policy configurations.

Knowledge Check

1. Which form of WPA2 security is more secure?

A. WPA2-Personal

✓ B. WPA2-Enterprise

- 2. What is the default encryption used by WPA3 Enterprise?
 - A. AES
- ✓ B. Elliptical Curve

F**BRTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 41

Lesson Progress



Congratulations! You have completed this lesson.

Now, you will review the objectives that you covered in this lesson.

Review

- Understand types of SSID
- ✓ Understand the specifications of each type of SSID
- ✓ Understand 802.1X and EAP
- ✓ Understand WPA2 flow
- ✓ Understand WPA3 handshake
- ✓ Understand SSID security

F RTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 43

This slide shows the objectives that you covered in this lesson.

By mastering the objectives covered in this lesson, you learned how to apply wireless security using the FortiOS wireless controller.



In this lesson, you will learn about wireless network access settings and options using the FortiOS integrated wireless controller.



In this lesson, you will learn about the topics shown on this slide.



After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objective shown on this slide.

By demonstrating competence in understanding the additional SSID settings, you will be able to improve the wireless network options.

SSID Options

- Set maximum number of clients that can connect to an SSID
- · Disable broadcast of SSID; set to broadcast by default
- Vendor-specific element over beacon frames containing information about the FortiAP name, model and serial number

Settings	No. Time Source Destination Protocol Length Info 7 0.114544634 Fortinet_77:77:e1 Broadcast 802.11 410 Beacon frame, SN=3763, FN=0, Flags=
FGTWork It limit C 5 Idcast SSID C ton advertising V Name V Model V Serial number	> Frame 7: 410 bytes on wire (3280 bits), 410 bytes captured (3280 bits) on interface wipss0, id 0 > Radictap Header V0, Length 56 > 80.11 radio information > EEEE 802.11 Writeless Management > Fixed parameters (12 bytes) Y Taeged consecutors (11 bytes) Y Taeged consecutors (12 bytes) Y Tage Vendor Specific (12 bytes) Tag Number: Vendor Specific (221) Tag Number: Vendor Specific (221) Tag Number: Vendor Specific (17 byte: 10 Vendor Specific (17 byte: 10 Subtype: SYSTEM (10) Type: AP NAME (1) Length: 12 AP Name: FortIAP-221E Type: AP NAME (1) Length: 6 AP Nodel: F9221E Type: AP SERIAl (3)

To have more control over your wireless environment, you can set a maximum number of clients that can connect to a given SSID. You can also choose to stop broadcasting the SSID so that only users who know the name of the SSID can connect to the SSID. Disabling the broadcast of the SSID increases security and can reduce management traffic.

Advertising the vendor-specific element over beacon frames containing information about the FortiAP name, model, and serial number allows wireless administrator performing site surveys to easily determine the coverage area of a FortiAP. The administrator can slowly move away from a FortiAP while continuously sniffing the beacons to determine if they can still hear from the FortiAP. Another use case is to ensure that the FortiAP can be correctly identified during post-implementation wireless site surveys. This makes troubleshooting and design improvements much easier.

SSID Groups

- Optionally, you can define SSID groups
- SSIDs are members of SSID groups
- You can specify an SSID group the same way you specify an SSID in a FortiAP profile

WiFi & Switt	ch Controller > SSIDs	> Create New				
Comments	Write a comment	4 0/255				
Members	fortinet (SSID01) fortinet 1 (SSID02) +	×				
g Institute					© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved.	

You can use SSID groups to simplify the management of multiple SSIDs. You can specify an SSID group the same way that you specify an SSID in a FortiAP profile.

Dia alchatra COID Traffia	
BIOCK INTRA-SSID TRAILIC	
In tunneled mode SSID, all traffic between wireless clients	is blocked
the second secon	WiFi & Switch Controller > SSIDs
	WIFISettings
	SSID Gliest Network
	Broadcast SSID
	Beacon advertising Name Model
	Security Mode Settings
 In bridge mode, traffic block works only per AP 	Security mode WPA2 Personal
	Pre-shared Key
	Mode ① Single Multiple
	Passphrase 🚯 🔹 🐵
	Client MAC Address Filtering
	RADIUS server 🔘
	Address group policy Disable Allow Deny
	Additional Settings
	Schedule U Galalways x
	t Direk inter SSID to for #0
	Optional VI AN ID

The **Block intra-SSID traffic** option yields different results based on the SSID mode it is enabled on. In tunneled mode, all traffic between the SSIDs is blocked. Clients can access resources based on firewall policies but are unable to communicate with other clients that are connected to the same SSID.

In bridge mode, when the **Block intra-SSID traffic** option is enabled, traffic to and from wireless clients connected to the same SSID *and* access point (AP) is blocked. However, wireless clients connected to the same SSID, but on a different AP, are still able to communicate with each other. To prevent this communication, you must have private VLAN enabled, if APs are connected to a FortiSwitch device.

DO NOT REPRINT

Knowledge Check

- 1. Which attributes in a vendor-specific element over beacon frames are advertised when enabled on an SSID?
- 🖌 🛛 A. FortiAP name
 - B. FortiGate serial number

F**BRTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 7

Lesson Progress

Additional SSID Settings

VLAN Assignment

Integrated Wireless NAC

Wireless Client Quarantine

F CRTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 8

Good job! You now understand the additional SSID settings.

Now, you will learn how to dynamically configure VLAN assignments.



After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objectives shown on this slide.

By demonstrating competence in understanding VLANs in a wireless deployment, you will be able to use them effectively in your network.

VLAN With SSIDs

- Too many SSIDs can cause unwanted interference:
 - Wireless is a shared medium
 - More SSIDs mean more used airtime
 - Increases the number of management frames

• VLANs on an SSID:

- VLANs can increase the capabilities of a single Wi-Fi network
- Better wireless performance because of less interference
- VLANs use ID tags to logically separate a LAN into smaller broadcast domains
- · Provide added network security
- More control over wireless traffic
- Available in both tunnel and bridge mode

F CRTINET.

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 10

Wireless is a shared medium. Having more SSIDs means all management traffic and client data are competing for the available airtime, leading to potentially to low airtime for each client, especially with an increasing number of Wi-Fi clients.

Using VLANs can enhance the capabilities of a Wi-Fi network because you can include more broadcast domains and you can control the flow of inter-VLAN traffic, which provides additional network security.

VLANs use ID tags to logically separate a LAN into smaller broadcast domains. Each VLAN is its own broadcast domain. Smaller broadcast domains reduce traffic and increase network security. The IEEE 802.1Q standard defines VLANs. All layer 2 and layer 3 devices along a route must be 802.1Q-compliant to support VLANs along that route.

Using VLANs with SSID can help you break down large broadcast domains into more manageable subnets. By reducing the need to deploy additional SSIDs, VLANs in a wireless network can help you increase wireless performance.

VLANs With Tunnel Mode

· VLANs are tied to tunneled SSID interface

- SSID interface becomes a VLAN trunk
- · VLANs must be configured with IP address, administrative access, and so on
- Requires separate firewall policies

N Edit Na	etwo Unterface ame 4	rk > Interfaces	SSID in creati	terface is us ng VLAN inte	sed when terfaces						
ly	pe	& VLAN		E 🕈 Wil	1550 📀	¥1					
Int	terface 1	Student19 (Tunneled19)			Studen(19 (tunneled)19)	♥ Will ESSID	10.0.1254/255.255.255.0	PING	10.0.3.1-10.0.3.953	в	
VI	ANID	101		- 0	55ID-VLAN101	d VI AN	10.0.101.1/255.255.255.0			0	
Ad Ad IP/ Cri Sei Ad	ldress Idressing Netmask cate addr condary I Iministrat	mode ess object matching subnot (P address C live access	Manual DHCP Auto-ma 10.0.101.1/255.255.255.0	naged by FortHPAM	VLAN interfa configured wit subnet ar	ces must be h separate IP d DHCP					
BTI	nei	HTTPS SSH RADIUS Accounting	PING SNMP Security Fabric Connection 😌	FMG-Access							
ning In:	stitut	e						© Fortine	t Inc. All Rights Re	served.	11

VLANs are treated as separate virtual interfaces that are tied to a physical or tunneled SSID interface. Therefore, you must configure all VLAN interfaces with interface settings, such as an IP address, administrative access, and so on. FortiGate also must have a DHCP server or relay configured, to ensure that all clients connecting to the SSID receive correct IP information.

Since VLANs are considered separate interfaces, you must configure firewall policies according to the level of network access you want to provide to the wireless clients.

Local Bridge With VLANs

- FortiAP devices can forward tagged traffic to the bridged network
- · Firewall policies on FortiGate are required only to route traffic between interfaces

Name FortiWiFi Alias	Name FortiWiFi Alias	Create New SSID	
Alias Type * WiFi SSID Traffic mode • • • Tunnel • Bridge • Mesh config wireless-controller vap edit "SSID-bridge" set vdom "root" set ssid "SSIDBridge" set security wpa3-enterprise set auth radius set encrypt AES set radius-server "FortiAuth" set local-bridging enable	Alias Type * WiFi SSID Traffic mode * MiFi SSID config wireless-controller vap edit "SSID-bridge" set vdom "root" set ssid "SSIDBridge" set security wpa3-enterprise set auth radius set encrypt AES set radius-server "FortiAuth" set local-bridging enable	Name	FortiWiFi
Type Type WiFi SSID Traffic mode Image: Traffic mode Tunnel Pridge Mesh config wireless-controller vap edit "SSID-bridge" set vdom "root" set ssid "SSIDBridge" set security wpa3-enterprise set auth radius set encrypt AES set radius-server "FortiAuth" set local-bridging enable set security	Type Type WiFi SSID Traffic mode I Image: Traffic mode I config wireless-controller vap edit "SSID-bridge" set vdom "root" set ssid "SSIDBridge" set security wpa3-enterprise set auth radius set encrypt AES set radius-server "FortiAuth" set local-bridging enable	Alias	
Trafficmode () [] Tunnel Pridge (Mesh config wireless-controller vap edit "SSID-bridge" set vdom "root" set ssid "SSIDBridge" set security wpa3-enterprise set auth radius set encrypt AES set radius-server "FortiAuth" set local-bridging enable	Trafficmode () (M) Tunnel A Bridge (Mesh) config wireless-controller vap edit "SSID-bridge" set vdom "root" set ssid "SSIDBridge" set security wpa3-enterprise set auth radius set encrypt AES set radius-server "FortiAuth" set local-bridging enable	Туре	♥WiFi SSID
config wireless-controller vap edit "SSID-bridge" set vdom "root" set ssid "SSIDBridge" set security wpa3-enterprise set auth radius set encrypt AES set radius-server "FortiAuth" set local-bridging enable	config wireless-controller vap edit "SSID-bridge" set vdom "root" set ssid "SSIDBridge" set security wpa3-enterprise set auth radius set encrypt AES set radius-server "FortiAuth" set local-bridging enable	Traffic mode 🚯	(••) Tunnel 😤 Bridge 🕸 Mesh
			set vdom "root" set ssid "SSIDBridge" set security wpa3-enterprise set auth radius set encrypt AES

This slide shows the traffic flow from an AP with an SSID configured in local bridge mode. FortiAP tags the traffic coming from wireless clients with correct VLAN ID. FortiAP then places the traffic on the bridged network. Note that local traffic is switched at the FortiSwitch device, but Control and Provisioning of Wireless Access Points (CAPWAP) protocol control traffic still goes to the wireless controller.



The diagram on this slide shows an example of traffic flow for local bridging. Note that this case has been extended to support VLAN IDs on the wired interface, which are each tagged with different VLAN IDs in local bridge mode.

Here, the FortiAP Ethernet interface functions as an 802.1Q trunk. The wireless traffic is bridged locally, and tagged with its corresponding VLAN ID.

F BRTINET. Training Institute

Dynamic VLANs

- Only available using WPA2 Enterprise or WPA3 Enterprise
- The RADIUS server must provide VLAN information
 - RADIUS server must send the following attributes:
 - IETF 64 (tunnel type)—Set this to VLAN
 - IETF 65 (tunnel medium type)— Set this to IEEE 802
 - IETF 81 (tunnel private group ID)— Set this to the VLAN ID or a text string that matches a VLAN interface name
- Supported on tunneled and bridged SSID

WiFi Settings				
SSID		Student19		
Security mode		WPA3 Enterprise	•	
Client limit	•			
Authentication		Local RADIUS Server		
		🍰 Lab RADIUS	-	
Dynamic VI AN assignmer	nt 💽			
Broadcast SSID	O			
Schedule 🜖		G always	ж	
Block intra-SSID traffic				
Broadcast suppression	C	ARPs for known clients DHCP unicast	×	
		тонса-прилк	^	
Filter clients by MAC Add	ress			
RADIUS server	0			
Quarantine host				
VI AN pooling [

The option to add dynamic VLANs to SSID is available on FortiGate in both tunnel and bridge modes. You can apply dynamic VLANs to SSIDs that have the security mode set to **WPA2 Enterprise** or **WPA3 Enterprise** and the authentication method set to **RADIUS Server**. The RADIUS server is responsible for sending all the required attributes after a successful authentication. The RADIUS server must send the following attributes to FortiGate:

- IETF 64 set to VLAN: This attribute tells FortiGate that VLAN information is attached to the RADIUS response.
- IETF 65 set to IEEE 802: This attribute tells FortiGate that the IEEE 802 attribute is attached to the RADIUS response.
- IETF 81 set to VLAN ID or VLAN name: This attribute tells FortiGate to attach the user to the specified VLAN ID interface.

Dynamic VLAN Assignment RADIUS

- Must configure VLANs on FortiGate
- · Optionally, set a default VLAN ID to an SSID



You can also assign each user to a VLAN, based on information provided by the RADIUS authentication server. If the user's RADIUS record does not specify a VLAN ID, the user is assigned to the SSID's default VLAN.

FortiGate does not dynamically create VLANs. You must configure all the VLANs on FortiGate, along with the corresponding firewall polices.

FortiAuthenticator: Authentication > User Management > Local Users

~

user1

Default

VLAN

Tunnel-Typ:

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET

VLAN Assignment by Name Tag

- Ability to assign VLANs to wireless clients using name tags that match a VLAN ID
- The name value is returned in the Tunnel-Private-Group-Id RADIUS attribute in the Access-Accept Message



Username:

Vendor:

Value:

Attribute ID:

Disabled

RADIUS Attributes

Another option is to match based on a VLAN table defined under the virtual AP. You can assign either a single VLAN ID per name, or assign multiple VLAN IDs per name, up to a maximum of 8 VLAN IDs. When assigning multiple VLAN IDs, a round-robin method determines the ID to ensure optimal use of VLAN resources.

VLAN Pool

- You can configure a VLAN pool in an SSID
- A wireless client is assigned a VLAN from the pool
- VLAN assignment is based on:
 - The AP FortiAP group, usually for network configuration reasons
 - For example, AP in lobby always assigns clients to a guest VLAN
 - Available VLANs for network load balancing purposes (tunnel mode SSIDs only)
 - Used for load balancing wireless clients by using VLAN IDs

F CRTINET.

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 17

In an SSID, you can define a VLAN pool. As clients associate with an AP, they are assigned to a VLAN. A VLAN pool can assign a specific VLAN based on the AP FortiAP group, usually for network configuration reasons, or it can assign one of several available VLANs for network load balancing purposes (tunnel mode SSIDs only).

If the VLAN pool contains no valid VLAN ID, the SSID static VLAN ID setting is used.

C) FOR HNE I VLAN Pooling and Load Balancing • Two VLAN pooling methods are available for wireless client load balancing: Round Robin VLAN with least number of clients is assigned to new connections Hash FortiOS assigns a VLAN based on a hash of the current number of SSID clients and the number of entries in the VLAN pool WiFi & Switch Controller > SSIDs Managed AP Group Round Robin Hash VLAN pooling 0 Q + Create New A Edit n Delete Search ID ≜ Manage VLAN ID directly in SSID 101 configuration 102 VLAN pooling load balancing is available only for SSIDs in tunnel mode FURTINET © Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 18 Training Institute

Two options available in the VLAN pooling configuration provide load balancing options for wireless clients: **Round Robin** and **Hash**. After you enable **VLAN Pooling** on SSID, you can select **Managed AP Groups**, **Round Robin**, or **Hash**.

Similar to configuring managed AP groups, you can define VLANs directly on the SSID configuration page for both the **Round Robin** and **Hash** options. **Round Robin** assigns the least busy VLAN to new clients. **Hash** identifies which VLAN to use based on the hash value of the current number of clients connected to the SSID and the number of VLANs available in the pool.

VLAN pooling load balancing is available only for SSIDs operating in tunnel mode.

DO NOT REPRINT

DO NOT REPRINT

VLAN Pooling and FortiAP C	Groups
 Ability to assign wireless clients VLANs using Assign VLANs to clients based on AP FortiAP groups together facilitate application of FortiAP pro- Assign VLANs to wireless clients based on the Fortian Application of the fortian application a	g a pool up ofiles to large number of FortiAPs tiAP group
WiFi & Switch Controller > SSIDs Filter clients by MAC Address RADIUS server □ Quarantine host □ VLAN pooling ● Managed AP Group KLAN pooling ● Managed AP Group ID ÷ Managed AP Group ÷ 101 stopp1 102 group 2	<pre>config wireless- controller vap edit wlan set vlan-pooling wtp-group config vlan- pool edit 101 set wtp-group group1 next edit 102 set wtp-group group2 next</pre>
 Allows assignment of VLANs to AP groups w FortiGate automatically creates the VLANs withou access, DHCP server, and so on You must configure these settings manually for the 	vithin SSID configuration page at any interface settings such network, administrative e VLAN interface 9 Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 19

You can put FortiAPs in a group of two or more APs, to easily manage them. For example, you can group APs based on the floor or section of the office they are installed on. You must configure managed AP groups before you can use them in the VLAN pooling configuration.

You can then use FortiAP groups to dynamically assign VLANs to wireless clients based on the APs that they connect to. This feature is useful in large deployments and can break down the broadcast domain, rather than putting all wireless clients into a single subnet. Another reason to assign VLANs based on APs is to apply security inspections and firewall rules based on the location of wireless clients. This provides you with more granular control over wireless traffic.

You can define VLANs and assign them to AP groups on the SSID configuration page on the GUI. However, you still must manually configure interface settings such as network, administrative access, DHCP server configuration, and so on.

VLAN Pooling and Load Balancing

- · FortiOS automatically adds the load balancing VLANs to a zone
 - Based on the SSID
 - · Ensures all load balancing VLANs are configured with identical access
 - · Makes it easier for you to manage firewall policies

_	Sridged 19 (Bridge 19)	₩ WIFISSID		0.0.0/0.0.0.0			3
2	<pre>fottinel(VIAN_POOL)</pre>	WIFI SSID		0.0.0/0.0.0.0			3
• • • •	VIAN_POOL101	d VI AN		0.0.0/0.0.0.0			1
••	VLAN_POOL.102	& VLAN		0.0.0/0.0.0			1
3	Student 19 (Tunnel 119)	♥ WiFi SSID		10.0.3.254/255.255.255.0	PING	10.0.3.1-10.0.3.253	8
	Zone 1						
	UIN_POOL.zone	□ 7one	VLAN_POOL.101	0.0.0/0.0.00			0
	Configu	ire network a ns for each V	nd DHCP LAN ID				

You can define VLAN pooling and load balancing VLANs on the SSID configuration page. FortiGate automatically puts all load balancing VLANs in a zone based on the SSID they were defined in. VLANs are tied to the SSID interface. The zone name includes the SSID interface name followed by .zone. For example, if you name your SSID interface Fortinet, then the zone will be named Fortinet.zone.

You must configure each VLAN with its own interface option, such as subnet, DHCP, and so on.

Knowledge Check

1. Which methods of VLAN pooling are used for load balancing?

🖌 A. Round robin and hash

B. Dynamic VLANs

F**BRTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 21

Lesson Progress

Additional SSID Settings VLAN Assignment Integrated Wireless NAC Wireless Client Quarantine

F::RTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 22

Good job! You now understand how VLANS are used with SSIDs.

Now, you will learn how to configure wireless network access control.



After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objective shown on this slide.

By demonstrating competence in understanding the configuration of wireless network access control (NAC), you will be able to use it effectively in your network.

Integrated Wireless NAC

- An extension to NAC functions on FortiSwitch to wireless networks
 - Shares the same set of FortiSwitch NAC policies
 - Match based on devices, user groups, devices with specified FortiClient EMS tag, and vulnerability
- Clients get assigned to an onboarding VLAN, a subinterface of the SSID
 - SSID can be bridge or tunnel
 - Onboarding VLAN requires Layer 3 settings and DHCP server
- Each SSID can use a different NAC profile
 - NAC profile has the reference to the onboarding VLAN
 - A NAC policy is required to reassign from onboarding VLAN to the appropriate VLAN

FERTINET. Training Institute

nel	—
	SSID can be bridge or
	tunnel mode
ersonal 👻	
Multiple	
	,
always +	×
I	
0	0
A DUE To A Description of the State	×
Aites for known clients	
DECP unless DECP unless	Enable NAC on SSID and
Arristor Known clients DHCP unlesst DHCP uplink +	Enable NAC on SSID and select a NAC profile
D LICP unleast DLICP unleast DLICP uplink +	Enable NAC on SSID and select a NAC profile
	In Multiple

NAC helps you to implement policies to control devices and users in your network. You define wireless NAC policy based on patterns users and devices can be identified with, such as user groups and device hardware information.

You can enable wireless NAC can be enabled on bridge or tunnel mode SSIDs. It requires at least two VLANs to configure the onboarding segment as well as the appropriate VLAN for the wireless devices. You must configure these VLANs with Layer 3 settings, including DHCP and network device detection services.

Enable the NAC profile on the SSID where you specify the onboarding VLAN. Use the NAC policy to specify the matching condition and the wireless VLAN assignment.

Integrated Wireless NAC—SSID and VLAN

- If you configure an SSID with wireless NAC, you must create at least two VLANs
- Onboarding VLAN
 - To onboard wireless clients when connected for the first time
 - Requires DHCP Server and Device detection
 - NAC profile must select this onboarding VLAN when SSID set as NAC access mode
- Another VLAN to reassign for matched device
- VLAN ID scope is only within the SSID interface broadcast domain

FERTINET. Training Institute

Name WLAN Co Alfan Iype Si VLAN VLAN ensocial BXX.30		boarding VLA	N None Alss Type V PN protoes	WLAN IGT	Another assign us on NAC	VLAN t ers bas C policy
Interface Tunne VLANID 1047 VIANID 0 Role 0 LAN	1(Tunnc) 0 1		Interface VLANID VIATIC O Role O	 ♥ tunnet(tunnet) 1000 0 14N 		
Aukiness Aukinessing moder Pytweinesek Create address object match Secondary (Paddress	Minual DLCP 10:00:149:254/2 ingsubret CB	Anin monager in IPAM 53.255.2350	Address Addressing m IR/Netwood Create address Secondery ID 4	da : object matching subnet (1) : idrove (1)	Marcal CIRC Auto 10.10.148.254-255.255	nu need by IPAM 255.0
Atink Maxie Access IPv4 HTTPS SSH RADIUS Z	PINS SNMP Society Fab Converting	PMG Access FTM	Administrativa	Access	PING Source State Connection	LI FMC As II FIM II Speed To
DERCH Server DECH Server Address range 10/10/14	Disoled		CD D D P Pser		4:1+11 18:254	
Notmask 255255 Default gelowy Same as DAS order Same as Loase time 🖲 🗊 601500	12550 Interface IIP Specify Society DNS Some as Interface III account (st	P Sp.ciy	Di Sa II galera Di Sa II galera UNSterver Leaso time O	y Same as Interface IP Same as System DNS © 501900	Specify Same as Interface (P Sec Scannel)()	xify
Contract Network Device detection © (C)	1		N dawar Desiredet a li	n Ĥ 40		

If you enable wireless NAC on an SSID, you must make sure at least two VLANs are available to configure the remaining wireless NAC settings for this SSID.

You must select the onboarding VLAN when you create the NAC profile, which enables NAC on the SSID. The onboarding VLAN must have Layer 3 settings, including DHCP and network device detection services.

Devices that match a NAC policy are assigned the VLAN configured in the NAC policy for wireless controller section. The NAC policy can still be evaluated for FortiSwitch NAC operation if its VLAN assignment is for FortiSwitch.

F BRTINET. Training Institute

Integrated Wireless NAC—NAC Policies

- Define matching patterns
 - Triggers such as device, user, and EMS tag
- NAC policy patterns include scope of commands that identify where to apply policy
- Changes to existing matched NAC policies will require matched device to reevaluate
- FortiGate checks NAC policies from top to bottom until device matches defined patterns

Edit NAC Policy		
Name	IoT NAC Policy	
Status	😔 Enabled 🔮 Disabled	Each pattern can use wild card
I ortISwitches	All Specify	(*?) and AND logical operator
Description		0/61
Device Dallerne		
Catacon	Device Uner EX	M9 Tag
MAC address		we rag
Handware vonde	- 0	
Device broils	Ibid	
bowe turning		
Operating moto	- CB	
Operating syste	- CB	
17261		
Switch Controlle	er Action	
Assign VLAN	a	Assign wireless device Int VI AN
Rouges part	a a	ny of the matching patterns trigger
Antion device to		any of the matching patterns trigger
Assign device to	aynamic address 🤤 🕞	
Wireless Contro	lier Action	
Anim MAN #	O BE MAN	-
Absign VDAIN C		

NAC policies contain the device, user patterns, FortiClient EMS tag, and so on to check on a device, before the VLAN. Like firewall policies, FortiGate checks NAC policies from top to bottom until it finds a policy that matches *all* the defined patterns.

After FortiGate detects the device or user and it matches a NAC policy, FortiGate assigns the device the VLAN selected in the **Assign VLAN** field in the **Wireless Controller Action** section. Note that if the NAC policy changes, FortiGate deletes and re-evaluates all previously matched NAC devices using the list of NAC policies.

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET

Integrated Wireless NAC—VLAN Assignment

- A wireless device connects with a NAC access mode SSID
- When the device first connects, its initial VLAN is the onboarding VLAN specified on the NAC profile
- · Reconnecting devices connect to previously assigned VLAN if:
 - · Connected to the same SSID
 - Disconnection period doesn't exceed 10 minutes
 - No changes on matched NAC policy
- · Connected devices continue to receive VLAN re-evaluation assignment
 - · Every 120 seconds, if device remains matched to a NAC policy, and
 - NAC policy must still remain active
 - Device patterns must still match the device
 - The NAC profile of the SSID still points to the same onboard VLAN
 - · Otherwise, the device is re-assigned to the onboarding VLAN

F**CR**TINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 27

When a wireless device connects to a SSID that has a NAC profile enabled, the VLAN ID assigned depends on the previous status of the device. To avoid multiple DHCP servers assigning a new IP address, if the device was connected to the same SSID and was disconnected for less than 10 minutes, it is assigned the same VLAN it had prior to disconnecting, if no changes were made to the matched NAC policy.

Connected devices undergo a re-evaluation process every 120 seconds to determine the VLAN ID for each device. As long the NAC policy exists in the same VDOM, the NAC policy must remain active and device patterns must match the connected device. This is, of course, as long the SSID in question still has a NAC profile enabled and is pointing to the same onboard VLAN.
Integrated Wireless NAC—Monitor and Debug



You can see the list of matched devices on the FortiGate GUI and CLI. By navigating to **NAC Policies**, you can switch the view to display devices that matched NAC policies for both FortiSwitch and FortiAP.

Other CLI commands, such as $wlac_hlp -c sta-nac$, display the information about the device that matched the wireless NAC policies in particular. You can also use $wlac_hlp -c nacprof$ to display configured wireless NAC profiles, each with its onboarding VLAN reference.

Knowledge Check

1. How many VLANs are required to configure a wireless NAC policy?

A. One

🖌 B. Two

F**BRTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 29



Good job! You now understand how wireless NAC works.

Now, you will learn how to quarantine wireless clients automatically and manually.



After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objective shown on this slide.

By demonstrating competence in understanding how to quarantine wireless clients, you can protect your network from wireless clients that are compromised.

Automated Response—Quarantine

- The Security Fabric allows multiple devices to share and leverage information
- If a device fails an IOC check, the entire fabric can react automatically
- · How it works
 - A device is detected as compromised by one element of the Security Fabric
 - Switches and APs can automatically quarantine the device at the access layer
- · Why it's important
 - Compromised IoT devices are no longer a threat to the wider network
 - Guest devices (if infected) will be dealt with automatically

FERTINET. Training Institute



The Security Fabric allows you to detect and control compromised hosts, regardless of whether they are connected wirelessly or through a wired connection.

If a device fails an indicator of compromise (IOC) check, that device is considered as compromised and the entire Security Fabric can respond by placing the device in quarantine. Quarantining the device it prevents it from becoming a threat to the wider network.

Compromised Internet of Things (IoT) devices will be isolated. Any other types of devices, such as a guest device, will also be isolated when they become compromised, but these devices will have the option to remediate themselves, if required.



Known and unknown threat information is easily and efficiently shared among all elements and locations within the Security Fabric. User-defined automation on FortiGate can be used to quarantine compromised hosts; a process that can be strengthened by adding IOC services from FortiAnalyzer.

This slide shows the flow of events that occur when IOC and quarantine automation are combined to detect compromised workstations and place them in quarantine. The flow of events is as follows:

- 1. A workstation attempts to access content that is considered a security risk, such as a malicious website.
- 2. FortiGate blocks access to the site, based on the firewall policy defined with a web filter profile.
- 3. FortiGate sends a log record to FortiAnalyzer regarding the violation committed.
- 4. FortiAnalyzer processes the logs using information from the IOC services.
- 5. ForitAnalyzer determines a security risk verdict and sends that verdict back to FortiGate.
- 6. A user-defined automation quarantines the compromised workstation and places it in isolation.

Security Fabric Automation Stitch

Name 🌩	Shalus ‡	Trigger \$	Autiens \$	For lifest o(s) #	Trigger Court 🜩	Last Tiger of \$		
A Compromised Host 1								_
Compromised Host Quarantine	© Frabbel	& Compromised Hest	Access Layer Quarantine () FortiClient Quarantine	All FortiGates	Edit Automation Stitch			
H FortiOS Event Log 😗					Name	Compromised Host Qu	arantine	
I Innware upgrade notification	Fielded	🏲 Auto Eimmware upgrade	Email Notification	All IntiGates	Status	😔 Enable 🛛 😆 Disable	e	
For liAr alyzer Connection Down	C Lostled	🛍 FarliAndyza Counts lian Dawn	🖾 Finail Notification	EN All Fort (Galue)	Action execution 6	Sequential Parallel		
Network Down	😑 Disah ed	In Neboork Down	Engli Nothcation	All or JGates	Durativition		allowed a	
🕼 HATshwer 🕥					(/escription	host on FortiAPs.	iiseu	
UA adisae	🙂 Disabied	 HALsiever 	🖾 Lugal Natidestrus	in Aller dates		EnrliSwitches, and Forl	tiClient.	
🎄 henning Weblook 🚯						EMS.	<u> </u>	
Incoming Webhook Quorent me	Disabled	🖧 Incoming Weldscok Col	M Accessionyer Quorantine (3) FortiClient Quorantine	iiis Al For iGates	Stitch		ompromised k	ract by IOC
🖼 Lizana Espiry 🕄							vompromiseu i	lost by loc
License Expired Notification	C Lratied	El Upense Lxpriv	🛱 Findi Natification	EA Al FortiGal a	🔔 Trigger	r 🛛	from FortiA	nalvzer
C Related 😏					Compror	mised Host		
Kebool	Disabled	C Retool	Mill Email Notification	SALEOTEMICS				
sy second kaong summary 🕞						Action	ж	
accurry Kaning Nonneman	Gi I rahleri	Service and a second to realing recompanion	EN EMAILNOTINGETON	25 AL FOLIAGES		Access Lawy Occupation		
						and the second		
	Qu	arantine the MA	C address to	block		Action	×	
	t	raffic from comp	promised devi	ces		FortiClient Quarantine		
		•						
					$ \odot$	Add Action		

Compromised wireless hosts are treated in the same way as compromised wired hosts. FortiAnalyzer identifies them using threat detection services, and then sends the IOC verdict to the root FortiGate of the Security Fabric group.

If an automation stitch is configured for compromised hosts, then that can be also be implemented.

The IOC verdict assigned to a compromised host triggers the actions specified in the automation stitch. **Access Layer Quarantine** is a layer 2 action that places the host machine in isolation.

You can configure automation stitches at each FortiGate or apply a device configuration if a FortiManager manages FortiGate. You apply the setting on a per-device basis, it cannot be applied using a template.

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET

Integrated Wireless Quarantine

- · Wireless clients can be quarantined
 - Automatically using security automationManually
- · Only works with tunnel mode SSIDs
- Mandatory to be in a Security Fabric
- When quarantine is enabled on an SSID, the required resources are automatically created
 - Quarantine soft switch
 - Quarantine interface
 - Default captive portal
- No quarantine firewall policy by default
- Can filter on a FortiGate level only

FERTINET. Training Institute



The quarantine process for wireless clients is very similar to wired clients; however the configuration is slightly different.

Note that it is currently possible to apply a quarantine to tunnel mode SSIDs only. For correct endpoint analysis, the APs and FortiGate have to be in the Security Fabric together with FortiAnalyzer.

You can enable quarantine on the SSID. When quarantine is enabled, FortiGate automatically creates a soft switch and interface, together with a captive portal. You create all of these features on FortiGate. FortiSwitch is not required. By default, no policies allow quarantined devices access to the internet. Note that security automation can occur only at the FortiGate level, and not at the AP level.

After they are configured, wireless clients can be automatically quarantined using the same Security Fabric automation stitches as used for wired clients. Clients that are quarantined are placed in their own isolated VLAN and then presented with a captive portal informing them that they are now isolated. You can configure this captive portal in the same way as any other captive portal, to give users information on how to remediate their device.



Enabling a quarantine *automatically* creates a soft switch with a range of private IP addresses, together with a system DHCP server. It also creates a captive portal, and then creates a sub-interface under the quarantined wireless network. If you want wireless clients to have access to the internet to enable them to update themselves and/or install required software, you will need to configure a set of policies to allow limited access to the resources that are required. Typically, this requires DNS and specific HTTP/S access to resources that host the required remediation files.

Signal

72 dB

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET

Manual Client Quarantine

- Wireless clients can be manually guarantined on FortiGate, if required
 - Security Fabric
 - FortiView
- Quarantined hosts will be placed in the guarantined VLAN
- Quarantined hosts can be managed from:
- Dashboard > Users & Devices > Quarantine



Dashboard > WiFi > Clients By FortiAP

ℵ Disassociate

垴 Diagnostics and Tools Quarantine

Security Fabric > Physical Topology

• 11

SSID \$

12 00 Student 17 (Tunneled 17) 1

.((•))= FP231FTF23082217

Training Institute

You can manually guarantine wireless clients on the Security Fabric or on FortiView.

You can manage any hosts that are currently quarantined, or release hosts from quarantine using the Quarantine dashboard widget.

37

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET

Knowledge Check

1. Which device is used to receive indictor of compromised verdict?

A. FortiManager

🖌 B. FortiAnalyzer

F**BRTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 38



Congratulations! You have completed this lesson.

Now, you will review the objectives that you covered in this lesson.

Review

- Understand SSID settings and options
- Understand VLANs with SSIDs
- Understand dynamic VLANs
- ✓ Understand VLAN pooling
- Understand FortiOS integrated wireless NAC
- ✓ Understand how to quarantine wireless clients

F RTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 40

This slide shows the objectives that you covered in this lesson.

By mastering the objectives covered in this lesson, you learned how to apply wireless security using the FortiOS wireless controller.



In this lesson, you will learn about the wireless technology concepts that you must know to understand Wi-Fi, and wireless technologies in general.

You will also learn how to plan your network for the best wireless signal coverage.



Lesson Overview

Custom FortiAP Profiles and Radio Settings

Wireless Load Balancing

Wireless Intrusion Detection System

F RTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 2

In this lesson, you will learn about the topics shown on this slide.

DO NOT REPRINT © F<mark>ORTINET</mark>



After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objectives shown on this slide.

By demonstrating competence in configuring custom FortiAP profiles and radio settings, you will be able to provision FortiAP devices more effectively.

Access Points

- FortiAP devices are thin, wireless APs that are controlled by either a FortiGate or FortiLAN Cloud service
- · What is an AP profile?
 - Defines radio settings for FortiAP
 - Operating band (802.11g, 802.11ac, 802.11ax, and so on)
 - Channels and band settings
 - SSIDs to broadcast
 - Model-specific
 - Each FortiAP model has a different AP profile
 - Platform setting defines which AP model the profile supports
 - · Referred to as wireless termination points (WTP) profile in FortiOS CLI

F CRTINET.

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 4

FortiAP devices are thin APs that require a wireless controller, which can be a FortiGate device or the FortiLAN Cloud service, to deploy and manage a wireless network. FortiGate uses AP profiles to push all settings that are required to manage and deploy a wireless network using FortiAP.

A FortiAP profile defines configuration settings for an AP including operating band, channels, SSID networks, and so on. The FortiAP profile specifies for the FortiGate the type of hardware that a FortiAP device uses. This information is required for FortiGate when pushing configuration parameters to the managed AP. If the hardware of the AP does not support specific settings, FortiGate removes those settings for FortiAP. For example, if a FortiAP device contains two radios, FortiGate can use the first radio to provide 802.11ac and the second radio to provide rogue AP detection from the FortiAP profile.

Access Point Profile

- FortiGate assigns a default FortiAP profile to newly discovered APs
- · FortiAP profile is automatically assigned
 - Default profile is named based on the AP model, follow by '-default'
- FortiGate must authorize the FortiAP device before it pushes any configuration settings to the AP

۷	ViFi & Switch Cor	ntroller > Managed Fo	rtiAPs						
H	🕂 Create new 🔹 🥒 Edit	🔲 Delete 🛛 🛱 Authorization +	용 Register All	C Refresh				Managed 🚺	Π Vb -
C	Q Search								0
	Access Point 🗢	SSIDs	Channel	Clients \$	OS Version \$	LLDP	FortiAP Profile \$	Connecter	l Via 🕸
	🔗 Online 1								
	(+-) FP231FTF23032217	All Tunnel Mode SSIDs All Tunnel Mode SSIDs MA N/A	11 100 100 10	1	v7.4.0 bulld0540	lan1: 5224EPTF19005920 - port1	<u>FAP231F-default</u>	m port4	
						The model def FortiAP profile as	ault signed		
R ing							© Fortinet I	nc. All Rights R	eserved.

By default, when a FortiAP device is connected to a FortiGate interface on which the Security Fabric is enabled, FortiOS tries to discover the FortiAP device. Upon discovery of the FortiAP device, FortiGate automatically assigns it a default profile, based on the FortiAP hardware model.

You can also create and select a different profile, if needed. As discussed, the AP profile defines all the settings that are required to manage and deploy a wireless network.

FortiAP remains unauthorized on the **Managed FortiAPs** tab and no settings are pushed to FortiAP until FortiGate authorizes it. Once authorized, the status changes to a green icon, which means that a Control and Provisioning of Wireless Access Points (CAPWAP) tunnel is established between the controller and AP.

Authorized FortiAP Devices

• After an AP is authorized:

- Change status of FortiAP
- FortiAP firmware upgrade
- Assign custom profile

WiFi & Switch Controller > Managed FortiAPs

		1	1				
G Q Search							Q
Access Point \$	SSIDs	Channel	Clients \$	OS Version #	LIDP	FortiAP Profile \$	Connected Via 🕸
🖃 🥝 Online 📵							
(**)) P231F (F23032217 (**) All fu 22 All Tu	All Tunnel Mode SSIDs All Tunnel Mode SSIDs	11 100	1	v7.4.0 build0540	lan1:5224EPTF19005928 port1	FAP231F default	Print
	IN/A	LOU N/A					make the statement was the
					Default AP profile	e assigned	Lupgrade
Green icon sh	ows AP authorized wh	ile			Default AP profile	e assigned	· Authonization 소 Upgrade 이 Restart 영(Register
Green icon sh gray icon sho	ows AP authorized wh ws AP is not authorize	ile ed			Default AP profile Upgrade AP fir Custom AP p	e assigned	Authorization ▲ Upgrade D Restart El Register Assign Profile
Green icon sh gray icon sho	ows AP authorized wh ws AP is not authorize	ile ed			Default AP profile Upgrade AP fir Custom AP p	assigned	Adurofization Digrade DiRestart Hiregister Assign Profile Giagnostics and Tool Show In WIFI Mess
Green icon sh gray icon sho	ows AP authorized wh ws AP is not authorize	ile ed			Default AP profile Upgrade AP fir Custom AP p	a assigned	Autoritzation Autoritzation Autoritzation Autoritzation Autoritzation Assign Profile Ka Diagnostics and Tool Show In WIFI Mess IFD Blink
Green icon sh gray icon sho	ows AP authorized wh ws AP is not authorize	ad			Default AP profile Upgrade AP fir Custom AP p	e assigned	Autoritization Autoritization Upgrade

After an AP is authorized, you can perform various tasks using the FortiGate GUI. On the **Managed FortiAPs** page, you can:

- Change the status of an AP (authorized to deauthorized)
- Upgrade AP firmware
- Change assigned AP profile
- Restart FortiAP
- · Telnet to FortiAP CLI to execute commands directly on the AP

You might also see the message **A new Firmware version is available**. This indicates that you can upgrade the FortiAP version. You can right-click the FortiAP device in the list and select **Upgrade**. FortiOS will automatically find the appropriate firmware for the AP and upgrade it. This option requires you to register FortiAP on the Fortinet support site and have a valid support contract.

Preauthorizing FortiAP Devices



FortiGate allows you to preauthorize FortiAP devices that will be added to your network. You must add all FortiAPs manually, one by one, to FortiGate using the AP serial number. You can also select available preconfigured FortiAP profiles that are compatible with the model of the hardware. If you don't select a profile, the default FortiAP profile is assigned to the new device. After the preauthorized FortiAP devices come online and are discovered by FortiGate, FortiGate automatically authorizes them. FortiGate establishes a CAPWAP tunnel to the FortiAP devices and then pushes the configuration to them based on the assigned AP profile

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET

Provisioning FortiAP Devices There are two methods to configure settings for FortiAP from FortiGate FortiAP profile · Accessible from the GUI (FortiAP Profiles page) or CLI # config wireless-controller wtp-profile **AP** profile (wtp-profile) # edit <Profile name> AP1 AP2 AP3 Per-AP configuration You can override FortiAP profile configuration for a specific AP · Certain options are available only on CLI # config wireless-controller wtp (wtp) # edit <AP S/N> FURTINET © Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. Training Institute

FortiGate automatically assigns a default AP profile to an AP when it is discovered and manually authorized. After a CAPWAP tunnel is established between FortiGate and an AP, FortiGate uses the CAPWAP control channel to push all AP profile parameters to the AP. It is important to note that you can assign an AP profile to one or multiple APs, but you cannot assign multiple profiles to one AP. All APs that use the same AP profile receive the same set of configurations from FortiGate. The AP profile includes the operating mode of the device, transmit power, and radio settings, as well as the SSID configuration that is pushed to the AP.

For more flexibility and granularity, you can override the AP profile configuration on a per-AP basis. You must still assign an AP profile to an AP but you can modify the configuration per AP. You must apply the per-AP configuration on the CLI using the following syntax:

- # config wireless-controller wtp
- # edit <AP Serial Number>

FortiAP Profiles

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET

Custom FortiAP Profile

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	🖉 Edit 📑 Clone	ĝ Delete	$\Sigma_{\rm e}$ Edit in CLI	Search		۹			
Name \$	Platform(s) 🖨	Radic	Mode	Bar	nd	SSIDs	Comments \$	Ref. ‡	
FAP231F	FAP-231F	Access Access Access Dedica	Point Point sted Monitor	 81 2.4GHz 8 92 5GHz 803 93 N/A 	02.11ax/n/g 2.11ax/ac/n/a	 Image: A Bridged17 (Bridged17) Image: A Bridged17 (Tunneled17) Image: A Bridged17 (Bridged17) Image: A Bridged17 (Tunneled17) Image: A Bridged17 (Tunneled17) 		0	
		ſ	New FortiAP P	Profile					
			Name		FAP231G-E	Building-A		Chose AP	Platform Platform
correido the do			Comments		Write a con	ment	// 0/25	mode, and	Country, and enable
sett	tings to	late	Platform		FAP231G	•		or disabl	e Dedicated scan.
501			Platform mo	de	Single 5G	Dual 5G			
				~					
			Dedicated so	can 🕕				Wi-Fi 6E F	FortiAP Dual 5G allov
			Dedicated se Indoor / Out	can 🕕 tdoor 🚯	Default (Inc	loor) Override		Wi-Fi 6E F operati	FortiAP Dual 5G allov ng two 5 GHz radios
rits the passv	word as configu	red	Dedicated so Indoor / Out Country / Re	can 🛈 tdoor 🚯 egion 🚯	Default (Inc Use default	loor) Override (United States) Specify		Wi-Fi 6E F operatii	FortiAP Dual 5G allow ng two 5 GHz radios
erits the passv in WTP glo	word as configu obal setting	red	Dedicated so Indoor / Out Country / Re AP login pas	can 🛈 tdoor 🚯 egion 🚯 sword 🚯	Default (Ind Use default Set Leave	loor) Override (United States) Specify Unchanged		Wi-Fi 6E F operatii	FortiAP Dual 5G allow ng two 5 GHz radios
rits the passv in WTP glo	word as configu obal setting	red	Dedicated so Indoor / Out Country / Re AP logIn pas Administrati	can () tdoor () egion () sword () ive access	Default (Ind Use default Set Leave	loor) Override (United States) Specity Unchanged SSH	SNMP	Wi-Fi 6E F operatii	FortiAP Dual 5G allov ng two 5 GHz radios
rits the passv in WTP glo Allo	word as configu obal setting	red ss to	Dedicated so Indoor / Out Country / Re AP login pas Administrati Client load b	tdoor () egion () sword () ive access palancing	Default (Inc Use default Set Leave HTTPS Frequen Handoff	loor) Override (United States) Specity Unchanged SSH cy DAP Handoff	SNMP	Wi-Fi 6E F operatii You should	FortiAP Dual 5G allow ng two 5 GHz radios configure a password

FortiGate allows you to configure a custom AP profile that allows you to control all the settings that are pushed to an AP. You must select the correct platform settings because these are what tell FortiGate what type of hardware the AP uses. The Wi-Fi 6 and Wi-Fi6E FortiAP platforms allow a third radio dedicated to wireless threat scanning. You can enable **Dedicated scan** to allow the third radio to collect RF analysis and wireless threat management information. You can also use background scanning using the Wireless Intrusion Detection System (WIDS) profile on either radio 1 or 2. You will learn more about WIDS later in this lesson.

Wi-Fi 6E FortiAP devices can operate two 5 GHz radios simultaneously. You can choose to operate single or dual 5 GHz radios. If you configure the **Dual 5G** operation mode, FortiAP cannot have a dedicated radio for RF and wireless scanning.

The **Country / Region** field provides RF channels available in your area. By default, the country is set to United States. Every country has different radio regulations and, to comply with these regulations, you should select the correct **Country / Region**.

Custom FortiAP Profile (Contd)

			•	
WiFi & Switch	Controller > FortiA	P Profiles		 Can directly access FortiAP devices using HTTPS or SSH
Name	FAP231F-buildingA			
Comments	Write a comment		<i>#</i> 0/255	Not recommended but useful in
Platform	FAP231F	-		troubleshooting FortiAP issues
Dedicated scan 🕕				■ FortiAP login password options:
Indeor/Outdoor 0	Default (Indoor) Overrie	de		• TORIAF IOGIN password options.
Country/Region 4	Use default (United States	s) Specify		 Set: Manually configure a password
AP login password 🚯	Set Teave Unchanged	0.001		 Leave Unchanged: Last configured password
Administrative access	L TITTPS	U SSIT	⊔ snmp	remains
Chent load balancing	Frequency Handoπ	U AP Handom		Tomano
				 Can define administrator access at the FortiAP profile level or per-AP level
				 Client load balancing: Frequency handoff, AP handoff
				 802.1X authentication option allows FortiAP to act as supplicant
-				© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved
raining Institute				- · - · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

By default, after FortiGate authorizes and manages an AP, the AP drops all direct administrative communications on HTTPS or SSH. You can choose to enable direct access to FortiAP devices using HTTPS or SSH. You can manually push the setting to FortiAP devices, either using a FortiAP profile or by overriding the settings on a per-AP basis.

Note that if you enable administrative access using an AP profile, all APs that are using that profile inherit these settings.

Client load balancing can assist with distributing the load across APs, using either **Frequency Handoff** or **AP Handoff**.

FortiAP can act as an 802.1X supplicant to authenticate against the RADIUS server using EAP-FAST, EAP-TLS, or EAP-PEAP. This setting is for FortiAP devices connected to a switch port with 802.1X authentication enabled.

Custom FortiAP Profile (Contd)

- LAN port on some FortiAP platforms can extend wired network access
- All FortiAP models have a WAN port
 - To communicate with wireless controller
 - To communicate with FortiLAN Cloud
- FortiAP with LAN port can
 - Bridged to LAN
 - Bridged to SSID

F RTINET. Training Institute

Port mode	Uplink Only Uplink & Bridge
LAN port Bridge 🜑	Bridge to LAN Bridge to SSID
	Q Search + Create root (2) Particle of the second seco

In the FortiAP profile, you can enable the LAN port bridge option for the desired SSID or LAN where FortiAP is connecting.

The LAN port can bridge to either a LAN or an SSID as follows:

- LAN port bridge with LAN port: This option enables FortiAP to act as a hub that provides both wired and wireless network access to devices connected to the same SSID. The IP addresses for LAN clients come from the WAN directly and are typically in the same range as the AP.
- LAN port bridge with SSID: This option enables FortiAP to act as a switch that connects the wired and wireless networks on the same subnet. The IP addresses for LAN clients come from the DHCP server on the wired network connected to the wireless controller or FortiLAN Cloud.

Radio Settings in the FortiAP Profile

- · Customizable settings are available for each radio, for example, Radio1, Radio2
- Wi-Fi 6 and Wi-Fi 6E FortiAP devices can operate a third radio for scanning
- · Available radio settings:



There are three types of radio settings on a FortiAP profile. These are predefined settings that you can set when you select a custom profile, but that you cannot modify on the GUI. The settings include:

- Platform
- Country / Region

You can configure customizable settings independently for each radio, **Radio 1**, **Radio 2**, and **Radio 3**—only on Wi-Fi 6E FortiAP devices. Devices equipped with **Radio 3**, such as Wi-Fi 6 and Wi-Fi 6E FortiAP devices, with **Dedicated scan** enabled, will use the radio to scan wireless threats and RF analysis.

These settings include:

Mode:

•

- · Disabled: no radio
- · Access Point: normal radio operation
- Dedicated Monitor: radio used for monitoring only, no clients can connect
- WIDS profile: background radio scanning and IDS profile settings
- Radio resource provision: automatic channel selection on APs in the network to minimize interference
- **Band**: three bands available, 2.4 GHz, 5 GHz, and on WiFi 6E platform, 6 GHz. Choose the IEEE protocol, for example, 802.11ax/n/g.
- Channel width: 20, 40, 80, 160 MHz, configurable for 5 GHz and 6 GHz radios
- · Channels: different channels are available in Country / Region setting
- Short guard interval: disabled (default), enable to provide marginally better throughput on 802.11ac or 802.11n on 5 GHz
- Transmit power mode: percent, dBm, and auto control over radio transmit power
- **SSIDs**: Tunnel, Bridge, or Manual (to add mix of SSIDs)
- Monitor channel utilization: monitors AP radio for channel utilization



Related to the frequency band, you can also customize the channels.

Approved channels vary by the geographic region of your AP. For example, the 2.4 GHz band has 11 operation channels in the United States, but 13 in Europe. So, if you move the AP from one location to another, you might need to change this setting.

IEEE 802.11b and g protocols provide up to 14 channels in the 2.400–2.500 GHz industrial, scientific, and medical (ISM) band, and IEEE 802.11a and n protocols provide up to 16 channels in 5 GHz of Unlicensed National Information Infrastructure (U-NII) band (specifically portions of 5.150–5.250, 5.250–5.350, 5.725–5.875 GHz).

Note also that in the U-NII band, some channel options may be marked with an asterisk. This means that a channel is subject to the rules of dynamic frequency selection (DFS).

Channel Selection

- · Varies with frequencies allowed in your region
- The three channels on 2.4 GHz (1, 6, 11) do not overlap
- 5 GHz and 6 GHz provide less interference and faster bandwidth
- Selection is manual or by distributed automatic radio resource provisioning (DARRP)
 DARRP evaluates full channel bandwidth to select the channel



Channel selection depends on the frequencies that are permitted for a particular region.

Remember that the width of channels usually exceeds the spacing between the channels, causing some overlap. Interference from adjacent channels is therefore possible. *During wireless network planning, to avoid overlapping, you must use every fourth or fifth channel.* For example, you might use ISM channels 1, 6, and 11 (2.4 GHz band).

The 5 GHz band is used less than the 2.4 GHz band. Its shorter wavelengths have a shorter range and penetrate obstacles less, but it also means there is less interference from other APs, including your own. So, if your clients support this band, you can select up to 23 channels.

The new 6 GHz band offers more available spectrum and more channel options. This means faster transmission and less latency on the connection. However, it is a new technology and is not yet available in all countries.

You can manually select the channel, or use DARRP, which considers the full channel bandwidth in order to select the channel.

DO NOT REPRINT © F<mark>ORTINET</mark>

DARRP

- · Profiles applied on each radio
- Each FortiAP device selects the best Wi-Fi channel
 - Supports evaluating channel bandwidth in full
- Helps prevent interference
- AP r-evaluates channel selection every 24 hours (84,600 seconds)
 - Override is possible via DARRP profile
- Clients automatically signaled to migrate to a new channel
- Reduces chatter between FortiAP devices
- Can cause issues when the network is being used at capacity
 - Configure schedule in DARRP profile to specify when to run DARRP scan

FERTINET. Training Institute

Radio 2	
Mode	Disabled Access Point Dedicated Monitor
WIDS profile	
Radio resource provision	
Band	5 GHz 802.11ax/ac/n/a 🔹
Channel width	20MHz 40MHz 80MHz
Channels	Set Channels
	36 40 44 48 149 153 157 161
	165
Short guard interval	
Transmit power mode	 Percent Transmit power is determined by multiplying set percentage with maximum available power determined by region and Hort IDP device.
	O dBm Power is setting using a dBm value.
	Auto Set a range of dDm values and the power is set automatically.
Transmit power	100 %
SSIDs 🚯	🕫 Innnel 🗳 Bridge Manual
Monitor channel utilization	•
	© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 15

Available on each radio, using DARRP makes FortiAP select the best channel available to use based on the scan results of basic service set identifier (BSSID)/received signal strength indicator (RSSI) to AC. It supports channel bandwidth used on the radio and each FortiAP uses same FortiAP profile can has its own DARRP profile configured.

To prevent interference between APs, DARRP measures utilization and interference on the available channels and selects the clearest channel at each AP. DARRP uses AP background scan results as input.

The DARRP calculation can consume AP resources. The default running time for running DARRP optimizations is 86400 seconds and the range is 0 to 86400. To set the running time for DARRP optimizations, enter the following CLI command in the wireless controller settings: set darrp-optimize {integer}. You can override the global value within DARRP profile when used on FortiAP radio.

Note that DARRP doesn't perform a continuous spectrum analysis, so it may not detect intermittent interference sources such as microwave ovens.

DARRP is recommended in large deployments to reduce possible interference. In very large networks, or networks with too many radios, you can change the DARRP optimization time to reduce FortiAP load. However, in small deployments with less risk of interference, you can use the traditional static channel assignation.

DARRP Algorithm

- Reviews neighbor channel configuration
 - Processes data from non-Wi-Fi interference sources
 - Uses the data in channel planning and calculations
- Uses weight and thresholds to fine-tune channel selection
- Completes the channel selection process in two phases:
 - Phase 1: Reviews the parameters and calculates the weights
 - · Phase 2: Puts DARRP into the monitoring stage
 - If FortiAP exceeds thresholds for transmission retries or errors in received packets



DARRP integrates data from channel utilization into channel planning. DARRP selects channels by considering data from different sources, including neighboring channels. These channels can be Wi-Fi or non-Wi-Fi, which are both potential sources of interference.

Channel selection has two phases:

FURTINET

Training Institute

• Phase 1: DDARP calculates radio parameters including noise floor, channel load, and factors that are multiplied by a weight value that is assigned by default or customized in a DARRP profile.

• Phase 2: DARRP monitors whether FortiAP devices exceed thresholds in retries to transmit as well as errors in received packets.

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET

DARRP Profiles DARRP default profile is used if enabled on FortiAP profile DARRP profile is selected on each radio separately · Multiple radios on FortiAP profile can use the same DARRP profile · Other radios in other FortiAP profiles can use the same DARRP profile Each FortiAP radio can use custom DARRP profile DARRP timings and schedules override-darrp-optimize Customized enabled to override system settings DARRP profile is and to set timing in DARRP profile assigned # config wireless-controller arrp-profile config wireless-controller wtp-profi edit "arrp-profile1" edit FAP231F-AP-PROFILE set override-darrp-optimize enable config radio-1 set darrp-optimize 3600 set darrp enable set darrp-optimize-schedules "always" set arrp-profile "arrp-profile1 next end edit end FURTINET © Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. Training Institute

When DARRP is enabled on a radio, the default DARRP profile is assigned with all of the timings and thresholds defined by default. All FortiAP radios using DARRP can reference the default DARRP profile or a customized profile.

The darrp-optimize and darrp-optimize-schedules are defined in the wireless-controller setting for DARRP. By default, DARRP runs every 24 hours and it can follow the default firewall schedule "always" or any other customized schedule.

Auto Transmission Power

- · Allowed maximum transmission (TX) power varies by region
- · Percent mode allows you to use the slider bar to adjust the power
- dBm mode sets power between 1 and 33 dBm
 - Setting dBm value in decibel-milliwatt
 - Electrical power unit referenced to 1 milliwatt
- · Auto mode:

FURTINET

Training Institute

- Default range of 10 to 17 dBm
- If interference is detected, controller reduces AP TX power until auto-power-low threshold
- If interference is not detected, or is detected and removed, controller increases AP TX power until auto-power-high threshold value



TX power is the power FortiAP uses when broadcasting RF signals. Lowering TX power will reduce the coverage area and RF signal propagation. This is useful to control the coverage area. You can decrease the power to prevent broadcasting signals to any unwanted area that may pose as a security risk. For example, you might want to reduce the TX power so that your SSID is broadcast outside your office without compromising the coverage within the desired area.

The **Transmission power mode** has three options: **Percent**, **dBm**, and **Auto**. When you select **Percent**, a transmission slide control appears so that you can adjust the transmission power. **dBm** allows setting power using decibel-milliwatt, which is electrical power unit in decibels. dBm is referenced to 1 milliwatt and you can measure watts with a formula conversion.

FortiOS defines 100% power based on the maximum permitted in your region. But what happens if you select **Auto**?

If you select **Auto**, you must then define the power range. FortiOS automatically adjusts the power within this range.

Wireless LANs operate on frequencies that do not require licenses but are limited by regulations low power. So, by default, the wireless controller reduces to the minimum power configured if interference is detected. But, if the wireless controller detects no interference, or detects and then removes interference, it increases the power until it reaches the maximum power limit.

FortiAP Group

- Can group together APs that have the same platform on the Managed FortiAPs tab
- Can assign all groups the same profile

+Create new +	∂ Edil	iii Delete	El Register All	C Refresh	O Q Search				Q,	Group -		
Manageri AP	roup \$			Members \$			Platform \$		Ref.≑	AP		
AP Croup			0-0 FP231FTF2 0-0 FP231FTF2	20032211 20032217		All		0		Group	Group tab	
	-											
reate new Al	⁻ Group											
reate new Al	⁻ Group											
reate new Al	^{>} Group											
reate new Al	^{>} Group											
reate new Al	^D Group											
reate new Al	^D Group											
reate new Al	^{>} Group											
reate new Al	^{>} Group											

The **Group** tab allows you to create a logical grouping of APs, for example, per floor or per building, and so on. This facilitates the application of FortiAP profiles to a large number of APs. You can't assign an AP to more than one group and all must be of the same model. As a result, you are restricted to using APs that have the same platform in a group.

Knowledge Check

1. How many AP profiles can be assigned to an AP? A. 2

√B. 1

- 2. What does DARRP do?
- ✓A. Helps reduce interference between APs
 - B. Helps suppress rogue APs

F**BRTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 20

Lesson Progress

<section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><text><text><text><text>

Good job! You now understand how to configure FortiAP profiles and assign radio settings on APs.

Now, you will learn about wireless load balancing.



After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objectives shown on this slide.

By demonstrating competence in applying load balancing, you will be able to redistribute the load on the wireless network.

Wireless Client Load Balancing

- Wireless load balancing allows distribution of wireless traffic more efficiently among managed APs and available frequencies
- · For high-density deployments
 - Client load balancing across FortiAPs = AP Handoff
 - Client load balancing across 2.4 / 5GHz = Frequency Handoff

 Configure options per AP profile 	WiFi & Switch C	Controller > AP Pro	ofiles			
	New FortIAP Profile					
	Name Commonits Platform Platform mode Dedicated scan @ Indow / Outdoor @ Country / Rogion @	AP Profile Write a comment FAP231G Single SG Dual SG Default (Indexe) Over rid Use default (United States Science States	Tree Specify	<i>₫</i> 0/255		
	Administrative access		SSH	🗆 SNMP		
	802.1X authentication	I requency llandoff	AP Handoff			
F::RTINET. Training Institute				© Fortinet Inc	. All Rights Reserved.	23

You can use wireless client load balancing techniques in dense deployments such as a conference center. It distributes the load of handling multiple clients among multiple APs or between the two bands. To do this, APs share client load and performance metrics between them.

FortiOS wireless controller supports the following types of client load balancing:

- AP Handoff: The wireless controller signals a client to switch to another AP.
- **Frequency Handoff**: The wireless controller monitors the usage of 2.4 GHz, 5 GHz, and 6 GHz bands, and signals clients to switch to the lesser-used frequency.

By default, load balancing is not applied to roaming clients.

To enable wireless client load balancing, edit a custom FortiAP profile and select **Frequency Handoff** or **AP Handoff** within the profile.
Load Balancing AP Handoff

- Access point handoff works in two ways:
 - If the number of clients exceeds the maximum number of clients configured for an AP, the client with the lowest RSSI value will be forced to join another AP
 - RSSI value must meet the signal strength on the nearby AP
 - If the number of clients is already at the defined threshold, new clients are redirected to join the least busy AP nearby
 - Least busy nearby AP responds to the client's join request
 - Enable or disable AP handoff on GUI
 - Configure the threshold values on CLI

FERTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 24

AP handoff is a load balancing method that FortiGate uses to increase wireless performance and use the resources on APs more efficiently. AP handoff is a way of load balancing wireless clients among managed APs on FortiGate. If an AP is overloaded and the maximum number of clients is configured for an AP or radio, FortiGate drops the client that has weakest signals and connects the client to a nearby AP.

FortiGate uses the RSSI value threshold defined in the AP profile when a client tries to connect to the second AP. The client's signal strength must be equal to or more than the defined RSSI value on the AP. Signal strength is determined based on the RSSI value—a higher RSSI value means better signal strength.

handoff-sta-thresh in a FortiAP profile defines the value after which the handoff protocol is initiated for a new client. FortiGate instructs the least busy nearby AP to respond to the join request for any new client that tried to connect to an overloaded AP, as long as the configured RSSI value condition is met. You must enable the AP-handoff feature on all radios on an AP.

Load Balancing AP Handoff (Contd)

- FortiAP signals clients to connect to another FortiAP device
 - 802.11 Association Response frame with status code 17, which indicates AP is busy
- If AP1 load exceeds threshold (for example, 30 clients) then the wireless controller signals client with weakest signal to drop off and join another nearby access point (AP2)



When one or more APs is overloaded (for example, more than 30 clients) and a new client attempts to join the wireless network, the wireless controller selects the least busy AP that is closest to the new client. This AP responds to the client, and the client joins that AP.

Client load-balancing across FortiAP devices: If the load on an AP, for example, AP1, exceeds a threshold, then the wireless controller signals the client with the weakest signal to drop off and join a nearby AP, for example, AP2. When one or more APs is overloaded (for example, more than 30 clients) and a new client attempts to join a wireless network, the wireless controller selects the least busy AP that is closest to the new client and this AP is the one that responds to the client and the one that the client joins.

Configuring AP Handoff

• The thresholds for AP handoff are set in the FortiAP profile, but accessible only through the CLI:

	<pre>config wireless-controller wtp-profile edit <profile name=""> set handoff-sta-thresh 30 <- # of clients before AP handoff is initialed set handoff-rssi 25 <- RSSI value threshold set ap-handoff {enable disable} set max-client 0</profile></pre>	
	to enable	
•	handoff-sta-thresh sets the number of clients at which AP load balancing begins. It has a range of 5 to 35.	
•	handoff-rssi sets the minimum signal strength that a new client must have at an alternate AP for the overloaded AP to ignore the client. It has a range of 20 to 30. RSSI is a relative measure—the higher the number, the stronger the signal.	
-	G Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved.	26

During an AP hand-off configuration, don't confuse max-client and handoff-sta-thresh.

- max-client is the maximum number of clients this AP supports. After the AP reaches this number of clients, it forces a *hard* rejection. 0 means no limit.
- handoff-sta-thresh defines the value after which the handoff protocol is initiated for a new client.
 FortiGate instructs the least busy nearby AP to respond to the join request for any new client that tried to connect to an overloaded AP as long as the configured RSSI value condition is met. If the AP has more clients than this threshold, it is considered busy and clients are moved to another AP. You must enable the AP-handoff feature on all radios on an AP.

As a best practice, you should set up the handoff-sta-thresh value between 15 to 20 and up to 10 stations for video streaming.

set ap-handoff enables or disables AP load balancing on the AP profile. It is disabled by default.

The handoff-rssi is the signal level that another nearby AP must see in order for the controller to include it in the load balancing process. The default value is 25 and is measured in dB relative to the generic noise level -95 dBm. For instance, a value of 25 means that the signal level needs to be -70 dBm or better, and a value of 30 means the signal threshold is -65 dBm.

Frequency Handoff—AP Band Steering

- Signal clients to connect to another frequency
- Wireless controller monitors usage of 2.4 GHz and 5 GHz bands and signals clients to switch to lesser-used frequency



AP bad steering distributes devices across frequency bands to prevent congestion and interference.

What if you don't want to move the client to a different AP? What if you just want to move it to a different radio, with a different frequency?

For example, a client could ask to join the 2.4 GHz channel. The wireless controller would evaluate whether the AP is a dual-band device, and verify if the RSSI value is strong. If so, the wireless controller would not reply to the client's request, forcing the client to retry until it attempted to join the same SSID on the 5 GHz band.

After the controller sees this new request on the 5 GHz band, the controller measures the RSSI again. If the RSSI is acceptable, the controller allows the client to join. Otherwise, the controller updates the device table and waits for the client to time out again. When the client attempts to connect a second time on the 2.4 GHz band, the controller accepts it.

Configure frequency load balancing in the AP profile to distribute devices across frequency bands to prevent congestion and interference, and encourage clients to use the 5 GHz Wi-Fi band.

Load Balancing Frequency Handoff Technique to encourage clients to use 5 GHz, and 6 GHz with Wi-Fi 6E FortiAP · Clients that support 5 GHz or 6 GHz bands benefit from faster speeds and decreased interference · Remaining clients on 2.4 GHz have reduced interference Wireless controller uses probes to determine client band capability · Uses a table to keep track of which client (MAC address) supports all bands Also records RSSI value for each client on both 2.4 GHz and 5 GHz A new client joins 5 GHz or 6 GHz only if: · FortiGate uses the table to check · Clients support dual band RSSI value is strong on 5 GHz and 6 GHz If both of the above conditions are true, FortiGate ignores client's requests to join on 2.4 GHz band until the client times out Client then attempts to connect to the same SSID on 5 GHz and FortiGate responds to the request FURTINET © Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 28 Training Institute

Frequency handoff is a band-steering technique that FortiGate uses to encourage clients to use the 5 GHz frequency, or 6 GHz frequency in the case of Wi-Fi 6E FortiAP. Clients that support 5 GHz or 6 GHz frequency benefit from faster speeds and decreased interference. This also benefits clients that do not support the either faster frequency bands because there is less interference on 2.4 GHz because of the reduced number of clients. FortiGate continuously probes the clients to identify if they can operate on the 5 GHz or 6 GHz frequency. FortiGate maintains a table to track which clients support any of the frequencies, and records the RSSI value along with the other information for each frequency.

When a client tries to connect, FortiGate checks whether it can support faster frequencies and, if so, how good the signals are. If a client supports the 5 GHz frequency and the signal is strong enough to connect, FortiGate ignores the client's requests to join the network on 2.4 GHz until the request times out. The client then automatically tries to join the same network using 5 GHz. FortiGate instructs the AP to respond to the join request and allow the client to connect.

Frequency Handoff Configuration

- Frequency load balancing is configured on the FortiAP profile
- RSSI value threshold is configurable
- Must enable frequency handoff on 5 GHz or 6 GHz band to learn client's capability
- Best practice handoff-rssi:

 Voice: 25–30), Regular data	and video: 23–2	27					
	WiFi & Switch C	ontroller > Forti	AP Profile					
	Edit FortIAP Profile]		
	Name	AP Profile						
	Comments	Write a comment		<i>#</i> 0/255				
	Platform	FAP201G						
	Platform mode	Single 5G Dual 5G						
	Dedicated scan 🚯	0						
	Indoor/Outdoor 8	Default (Indoor) Overr	ide					
	Country/Region 🚯	Use default (United States	<i>;</i>)					
	AP login password 0	Set Leave Unchanged						
		*******	¢					
	Administrative access	HTTP5	SSH		SNMP			
	Client load balancing	Erequency Handoll	AP Handoli					
	802.1X authentication 🗨)						
F ERTINET . Training Institute							© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved.	29

Configure frequency handoff in the AP profile. You must enable frequency handoff to learn the client's capability.

As you learned, you can configure the handoff RSSI value threshold. As a best practice, you should set this value between 25 to 30 for voice traffic to minimize handoff interruptions, but 23 to 27 for regular data.

Knowledge Check

- 1. What does AP handoff accomplish?
- ✓A. Load balancing among managed FortiAPs
 - B. Load balancing between available frequencies
- 2. Where do you enable wireless load balancing?
 - A. WIDS profile
- ✓B. FortiAP profile

F**BRTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 30

Lesson Progress



Good job! You now understand wireless load balancing.

Now, you will learn about Wireless Intrusion Detection System (WIDS) profiles and how to deploy them.



After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objectives shown on this slide.

By demonstrating competence in using WIDS, you will be able to configure and deploy a WIDS profile to scan and protect your wireless network.

WIDS

- WIDS monitors wireless traffic for a wide range of security threats by detecting and reporting on possible intrusion attempts
- · WIDS profile is a set of intrusion detection settings including rogue AP detection
- · When an attack is detected, FortiOS records a log message
- WIDS detection includes:
 - Weak WEP encryption
 - Null SSID probe response
 - Spoofed deauthentication: denial of service (DoS)
 - Invalid MAC organizationally unique identifier (OUI)
 - Various management, EAP, authentication, and beacon floods
- · Must apply WIDS profile to AP profile to start detecting and reporting intrusion attacks

F CRTINET.

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 33

WIDS monitors wireless traffic for a wide range of Wi-Fi-specific security threats by detecting and reporting on possible intrusion attempts, such as:

- Weak WEP IV encryption used to crack WEP keys
- Null SSID probe response that causes many wireless cards and devices to stop responding
- · Deauthentication broadcasts that are a DoS attack causing all clients to disconnect from the AP
- Invalid MAC OUI-the first three bytes of the MAC address are the OUI, administered by IEEE
- · Various management, EAP, authentication, and beacon floods

When an attack is detected, FortiOS records a log message. You use WIDS profiles to enable and configure the threshold of the individual intrusion type that will be used to generate log messages. Once configured, you must apply the WIDS profile to an AP profile to enable the detection of intrusion attacks.

Provisioning Rogue AP Detection

- · Use WIDS profiles to configure intrusion detection settings
 - · Provides flexibility to create more than one WIDS profile to address specific security concerns
- · Activating rogue AP detection settings in WIDS profile
 - Following settings will enable background rogue AP scanning

	WiFi & Switch Controller >	WIDS Profiles			
RADIO will switch to	New WIDS Profile				
monitor mode every 600 seconds to perform background scan	Name WIDS MONITOR Comment Sensor mode Disable Foreign channel	Is only Foreign and home channels			
AP will not send	Rogue AP Detection				
probe requests on	Background scan period	600	$\hat{\cdot}$		
scanned channels	Passive scan mode				
	Successive channel scan interval	3	$\hat{\mathbf{v}}$		
	Background scan duration	30	$\hat{\mathbf{v}}$		
	Idle time	20	$\hat{\cdot}$		
	Background scan report interval	30	$\hat{\cdot}$		
	Foreground scan report interval	15	$\hat{\cdot}$		
	Minimum rogue AP signal level to detect	-90	$\hat{\cdot}$		
F	Background scan disable schedule	+			
Training Institute				© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved.	34

The WIDS profile includes settings for detection of unauthorized (rogue) access points in your wireless network. You can set up the background scan threshold, for example, scan interval, here.

WIDS monitors wireless traffic for a wide range of Wi-Fi-specific security threats by detecting and reporting on possible intrusion attempts, and records a log message. You can create a WIDS profile to enable these types of intrusion detection. By default, all of these options are enabled when you create a new WIDS profile.

Provisioning On-Wire Rogue AP Detection

- Activating on-wire rogue AP detection settings in WIDS profile
 - Following settings will enable foreground rogue AP scanning
- AP or a radio needs to be in dedicated monitor mode to enable on-wire automatic suppression

	WiFi & Switc	h Controller > ¹	WIDS Profiles		
Configure this in the AP profile	New WIDS Profile				
	Name C	NWIRE WIDS			
	Comment				Enables FortiAP to
	Sensor mode 🚯 🛛 D	isable Foreign channe	Is only Foreign and home channels		listen to station's traffic
	Rogue AP Detect	ion			
	Background scan per	iod	600	\$	
All of these settings must	Passive scan mode	0			
be enabled to activate on-	Successive channel so	can interval	3	\$	
suppression	Background scan dur	ation	30	$\hat{}$	
	Idle time		20	$\hat{}$	
	Background scan rep	ort interval	30	\$	
	Foreground scan repo	ort interval	15	\$	
	Minimum rogue AP si	ignal level to detect	-90	\$	
	Background scan disa	able schedule	+		
aining Institute					© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved.

There are two ways to suppress a rogue AP: manually on the **Rogue AP** monitor page, or by enabling **Auto suppress rogue APs in foreground scan**. The manual process requires you to log in to FortiGate and mark an AP as rogue, and then enable suppression. This process can be slow and create a potential security issue. The WIDS profile allows you to automate this process and, whenever a rogue AP is detected on-wire, FortiGate automatically suppresses the AP.

You must enable the following settings to activate automatic on-wire rogue AP suppression:

- 1. Have an AP or radio in dedicated monitor mode (foreground scanning).
- 2. Enable Sensor mode in WIDS profile.
- 3. Enable Enable rogue AP detection in the WIDS profile.
- 4. Enable Auto-suppress rogue APs in foreground scan.

Even for manual rogue AP suppression to work, you must have the first three settings enabled as mentioned above. Otherwise, FortiGate will not be able to listen to the (stations) STAs traffic and send deauthentication frames to suppress the rogue AP.

F BRTINET. Training Institute

Provisioning the WIDS Profile

- Use WIDS profiles to enable and configure thresholds of individual intrusion attack types
- All of these intrusion attacks are detected using various techniques
 - For example, If the SSID information element has a value of ASLEAP found in beacon frames and also found in probe request frames, an asleap attack threat is detected
- There are more configurable options available in the CLI

config wireless-controller wids-profile
(wids-profile)# edit <profile name>

asion Detection Settings					
Intrusion type	Enable	Threshold		Interval	(seconds)
ASLEAP attack	O				
Association frame flooding	O	30	\$	10	\$
Authentication frame flooding	€	30	$\hat{}$	10	\$
Broadcasting deauthentication	€				
EAPOL-FAIL flooding (to AP)		10	0	1	0
EAPOL-LOGOFF flooding (to AP)	C	10	0	1	٥
EAPOL-START flooding (to AP)	•	10	$\hat{}$	1	0
EAPOL-SUCC flooding (to AP)	•	10	\$	1	÷
Premature EAPOL-FAIL flooding (to Client)	O	10	\$	1	\$
Premature EAPOL-SUCC flooding (to Client)	O	10	\$	1	\$
nvalid MAC OUI					
Long duration attack		8200	0		
Null SSID probe response	C				
Spoofed deauthentication	C				
Weak WEP IV (initialization vector)	•				
Wireless Bridge	•				

You can create a WIDS profile to enable the following types of intrusion detection:

- ASLEAP attack: ASLEAP is a tool used to perform attacks against LEAP authentication.
- Association frame flooding: A DoS attack using a large number of association requests. The default detection threshold is 30 requests in 10 seconds.
- Authentication frame flooding: A DoS attack using a large number of association requests. The default detection threshold is 30 requests in 10 seconds.
- Broadcasting deauthentication: This is a type of DoS attack. A flood of spoofed deauthentication frames forces wireless clients to deathenticate, then reauthenticate with their AP.
- EAPOL Packet Flooding: Extensible Authentication Protocol over LAN (EAPOL) packets are used in WPA and WPA2 authentication. Flooding the AP with these packets can be a DoS attack. Several types of EAPOL packets are detected: EAPOL-FAIL, EAPOL-LOGOFF, EAPOL-START, EAPOL-SUCC.
- Invalid MAC OUI: Some attackers use randomly generated MAC addresses. The first three bytes of the MAC address are the OUI, administered by IEEE. Invalid OUIs are logged.
- Long duration attack: To share radio bandwidth, Wi-Fi devices reserve channels for brief periods of time. Excessively long reservation periods can be used as a DoS attack. You can set a threshold between 1000 and 32 767 microseconds. The default is 8200.
- Null SSID probe response: When a wireless client sends out a probe request, the attacker sends a response with a null SSID. This causes many wireless cards and devices to stop responding.
- Spoofed deauthentication: Spoofed deauthentication frames are a DoS attack. They cause all clients to disconnect from the AP.
- Weak WEP IV detection: A primary means of cracking WEP keys is by capturing 802.11 frames over an
 extended period of time and searching for patterns of WEP initialization vectors (IVs) that are known to be
 weak. WIDS detects known weak WEP IVs in on-air traffic.
- Wireless Bridge: Wi-Fi frames with both the FromDS and ToDS fields set indicate a wireless bridge. This will also detect a wireless bridge that you intentionally configured in your network.

F RTINET. Training Institute

Applying WIDS

- Once WIDS profile is configured, you must apply it to a radio or more in FortiAP profile
 - · Can apply only one WIDS profile to a radio
 - Can apply same WIDS profile to more than radios and/or other radios in other FortiAP profiles
- Level of FortiAP radio participation in WIDS depends on FortiAP operating mode
 - For example, FortiAP that are not in dedicated monitor mode cannot perform foreground scanning

will la Switch Co	ntroller > AP Profiles
Radio 2	
Mode	Disabled Access Point Dedicated Monitor
WIDS profile 🔹 💽	default 👻
Radio resource provision 🕥	Q Search + Create
Band	default 🥒 🔫
Channel width	default wids apsean enabled
Channels	ONWIREWIDS
	36 40 44 48 149 153 157 161
	165
Short guard interval	
fransmit power mode	 Percent Transmit power is determined by multiplying set percentage with maximum available power determined by region and FortiAP device.
	O dBm Power is setting using a dDm value.
	Auto Set a range of dBm values and the power is set automatically.
Transmit power	100%
SSIDs 🕕	🕬 Tunnel 🖉 Dridge Manual
Monitor channel utilization	
	© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved 37
	o rotatiot no. Air tighto roborrod.

You must apply a WIDS profile to an AP profile to allow assigned APs to participate in WIDS. You can apply only one WIDS profile to an AP profile, and can apply the same WIDS profile to more than one AP profile.

You can choose the appropriate profile from the WIDS profile field in an AP profile.

Knowledge Check

- 1. What does WIDS stand for?
 - A. Wireless Information Distribution System
- ✓B. Wireless Intrusion Detection System

F**BRTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 38

Lesson Progress



Congratulations! You have completed this lesson.

Now, you will review the objectives that you covered in this lesson.

Review

- ✓ Understand default and custom AP profiles
- Describe channels and channel selection
- Understand AP handoff and frequency handoff
- Configure client and AP load balancing
- Understand WIDS
- ✓ Assign a WIDS profile to a FortiAP profile

FERTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 40

This slide shows the objectives that you covered in this lesson.

By mastering the objectives covered in this lesson, you learned about FortiAP profiles, applying radio settings, and using protection systems to monitor the wireless network.



In this lesson, you will learn about the wireless technology concepts that you must know to understand Wi-Fi, and wireless technologies in general.

You will also learn how to plan your network for best wireless signal coverage.





In this lesson, you will learn about the topics shown on this slide.



After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objectives shown on this slide.

By demonstrating competence in monitoring rogue APs and using the scanning options available on FortiOS, you will be able to protect your wireless network from rogue APs.

Rogue APs

- A rogue AP is an unauthorized AP connected to your wired network
- · Maliciously placed APs can be an attempt to compromise network security
- · APs that are available in the same area as your own APs are not necessarily rogues
 - APs belonging to neighboring businesses or homes can cause interference
 - This does not mean that those APs pose any security threat

FERTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved.

So far, you've seen settings for APs that you control. What about APs that you don't control?

Often, these APs belong to neighboring businesses or homes. They may cause interference, which you will notice if you perform spectrum analysis, but they are not a security threat.

However, this is not always true. Maliciously placed APs (called rogue APs) can be an attempt to compromise network security. If you detect unauthorized APs in the middle of a large warehouse, for example, these are unlikely to belong to a neighbor, who would be out of range. They may be a security threat.

A rogue AP can cause two problems:

- It can cause signal interference, preventing clients from being able to use your wireless network.
- If it's connected to your network, it could provide unauthorized access.

Rogue AP Detection

- FortiAP can scan for other available APs in two ways:
 - In idle periods during AP operation
 - As a dedicated monitor
- If an attacker tries to use a rogue AP for unauthorized access
 - FortiOS can automatically detect it and add it to the Rogue APs list
 - Using a WIDS profile you could suppress a rogue AP to avoid security threats (dedicated monitor mode)

FERTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 5

There are two ways to configure FortiAP to detect rogue APs:

- As a dedicated monitor (can assign one or both radios)
- In idle periods during AP operation

You can also use one radio of an AP for scanning and reserve the other radio for normal AP use, but this will limit you to using only one frequency—2.4 GHz or 5 GHz—because you can use only one band per radio. When a rogue AP is connected, an attacker tries to use it for unauthorized access. FortiOS automatically detects and lists it in the **Rogue AP Monitor**, and you can suppress it to avoid security threats.

Background Scanning

- Scans only during idle intervals, between AP work
 - Can cause packet loss
- Scans only frequency band of radio
- Slower rogue discovery
- Automatic if distributed automatic radio resource provisioning (DARRP) is enabled



If you do not use a dedicated AP or a radio for scanning, you can configure the AP to run a background scan when a radio is idle or at a defined threshold.

A background scan is opportunistic. During idle periods, FortiAP briefly switches the radio from acting as an AP to monitoring. By default, a scan period starts every 600 seconds, and each second a different channel is monitored for 20 ms until all channels have been checked. During heavy AP traffic, it is possible for background spectrum analysis scanning to cause lost packets when the radio switches to monitoring. This technique is enabled with DARRP and offers poor rogue AP detection.



How does rogue AP detection in FortiOS work? It uses a radio to *listen* and detect other APs. If your FortiAP device is not using all of its radios, you can dedicate one of them to monitoring for rogue APs. Otherwise, you can configure the AP to run a background scan when a radio is idle.

You should use one AP in your network as a dedicated monitor AP because it can reduce the load on other APs and saves them from switching to AP and monitoring mode.

Dedicated monitor radios are reserved for scanning and suppression, if enabled. They will not broadcast the SSID, and will not allow any wireless clients to join with them. This is the technique required to actively suppress rogue APs.

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET

On-Wire Rogue AP Detection—Foreground Scanning

- Other APs in your AP coverage area are not always rogues
 - Neighbor interference
- On-wire detection mechanism continuously compares wireless and wired client traffic to identify if an unknown AP has joined your network
 - Must be at least one Wi-Fi client connected to the suspect AP and continuously sending traffic
 - If FortiGate and FortiAP see the wireless client MAC address on the wired network, then the rogue AP
 that the client is connected to must be on-wire
 - Can block either exact MAC address only, or similar (adjacent) MAC addresses
 - MAC adjacency is configurable
 - · MAC address spoofing and NAT on the rogue AP can make on-wire rogue detection more difficult
 - · False positives is a possibility in MAC adjacency

F**BRTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved.

Another useful technique for rogue AP detection is on-wire detection. When you enable on-wire detection, FortiOS compares MAC addresses in wireless and wired traffic. If FortiOS and FortiAP see the wireless client MAC address on the wired network, then the rogue AP that the client is connected to must be on-wire. This usually requires the rogue AP to be a Layer 2 bridged AP. Otherwise FortiOS will see only the wireless router Ethernet MAC.

The on-wire can uses two rogue detection methods:

- Exact MAC address match: If the same MAC address is seen in frames on the wired LAN and on the Wi-Fi network, this means that the wireless client is connected to the LAN. In your FortiOS configuration, if you did not authorize the AP that the client is using, then FortiOS will treat that AP as an on-wire rogue.
- **MAC adjacency**: If an AP is a wireless router, it applies NAT to Wi-Fi packets. This can make rogue detection more difficult, because the frames in wired and wireless traffic won't have the same MAC address either. Usually, however, an the Wi-Fi interface MAC address of an AP is similar to its wired MAC address. So, the MAC adjacency rogue detection method matches the MAC addresses that have close hexadecimal numbers.

• You can change this setting using the CLI command: set rogue-scan-mac-adjacency {integer}. The integer value 0 to 31 represents the maximum numerical difference between an the Ethernet and wireless MAC values of an AP to match for rogue detection. The default value is 7.

In both cases, whether exact match or MAC adjacency, the process is as follows:

- 1. A dedicated radio listens for each AP BSSID, and for wireless client MAC addresses connected to that AP.
- 2. FortiAP collects wired MAC addresses seen through ARP requests, and sends them to the wireless controller.
- 3. FortiGate compares wireless and wired MAC addresses.
- 4. If traffic of an unauthorized AP traffic is also seen on the wire, the wireless controller logs an alert. If suppression is enabled, the wireless controller also tries to interfere with the unauthorized connections.

If an AP is found by on-wire detection, it shows up in the AP monitor with in its **On-wire** column. Note that because of the nature of the MAC adjacency method, there is a possibility of false positives.

Suppressing Rogue APs

- · Check laws and regulations of your region before enabling suppression
- Uses monitoring radio
- · Requires dedicated monitor mode
 - Not possible with background scan
- · Actively interferes with the connectivity of clients and rogue APs
 - Uses on-wire detection
 - When suppression is activated:
 - Wireless controller sends deauthentication messages to rogue AP clients, mimicking rogue AP
 - Also sends deauthentication messages to rogue AP, mimicking its clients



After you've detected a rogue AP, usually you will want to actively prevent your users from connecting to it. You can use the radios of your FortiAPs to suppress them.

Before enabling this feature, verify that the operation of rogue suppression is compliant with the applicable laws and regulations of your region.

Because it's an active process, it requires that you dedicate one of the FortiAPs radios. You can't use it with a background scan.

How does suppression work? While pretending to be the rogue AP, the FortiGate Wi-Fi controller uses the dedicated monitoring radio on a nearby AP. It sends *deauthentication messages* to the rogue AP clients. This makes it difficult for them to maintain a connection with it. FortiOS also mimics the rogue AP clients, sending deauthentication messages to the rogue AP.

ress

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET

Discovered	d APs ar	e listed in th	ne Rogu d or Rogu	e AP Monit	t or list			
This is only It does r Must co	y a desiq lot affect t nfigure su	gnation to he he ability to us ppression to a	elp track e these A ctively blo	ting AP in yo Ps ck users from	our enviro these APs	nment On-wire in	dicates detec	ction by M
Dashboard	> WiFi > Ro	gue APs						
MAC Acklines: \$	SSID \$	<mark>5ta</mark> le ≢	Status 🕏	Signal Interference \$	Vendor info \$	Delected By \$	Channel @	OnWire
08:5b:0c:ca;90:4a	fortions	(ii) Regue AP	O Online	-62 ciftiri	Fortiont	FP231FTF23032217	6	Off Wire
70:4c;s5:90:01:a8	Student05	Unclassified AP	O Calice	-98 dUm	Forficel	FP231FTF23032217	6	Off Wire
Contraction and a second state of the	Student05	O Unclassified AP	O Online	🚽 29 dBm	Poplinet	FP231F7F23032217	52	Off Wite
70:4ca5:2d:01:60		Contraction and the second second	I O come	40 dBm A	l ortinet	1 P2311 IF 23032217	11	O Off Wire
70/fca5:74:01:50 Select the AP to rogue or ac	o mark it as cepted	Unclassified AP Accepted AP Rogue AP	Sele	ct to suppress a ro	que AP			
704ca5tAb01b0 Select the AP to rogue or ac	o mark it as cepted	Unclassified AP Accepted AP Rogue AP Suppressed Rogue AP Unclassified AP	Selec	ct to suppress a ro	gue AP			
704ca5:940160	o mark it as cepted	Unclassified AP Accepted AI* Rogue AI* Suppressed Rogue AI* Unclassmed AP @ Accepted AP	Confirme	ct to suppress a ro	gue AP	FP231FTF23632217	52	Off Wire
704ca5:960160	Sinderi 01 Student2	Unclassified AP Accepted AP Regue AP Suppresed Regue AP Unclassified AP Quackessified AP	O Confine O Confine O Confine	et to suppress a ro al-arcum al 4805m∆	gue AP	FP931FTF99039917 1 P2911 II 20032217	57 11	OFWire OFWire
204c.35960160 Select the AP to rogue or ac 704c.35960640 /04c.35960640 /04c.35960046 /04c.35960040	Sinderu01 Student/	Uncleasified AP Accepted AP Itogue AP Budpresed (togue AP Uncleasified AP © Accepted AP © Uncleasified AP © Uncleasified AP	O Codine O Codine O Codine O Codine	ct to suppress a ro	gue AP Particel Fonticel Forticet	FP231FTF23002217 FP231FTF23002217 FP231F1F230022277	52 11 161	O OF Wire O OR Wire O OR Wire
70%c.85%b01b0 Select the AP to rogue or ac 70%c.85%b0%d 70%c.85\%b0%d 70\%c.85\%b0%d 7	Sinder#01 Student/ Student/ Student/	Unclassified AP Accepted AI* Eucoreased Regue AI* Unclassified AP C Accepted AP C Unclassified AP C Unclassified AP C Unclassified AP	Codras Ordras Ordras Ordras Ordras Ordras Ordras Ordras Ordras	ct to suppress a ro	gue AP	FP31FTF93220077 1 P2311 /1 23032217 1 P2311 /1 23032217 1 P2311 /1 23032217 FP231F1F23032217	57 11 161 0	OFWire OFWire OTWire OTWire

When a new AP is detected that is not authorized, this AP appears in the **Rogue APs** list, and you can change the state of each AP to either **Accepted AP** or **Rogue AP**. This helps you to track which APs are authorized by you or not. By default, it does not affect anyone's ability to use these access points. For that, you need to select **Suppressed Rogue AP**.

Note that this mechanism is the only feature that is specifically called a *rogue AP detection* feature in the FortiOS. There are more ways to discover rogue APs, including:

- Audit grade reports
- On-wire correlation
- Automatic suppression
- Wireless IDS (WIDS)

Knowledge Check

- 1. Which function does a rogue AP background scan perform?
 - \checkmark A. It serves clients and performs a scan for interfering APs in the environment.
 - B. It sends deauthentication frames in the background while serving clients.

FCRTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 11



Lesson Progress



Good job! You now understand rogue APs and how to monitor them and take action.

Now, you will learn about using FortiPresence.





After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objectives shown on this slide.

By demonstrating competence in using FortiPresence, you will understand how to implement and use FortiPresence and its dashboard and visitor reports.

FortiPresence

- Two platforms available
 - SaaS cloud-based presence analytics platform
 - On-premises presence virtual machines
- FortiPresence cloud part of FortiLAN Cloud
- Support the majority of Fortinet wireless solutions devices
- Real-life business intelligence applicable to SD-branch scenarios

FERTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 14

There are two different platforms to use FortiPresence analytics:

- FortiPresence cloud: A SaaS cloud-based presence analytics platform which is supported by all of Fortinet wireless solutions and very applicable to SD-branch scenarios.
- FortiPresence VM: An on-premises solution that runs as virtual machines and run locally on your site.

Designed and built for real-life business intelligence, FortiPresence delivers the insights customers need using the data most never even knew they had.

FortiPresence—How It Works

- Smartphone emits Wi-Fi probe
- FortiAP or FortiWiFi captures MAC address and signal strength
- · FortiAP collects and summarizes the data records
- FortiAP pushes data to FortiPresence in a secured SSL connection
 Every 10 seconds (configurable)
- · Data is displayed in the analytics dashboard in an actionable format



Here is an overview of how FortiPresence works:

- 1. A smartphone emits a Wi-Fi probe signal, even if it is in a visitor's pocket and not connected to the Wi-Fi network.
- 2. FortiAP or FortiWiFi captures the MAC address and signal strength information from the smartphone.
- 3. Onsite APs or FortiLAN Cloud summarizes and forwards the data records.
- 4. FortiPresence service receives data.
- 5. FortiPresence analytics engine processes and correlates the data.
- 6. Data is displayed in the analytics dashboard in an actionable format.
- 7. Data collected can show dwell time, visit frequency, visit duration, foot traffic, visitor density, locations comparison, and more.
- 8. Information can be used to improve business and customer experience.

FURTINET

Training Institute

FortiPresence VM End-to-end analytics Deployed locally on site Consists of two virtual machines Infrastructure server for SQL service Application server to allow GUI access

- Presence and positioning analytics
- · Site and portal management

<complex-block><complex-block><complex-block><complex-block><complex-block>

Fortinet APs deployed at business establishments are leveraged to detect wireless signals for the customer. In a typical business setup, visitor smartphones and devices probe for wireless APs.

FortiPresence VM provides an end-to-end presence analytics solution deployed locally, on-premises. It supports all Fortinet wireless APs, whether they are managed by FortiGate or FortiAP Cloud wireless controllers. The APs send visitor data in the form of station reports directly to FortiPresence VM.

The customizable dashboards and reports provide real-time location trends and presence analytics with animated maps and video play options to view and compare visitor data across sites.

The sites can be located using Google maps for effective visitor data analysis. The visitor can log in to the Wi-Fi infrastructure using social media authentication, SMS-OTP authentication, or a customized visitor portal.

FortiPresence—Dashboard



The FortiPresence dashboard provides a summary view of presence analytics. It provides a customizable graphical representation of visitor, device, and site analytics for specific locations and date ranges. This provides a comprehensive data analytics of the consumer traffic patterns in the establishment. The aggregate trends depicted in the dashboard panels are recorded over a period as configured.

The APs through FortiGate and FortiLAN Cloud controllers send the aggregated client data (station reports) to the cloud analytics engine as per configured time intervals. The analytics engine processes this raw data which is then compiled into summary charts and statistics. This data is fetched and displayed on the dashboard when you access it. The panels displayed on the dashboard can be rearranged.

FortiPresence—Analytics

- · Gathers details on site visitors
- Compare current data with historical records
- Type of information such as:
 - Dwell time
 - Bounce rate
 - Engagement
 - Floor widget
 - · Device type breakdowns
 - Demographics breakdowns



FortiPresence collects information about the organization's visitors, such as details about devices and locations, and then presents that information as analytical reports. You can compare the data in the reports with previously recorded data to recognize trends as they occur, and then to correlate to events and initiatives being taken at the location.

The dashboard calculates the average statistics during the selected time range and displays it on the dashboard. The dashboard provides real-time data and analytics based on the following parameters:

• Dwell time

FURTINET

Training Institute

- Bounce rate
- Engagement
- Floor widget
- · Device type breakdowns
- · Demographics breakdowns

FURTINET

Training Institute

FortiPresence—Location Analytics

- Collects location data from FortiGate, FortiLAN Cloud
- Includes analytics, heat maps, and reporting
- Offers captive portal-based Wi-Fi access using Facebook, email, or phone number login
- Can be used in stores, shopping malls, airports, and so on, to get visitors' location and behavior data



FortiPresence provides presence and positioning analytics, leveraging existing onsite Fortinet APs to detect each visitor's smartphone Wi-Fi signal. FortiPresence users can gain insight into the behaviors of visitors within their site both in real-time and across time periods. Analytical data from FortiPresence can be used to increase business efficiencies, improve visitor experiences, and positively impact the bottom line of a business.
FortiPresence—Reports

- Different site and visitor report
- · Can be exported
 - CSV
 - PDF

F RTINET. Training Institute

- Reports can build
 - At a scheduled time
 - To be sent by email
- · Historical list of generated reports

fordFrames.						Auf entertainellane -
Daardooarda:	' Dor	wnload Report				Witness during warm
Departs	. 0	C, Ine if				G,
Weiter Reports		Notesta Tare 4	Paparta Name #	Unio	Towal 5	Goleration Date/Time +
Scient & Deports		a.	RUND.	Other Paralises	act.	202205/12/2023522
		31	and the second sec	for Report Party and Party	and in	202205355126547
approximation and	100	Set.	#31431	Catalan Serveyar Salacon	**	20200541-0215
a Managehard	1 -	WESP	Schook, and Weikton Report:	regilence weisch	R1	2022/05/54/22/5045
rain jask on	1	580	School, log 5 to Depart.	for Restorational comp	pe1	2023/06/14/22/1045
		-	Schools and Frie Report	Petition and general service	1	80250875724545
		with:	Indicate and Visitian Reports	fatilitate@getalaare	-	3000/A01220647
		úda.	School, list's to report	fatile (an englishing)	40	30330555325348
		Viz	Schools and Walker Report	for international community	ac!	2022/05/05/22/2049
		#232	Baltinda, Ind Weittan Report	Fall & Handport Schutzer a	et.	2020/06/22/2007
		Sas	Scheduled Stoc Report	facilitation registrations	ac1	2022405:573253240
						11/04/04 10017 12
STUTIET Compt	salate and salate	Specifications.				Li (beaut 1601) D
STITE? \ver	staderen n M	vaita y				Li Venet 19017 D meteoritesen mede

FortiPresence provides customizable standard report types that allow to generate and analyze visitor data for different time periods. You can create reports to view and download them for further analysis in the csv or pdf formats. These reports allow you to perform visitor, network, device, and site analysis at different time periods and for different geographic regions.

FortiPresence—Location Services Register AP in FortiPresence with • Registration information available **FortiPresence Cloud** location services in FortiPresence at Administration > AP E Dashboard AP can be linked through: • Access Points Management > License Details License Details B Reports FortiLAN Cloud Gaptive Portal Project ID i⊞ Site Management FortiGate 🗙 Admini Project Secret Key 09210400594046 Autogenerated project name and Email Notificatio ٠ Users Port 4013 III secret keys Location Server FOON location presence fortipet com FortiPresence location IP address • IP Address 34,245,252,61 and port Sync Licensed APs seynes the FortiPresence licensing information from ds to sync for the change to reflect in FortiPresence FortiPresence VM: Admin > Settings > Discovered APS Sync Licensed APs Threshold Discovered APs Fixed Assets Employee: Project Name : 035d37c51ede4e86 Project Secret Key : 62246e88ba084a Information required from FortiPresence VM to configure Location Server 10.0.1.170 Port 4013 Сору FortiAP profile FURTINET © Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. Training Institute

The FortiPresence registration process requires obtaining autogenerated information for projects to link discovered APs in FortiPresence. The project name and secret key as well as FortiPresence IP and port numbers are values that you enter when configuring FortiAP profiles if managed by FortiGate, or the location service, if managed by FortiLAN Cloud.

21

FortiPresence—Site Management

- Presence analytics site management
- Uses Google maps integrated UI
- Type of items to add:
 - Sites
 - Buildings
 - Floors
 - Areas
- · Areas require floor definition



FERTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 22

FortiPresence provides data and analytics based on demographic segmentation and visitor movement between areas. These analytics require you to define and manage the site plan where the APs are broadcasting.

This geographical data analysis provides real-time insights into user behavior. The location view of the FortiPresence GUI incorporate Google maps UI to mark locations of the sites and buildings.

Visual floor plans can be uploaded for each building to provide analytics for each floor and for each area that the floor is divided into.

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET

FURTINET

Training Institute

FortiPresence—Site Management (Contd)

- Floor creation requires a floor plan
- Area can be specified based on known distance specified
- · Add fixed assets, such as printers
- Import linked discovered AP
- Specify received signal strength indication (RSSI)
- Set effective radiated power (EIRP)



After the floor plan is created, the area design will be based on the selected distance specification that is set using red pointers on the floor map.

As the area gets defined, assets become available to drag and drop. On the floor plan, you can add fixed assets, such as printers and cameras, by dragging and dropping them on the actual location of the asset.

When dragging and dropping the AP, you are prompted to enter the minimum RSSI cutoff value and the EIRP values.

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET

FortiPresence—Social Wi-Fi

- Captive portal
- Guest Wi-Fi
- Social networking credentials
- Demographic information



F RTINET Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 24

In our connected world, people have been conditioned to expect Wi-Fi access almost anywhere they go. ForiPresence makes providing guest Wi-Fi easy. In addition, the FortiPresence captive portal can be configured to use social networking logins. Depending on user settings, this can give FortiPresence access to additional demographic information about your visitors (such as gender identity or age).

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET

FortiPresence—License

· Available in two options

- · Free tier: limited sites and data retention per account
- · Paid tier: offers one year data retention and unlimited sites per account

Feature	Unlicensed (Free)	Licensed (Paid)	
Number of sites	1	Unlimited	
Number of APs	15	Unlimited	
Data retention	7 days	1 year	
Concurrent captive portal sessions	200	Unlimited	
Site reports and user management	N/A	Yes	
Social media authentication	Paid per site	Paid per site	
Captive portal customization	Paid per site	Paid per site	
Theme and images for captive portal	Yes	Yes	
)ET.		© Fortinet Inc. Al	Right

FortiPresence is available in two options: free tier (unlicensed) and paid tier (licensed). Both solutions are hosted on cloud or on-premises. The cloud-based solution comes with no additional onsite hardware to purchase or install, and can be used with any Fortinet wireless management solution.

The table provides a comparison between free tier and paid tier and highlights the features available on each option.

Knowledge Check

- 1. Which suite does the FortiPresence cloud solution belong to?
 - ✓A. FortiCloud
 - B. Public Cloud Security
- 2. What is defined first in the FortiPresence site management process?
 - A. Country information
 - ✓B. Site location

F**BRTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 26



Lesson Progress



Congratulations! You have completed this lesson.

Now, you will review the objectives that you covered in this lesson.

Review

- Learn how to monitor rogue access points (APs)
- Understand how to use scanning methods
- ✓ Explore FortiPresence
- Learn about best practices

F CRTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 28

This slide shows the objectives that you covered in this lesson.

By mastering the objectives covered in this lesson, you learned about the monitoring the wireless network and detect rogue APs and other threats as well as exploring location service on FortiPresence to monitor wireless users in the wireless network.



In this lesson, you will learn about the advance wireless features and Wi-Fi monitoring tools.



In this lesson, you will learn about the topics shown on this slide.



After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objectives shown on this slide.

By demonstrating competence in advanced wireless features, you will be able to use the FortiAP advanced settings for better functionality and more effective wireless network monitoring.

Advanced Wireless Features

- Enable advanced features to make them visible on the GUI
- Some core features, such as WIDS, move under different section on GUI
- Some of the advanced features added onto the GUI such as:
 - QoS profiles
 - L3 firewall profiles
 - FortiAP configuration profiles
- Created advanced wireless profiles are then assigned as follows:
 - QoS and L3 firewall profiles in SSID interface settings
 - FortiAP configuration profiles in managed FortiAP settings

F RTINET.

oystem + i cuture -	Visibility			_	
eature Visibility					
Core Features		Additional Features			
Advanced Routing	٠	Advanced Wireless Features			
IPv6	0	Allow Unnamed Policies			
C Switch Controller (0	Certificates			
C VPN	٥	DNS Database	0		
C WiFi Controller	•	C DoS Policy	0		
Airtime weight	20	0			
Airtime weight	20	0			
QoS profile	C) QoS profile	-			
	C 12 for manual 1	profile 🔻			
L3 firewall profile	E Connewant				
L3 firewall profile	controllo				
L3 firewall profile	controlle	r > Managed FortiAPs			
L3 firewall profile Wireless & Switch Wireless Settings		r > Managed FortiAPs			
L3 frewall profile Wireless & Switch Wireless Settings FortiAP profile	Controlle FAP231F	r > Managed FortiAPs			
L3 frewall profile Wireless & Switch Wireless Settings FortiAP profile FortiAP configuration profile Devices and the setting of the setting o	Controlle FAP231F	r > Managed FortiAPs			

To simplify the site layout, advanced wireless features are hidden. You can enable advanced wireless features in the **Feature Visibility** section.

After the advanced wireless profiles are created, you can then assign QoS and L3 firewall profiles in the SSID interface settings. FortiAP configuration profiles are assigned within the managed FortiAP settings.

F RTINET. Training Institute

L3 Firewall Profile

- Configure Wi-Fi bridge access control list
- Available as part of wireless protection profiles
- Available for IPv4 and IPv6
- Assign profile in SSID settings

SS N	ame Br	idge Access				
IF	Pv4 rule list + Create new	🖋 Edit 🔟 Delet	e			
	Source 🖨	Destination \$	Action	n \$	Rules configu	red to speci
	Local LAN	Any	Allow		and IANA pro	tocol numbers
IF	v6 rule list			Edit IPv4 Rule		
	+ Create new Source \$	 ✓ Edit III Delet Destination ≑ 	Action	ID Comment	1	0
		No results		Source address Source port Destination address	Any Local LAN Specify 0 Any Local LAN Specify	0
				Destination port IANA protocol number	0 255	0
				Action	Allow Deny	

You can configure a bridge access control list in the layer 3 firewall profile as part of the advanced wireless features.

The access lists are rules that allow or deny IPv4 and IPv6 traffic that matches the configured policy. You can specify the IP address, port numbers, and Internet Assigned Numbers Authority (IANA) protocol numbers in the layer 3 firewall rule list.

L3 firewall profiles are assigned in SSID settings as part of the advanced wireless settings.



Creating a QoS profile helps to set up different QoS parameters for voice, video, data wireless networks, or guest and employee wireless networks.

FortiGate can preserve the Wi-Fi multimedia (WMM) QoS marking of packets by translating them to differentiated services code point (DSCP) values when forwarding upstream.

When a wireless client sends QoS packets with WMM priority categories such as AC_VO, AC_VI, AC_BE, and AC_BK, FortiAP can forward these packets by translating WMM to DSCP values and transmitting the packets from the Ethernet to their destination.

QoS profiles are assigned in SSID settings as part of the advanced wireless settings.

FortiAP Configuration Profiles

- Define local configuration on a FortiAP family platform using commands
 - FortiAP
 - FortiAP-U
 - FortiAP-C
- Can set these commands to the discovery type on FortiAP
- Create a command list to apply to local FortiAP configuration
 - If password is set on FortiAP, you must define the password
 - Review available commands using CLI command config wireless-controller apcfg-profile
- Assign profile in FortiAP managed settings

FERTINET. Training Institute

ew FortlA	P Configura	ation Profile				
Name		Configure dis	covery type			
Commen	rt					
FartiAPT	amily	FortiAP For	tiAP U FortiAP	С		
Comman	d list					and the Bart of the second second
+ Cre	eate new	🖋 Edit 🗊	Delete		Cre	eate a list of commands
ID 🗘	Na	me ‡	Type ‡	Value \$	and	configuration of FortiAP
1	AC_DISC	OVERY_TYPE	Non-password	1	und	oormgaration of Forth a
2	AC_IPAE	DR_1	Non-password	10.0.13.254		
Wireless	Controller					
Wailing	lime	10		0		
Type		Default Sp	ecity Defined By	y FortiAP Configu	ration	

Another advanced wireless setting is the FortiAP configuration profile. You can create a profile based on a FortiAP platform and define local settings and configurations using a set of commands.

Each profile is associated with a specific FortiAP family platform. This means you can use a profile for FortiAP 231F and FortiAP 233F since both are on the same FortiAP platform.

To create a command list, you can set the commands available for local configuration using the CLI, such as the command to set AC_DISCOVERY_TYPE and AC_IPADDR_1. For all available commands, refer to the list of commands available on the CLI.

You can assign a FortiAP profile on the managed FortiAP settings page.

Guest Access Overview

- FortiOS provides multiple ways to securely manage guest access for wireless networks
 - Guest SSID
 - · Allows configuration of separate guest networks, security profiles, firewall policies, and user authentication
 - Internal captive portal
 - · Provides a landing page before access is allowed to the network
 - Guest management
 - · Allows configuration of temporary guest accounts
 - · External captive portal
 - · Redirects guests to an external URL for authentication, disclaimer, and so on

F**BRTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved.

FortiGate provides multiple ways to securely manage guest access for wireless networks. You can deploy a completely separate wireless network using the existing hardware. FortiGate uses virtual AP (VAP) to deploy multiple SSIDs that are completely isolated from each other. This allows you to have complete control over the traffic, including the ability to assign firewall policies, security profiles, and so on.

FortiGate also has a local captive portal that you can use as a landing page for guests before they are allowed to access the network or local resources. To manage secure guest access, FortiGate offers local guest management tools that you can use to temporarily create and distribute guest accounts. Alternatively, you can redirect guests to an external captive portal server for authentication, disclaimer, and so on. FortiGate will allow access to resources only after it receives a valid response from the external server.

Guest SSID

- · Deploy a separate guest wireless network without adding additional hardware
 - FortiAP supports deployment of multiple wireless LANs using same hardware
- · FortiOS provides full control over guest authentication and traffic
 - You should use tunnel SSIDs to deploy guest network
 - Provides better security and more control over guest traffic
- Captive portal page can be used to provide disclaimer and/or authentication page
 Internal or external captive portal
- · Control where guest SSID is available
 - · Apply guest SSID to APs only where you expect guests

F CRTINET.

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 9

You should deploy a separate service set identifier (SSID) server to guests that do not require access to a corporate or private network. You can deploy multiple SSIDs using the same hardware. Separate SSIDs mean that you will have full control over network traffic flow. You should deploy a guest access SSID in tunnel mode to ensure that all traffic is sent to FortiGate using a Control and Provisioning of Wireless Access Points (CAPWAP) data control channel. This ensures that FortiGate maintains full control over the traffic flow, and can apply security profiles to eliminate security threats before placing traffic on the egress interface.

You can use a local or external captive portal to provide guests with a landing page. You can also use a captive portal to display a disclaimer, or authenticate guest users using guest accounts, or both. Because you will be using a separate wireless network for guest access, you can choose to broadcast the network on access points (APs) that are installed in locations where you expect guest users to be.

Be careful not to transmit too many SSIDs. Excessive numbers of SSIDs can impact wireless performance, and you should carefully plan the number and use of wireless networks. This subject is covered in another lesson.

Captive Portal

- Mostly used for guest network access
- Used as a landing page when accessing resources on a network
 - Disclaimer
 - Authentication page
 - Terms of use
- System grants user access only after the user accepts the disclaimer or successfully authenticates using the captive portal
- · Can be applied to a wired or wireless interface

F::RTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 10

The captive portal is used as a landing page after a user connects to a network. This is mostly used for guest access and networks that require a disclaimer. You can also authenticate your users on a captive portal page that requests the user's name and password. Until the user authenticates successfully, the authentication page is returned in response to any HTTP request. After successful authentication, the user can access the requested URL and can access other web resources, as permitted by security policies. Optionally, the captive portal itself can allow web access only to the members of a specified user group.

Captive Portal Types

- Three types of captive portal:
 - Authentication: Users are prompted to supply login credentials
 - · Disclaimer + Authentication: Users must accept a disclaimer and authenticate using valid credentials
 - Disclaimer Only: Users need to accept the disclaimer page-local only

SSID for linet Client limit Broadcast SSID				
Beacon advertising 🗌 Name	e 🗆 Model	Serial number		
Security mode Settings Security mode Portal type Authentication portal User groups Exempt sources Exempt destinations/services	Cuptive Portal Authentication Authentication Disclaimer + Authentication Disclaimer Only +	·		
Redirect after Captive Portal	Original Request Specific URI			

There are four types of captive portals that you can enable on an interface: **Authentication**, **Disclaimer + Authentication**, and **Disclaimer Only**.

Authentication type captive portals request users to authenticate before they are allowed access to the network.

Disclaimer + authentication type captive portals present users with a disclaimer page and an authentication page. The user must accept a disclaimer and authenticate successfully in order to get network access.

Disclaimer only captive portals present users with a disclaimer page. Users do *not* have to authenticate using a username and password; they are allowed to access the network after they accept the disclaimer.

Email collection captive portals present users with a disclaimer page together with a mandatory email request field. Users cannot gain access without entering an email address. The emails are collected and are displayable in FortiGate Dashboard > Users & Devices > Collected Email. You have to enable Email Collection in the Feature Visibility section.

Captive Portal Authentication Types

- Authentication types:
 - Local: FortiGate presents the user with a login page and processes authentication requests
 - **External**: FortiGate redirects users to an external URL where the external captive portal server presents the user with a login page and validates authentication

	WiFi & Switch Cor	ntroller > SSIDs			
	WiFi Settings				
	SSID fortinel				
	Client limit				
	Broadcast SSID 🜑				
	Beacon advertising 🗌 Name	e 🗌 Model	Challenge u	inauthenticated user's method	
	Security Mode Settings				
	Security mode	Captive Portal			
	Portal type	Authentication 👻	Whe	ere captive portal is located	
	Authentication portal	Local External			
	User groups	nttps://factrainingad.training.tab/porta/	Authe	enticated users must be tof the specified group	
	Exempt sources	+			
	Exempt destinations/services	FortiAuthenticator *	External	captive portal server addresses	
	Redirect after Captive Portal	Original Request Specific URL			
F				© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved	12
Training Institute				e i orallet inc. Air rughts rueserveu.	.2

If you select **Authentication** in the **Portal Type** field, you will have the option of selecting **Local** or **External** in the **Authentication portal** field. If you select **Local** in the **Authentication portal** field FortiGate will use the built-in portal page. All portal configuration options, including the web page that is presented to the users as a landing page, are hosted on FortiGate.

For external captive portals, you can select **External** in the **Authentication portal** field, and type the FQDN or IP address of the external captive portal server. When you do this, FortiGate redirects users to the specified server address. After the user meets the requirements of the external captive portal server, FortiGate allows user access based on the firewall policy configurations.

Captive Portal—Exempt Destinations/Services

- · Exempting captive portal traffic
 - May have to exempt traffic for captive portal authentication



By default, FortiGate blocks all traffic from users behind an interface that has the security mode set to captive portal. All HTTP traffic is redirected to the captive portal page and other traffic is blocked. However, there is an option to exempt certain traffic to flow through FortiGate without fulfilling captive portal conditions, such as disclaimers and/or authentication.

If you are using an external captive portal server, you must configure a firewall policy and exempt web traffic to the external captive portal IP address. You can exempt destination IP addresses and services on the SSID or interface configuration page. Add the address objects of the destinations that you want to exempt in the **Exempt Destinations/Services** section. Just selecting and applying the address object and selecting the services is not enough to allow the traffic to pass through FortiGate. You must also have a corresponding firewall policy in place to allow the pinhole traffic to pass the through FortiGate.

Therefore, this is a two-step process:

- 1. Select the destination and services on the SSID or interface configuration page in the **Exempt Destinations/Services** field.
- 2. Create a firewall policy on the captive portal interface where the external captive portal server is located. You do not have to specify destination objects in the firewall policy.

You can also specify the source IP addresses that you would like to exempt from the captive portal. This can be useful for devices that are unable to accept captive portal conditions using HTTP/HTTPs but require an internet connection. For example, a printer might need to access the internet for firmware upgrades, and so on.

/// 0/1023

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved.

14

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET

Captive Portal—Firewall Policy Method

An alternative method to exempt captive portal traffic
 Create a firewall policy

 Enable the Exempt from Captive Portal option

 Advanced section visible by enabling policy advanced options in System > Feature Visibility

F**CR**TINET. Training Institute

Alternatively, you can configure a separate firewall policy to allow traffic to reach the external captive portal server without authenticating on the captive portal interface.

Create a firewall policy and set the destination to your captive portal server, and any other required servers such as DNS or Windows AD. On the CLI, edit the firewall policy rule and enable the exempt from captive portal option on the policy. This option instructs FortiGate to allow traffic to pass through to the specified destinations, without forcing users to authenticate first.

You can use an IP address or an FQDN to point to the captive portal server. If HTTPs is being enforced, the portal address needs to be an FQDN, and match the common name (CN) on the certificate that is being used on FortiGate.

F RTINET. Training Institute

Firewall Policy

- Deploy a firewall policy for authenticated users only
 - Apply the user group that guests will be part of
 - FortiGate authorizes only users who are part of the specified groups to access the internet
 - Do not enable Exempt from Captive Portal option for this policy

Name 📵	Guest internet access		
Incoming Interface	♥ forfinet (GuestAccess)	-	
Outgoing Interface	🛅 port1	•	
Source	🗉 all	×	
	Guest-group	×	
Destination	9 all	×	
	+		
Schedule	lo always	-	
Service		×	
	₩ HITTPS +	×	
Action	V ACCEPT Ø DENY		
Firewall/Network Op	otions		
NAT	•		
IP Pool Configuration	Use Outgoing Interface A	ddress Use Dyn	amic IP Pool
Preserve Source Port	E C10		
Protocol Options	PROT default	- 1	

Create a firewall policy from the guest interface to the internet. If you are using a guest user group, make sure you assign it to the firewall policy as the **Source User Group**. When you do this, FortiGate allows access to the internet only for authenticated users who are part of that group.

Do not enable the **Exempt from Captive Portal** option on this firewall policy; otherwise, all the traffic to the internet will be allowed without the users being presented with a captive portal page.

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved.

DO NOT REPRINT © FOR HNE I **External Captive Portal Workflow** 0 1. Request an internet page 2. Redirect to captive portal page 3. FortiAuthenticator captive portal 4. Submit login 5. FortiAuthenticator instructs user browser to POST login credentials to FortiGate 6. Client POSTs login to FortiGate 7. Access-Request 8. Access-Accept 9. Accounting-Request 10. Accounting-Response 11. FortiAuthenticator redirects user to the original URL 12. Client allowed access to the internet

1. The client tries to access a website.

FERTINET

Training Institute

- 2. The initial HTTP traffic is intercepted by the FortiGate wireless controller and redirected to the FortiAuthenticator web login page defined in the FortiGate captive portal profile.
- 3. FortiAuthenticator presents the user with a login page.
- 4. The client enters their user credentials on the FortiAuthenticator web login page.
- 5. The login message instructs the guest user's browser to submit the user credentials directly to the FortiGate as an HTTPS POST for authentication processing.
- 6. When FortiGate receives the client credentials in the HTTPS POST, it sends a RADIUS Access-Request to the FortiAuthenticator RADIUS server to authenticate the user.
- FortiAuthenticator validates the Access-Request message using its user database, which can be local or remote (LDAP/RADIUS).
- 8. Based on the results of the authentication and authorization processing, FortiAuthenticator responds with either an Access-Accept or Access-Reject message. If the authentication is successful, the Access-Accept message contains one or more RADIUS attributes to define the context of the client session. These attributes can include, but are not limited to: session duration, bandwidth, and access permissions. When FortiGate receives the Access-Accept message, it changes the role of the client session allowing the device access to the network.
- 9. A RADIUS accounting request is sent by FortiGate to FortiAuthenticator to verify whether the user has already established a session, or if an existing session in progress.
- 10. A RADIUS accounting response is sent back after the accounting record is written on FortiAuthenticator after the request has been verified.
- 11. Following a successful authentication and initiation of the user session, the client is redirected to the originally requested URL, which should now be accessible.
- 12. The user can access the website and a countdown for the captive portal session timeout begins.

FURTINET.

Training Institute

HTTPS POST

- Uses HTTPS instead of HTTP for user authentication
 - Users credentials are protected by an SSL tunnel
- Configurable using the CLI
- The default port used for HTTPS authentication is 1003
 - If required, you can change this port on the CLI:

config system settings	
set auth-https-port	{integer}
end	

r user	Authentication Settings
an SSL	Authentication scheme Captive portal type Captive portal
	User Authentication Options Authentication timeout Protocol support HTTP HTTP FTP FTP FTP FTP FTP FTP FTP FTP FTP
t on the	HIPredirect Certificate Continue_Factory
	Redirects the user browser HTTP challenge to HTTPS
	© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved.

During the redirection process, user credentials can be communicated, secured, and encrypted, to the captive portal server. You can configure authentication to use HTTP over SSL.

The default port used for HTTPS authentication is 1003. If you need to change the port, you can use the CLI command auth-https-port value located in config system global.

Authentication Certificate

- By default, FortiGate presents users with a factory default certificate on the authentication page
- · An alternative certificate can be specified from FortiManager

	Harry & Authentication > Authentication Cattings	
	Authentication > Authentication Settings	
	Authentication scheme Captive portal type EQDN IP Captive portal	
	User Authentication Options	
	Protocol support In HTTP IN HTTPS FTP	
	HTTP redirect 🕄 ඟ Certificate 🖤 🕶 FortInet_Factory	
	Select previously uploaded certificate	
F ::RTINET. Training Institute		© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 18

If you redirect the authentication page to an HTTPS page, FortiGate presents the currently configured server certificate.

Note that this certificate is different from the Wi-Fi certificate. This certificate secures the captive portal webpage; the Wi-Fi certificate identifies and authenticates the controller when it is operating as the authentication server.

The FortiGate factory certificate is self signed and will generate a certificate warning in the guest's browser. Most administrators would want to avoid this. In the previous module, you saw how you could install certificates on FortiGate using FortiManager. You can use the same process to install a publicly signed certificate that you can specify here. Assuming the browser trusts this certificate, this will prevent the worrying certificate warnings.

Captive Portal POST Parameters	
 FortiGate pushes the following POST parameters to the external captive 2 	portal server
https://fac.trainingad.training.lab/guests/login/?login{post=https://auth.t. ning.lab:1003/fgtauth.magic=000a038293d1f4114usermac=b8:27:eb:d8:50:02&apmac 0d:28&apip=10.10.100.2&userip=10.0.3.1&s 3 Guest03&apname=PS221ETF18000148 5:9d:0d:30	rainingad.trai c=70:4c:a5:9d: &bssid=70:4c:a
 External server address IP address or FQDN FQDN is required for HTTPS for certificate validation 	
 2. FortiGate IP address or FQDN By default, this uses HTTP and the FortiGate interface IP address Use the config firewall auth-portal setting to enable the use of FQDN FQDN needs to resolve to the IP address of the FortiGate interface where captive portal setting to enable the use of FQDN 	ortal is enabled
3. Session ID = Magic ID	
F SRTINET Training Institute	© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 19

When FortiGate redirects a user to the external captive server, it adds the parameters shown on this slide to the HTTPS request. You can easily decode the information that FortiGate provides to the external captive portal server. The first part of the redirected URL includes the external server's address, followed by the address of the FortiGate interface address that has the captive portal enabled on it. The magic parameter is the session ID that is used to track the request information.

© FORTINET DOST Parameters POST Parameters that FortiGate sends to the external server: apname=P321CR3X16000103 apip=10.10.100.2 ssid=Guest01 bssid=90:6c:ac:3f:3e:28 apmac=90:6c:ac:3f:3e:18 usermac=e4:a4:71:80:bc:27 device_type=windows-pc userip=10.0.3.1 magic=06090a8f989d0517 login= post=http://10.0.3.254:1000/fgtauth

F CRTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 20

This slide contains a list of all the parameters that are sent to the external captive portal from a wireless network on FortiGate.

FortiAP BLE Scanning

- FortiGate configures FortiAP BLE scanning
 - Provides information of scanned peripherals
 - Enables location-based services
- FortiAP scans BLE beacons such as:
 - Museums
 - Malls
 - Stadiums
- FortiAP sends BLE beacons data to FortiGate
 - To process relevant content for wireless users
 - Enhance wireless users' experience
- · Assign a BLE profile in a FortiAP profile
- Configure a BLE profile on the CLI using the commands shown on this slide

F::RTINET. Training Institute \$\$\$ config wireless-controller ble-profile edit "fortiap-discovery" set ibeacon-uuid "wtp-uuid" set major-id 2000 set txpower 0 set ble-scanning enable next end

Some FortiAP models with built-in Bluetooth radios are configured by the wireless controller to perform BLE scanning and integrate with several BLE beacon profiles.

FortiAP scans wireless beacons that are found in museums, malls, and stadiums while wireless users are visiting these locations. FortiAP collects the BLE beacons data and sends it to FortiGate to process information related to the location service, and uses additional resources such as Pole Star and Eddystone to provide reports about the wireless users' experience on site.

You can assign a BLE profile to a FortiAP profile or override managed FortiAP settings to specify BLE major and minor parameters, which are used for iBeacon provisioning for real-time location system (RTLS) deployments.

Knowledge Check

- 1. Which advanced wireless profiles can you assign in the managed FortiAP configuration?
 - A. QoS profiles
 - ✓B. FortiAP configuration profiles
- 2. Which port is the default for authentication in a captive portal when HTTP redirect is enabled?
 - ✓A. HTTPS 1003
 - B. HTTP 8080

F CRTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 22



Good job! You now understand some advanced wireless features.

Now, you will learn about Wi-Fi monitoring.



After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objectives shown on this slide.

By demonstrating competence in monitoring Wi-Fi, you will be able to monitor your wireless network and FortiAP device performance.

Managed FortiAPs Table

- Located under Wi-Fi & Switch
 Controller
- Displays detailed information about the installed FortiAPs
- View by AP
 - Right-click on column headers and add **Channel Utilization**
- View by Radio
 - Sort all radios by utilization and station load
- View by Group
 - Place APs in separate groups
- Both AP and Radio view show:
 - Radio utilization (when column added)
 - Client count

FERTINET. Training Institute

		8	1 Breat		•		TCI Pr UH 1 Histori	Channel Indian Bl	
Overanez + Pitch. F Aucos 1 n.4	aha shaha talan i MM	lophia All (2) is silwest	nai (69 sed. Gatet	W % Jan ₽	1	ш.	SALAD THORE 2	Q Harger D Extre Security 72	
фолим () Конструкцион	Callenter ND Callenter ND Cha	00 T 10 SU 10 No	er i dit	of filling birds	Led WANHOR	MICAS TOD	P2MIN and	Mp-11	
Contre B Rossi (Contre Data		MA Dires Dires	☑ Delete	iun 🔸	Noti DPowigha	er la ne	PENEVENE		
Right-click to see more information			Register Assign Profile Diagnostics Show to Will	► s and loois	Select alternative views				
	fartsPillers ■Cetta ∎rete	*	IFD Blink >= I dit in CII >= Connect to	сц <u>А</u>	00¢		fa INA ITANYO ITANYO ITANYO ITANYO	ллай лин — Ф м. — Ф м. — Ф м. — Ф м. — Ф	
tan an I An I a	5 (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)	C + ++++ 0 C ++++,0	tan.	140.15	K 10	les \$	MARYS	Q Second Destroy	
C Crite C Crite C Crite	TARCHIT-Hefwill TARCHIT-Hefwill ALCHIT-Hefwill	Although visite 32 Although visite 32 BAR (1)	152 S 175 1 S	11174G 8 12013G 8 154	242 F 13 F	907 (1007)2 907 (1007) 907 (1007)2 907 (Anzer Point Anzer Point Dra Washing	5195 152	

On FortiGate, the Managed FortiAPs table contains useful information about the status of connected APs.

Found under Wi-Fi & Switch Controller > Managed FortiAPs, the table provides three different views.

The AP view is the default view and groups radio interfaces together under an AP.

The **Radio** view is more useful for assessing load because it allows you to sort the radios to highlight interfaces that are in trouble. Note that you can add useful columns, such as **Channel Utilization**, to a view.

Managed FortiAP table (Contd)

and selecting View More D	etails	Utagraphics and Tools 1+ V20FT+20082217				
 Access to important radio a metrics Wireless health Wireless capacity 	nd AP	** krozni hizarzała ** kid Numdus ** Bid Numdus ** Krozni hizarzała ** Krozni hizarzała ** Krozni hizarzała ** Krozni hizarza		Construit Construit Construit Chapt Construit Chapter Con	Color-coded health indicators	
• Spectrum Analysis—If AP capable and configured	is	Performance Cliera Iostile Ratio 1 2	in Madaine SCDs - Wiff Map <mark>Tao - C</mark> T scholf	c. C. Identi 7-555 (c.) 11 ddf Saradi mir Andyra MIAN Proba Clanis		
 CLI Access—Direct access CLI 	s to AP	a principalitana				
 Wireless Logs—Detailed operation log 	Dial O Q forenth Data/Time Level Action 200407181054421 Second Cenne 200407181054421 Second Cenne 200407181054421 Second Cenne 200407181054421 Second Cenne 200407181054427 Second Cenne	US MBps	Disk - (0) 1 mor + (1) Details 93D Charat detci Subdet17 500 Subdet17 500 Subdet17 500 Gilder Subdet17 Subdet17 150 Subdet17 100 Gilder Subdet17 Subdet17 100 Gilder Subdet17			
- RTINET	<u></u>		0% 14	© Fortinet Inc.	All Rights Reserved.	

When you right-click an AP, you get the option to select **View More Details**. You can see a more detailed summary of the individual AP details and can perform basic actions on the AP, such as upgrade, restart, or deauthorize. It is also possible to edit the configuration directly, which will override the profile settings.

You will see color-coded health indicators in the upper-right corner, which will give you an immediate indication as to the status of the AP and its radios. The colors indicate the severity of the issue, using the colors red, green, and yellow to indicate the severity.

The table shows the configuration and the status of the radios by default. The **Clients** tab shows all the clients that are associated with the AP. You can also drill down into the individual clients, if required. The logs view filters the wireless events just for this AP. Double-click on an event to view the event details.

The **CLI Access** option gives you direct access to the AP CLI. If the AP is capable of and configured for dedicated operation, then you will be able to enable spectrum analysis. Not all APs are capable of spectrum analysis—refer to the release notes for more information. The **Spectrum Analysis** view shows the real-time view of the wireless spectrum, together with any detected interferers.

Wi-Fi Clients

- Detailed client information for all clients currently connected
- Use to assess the client health from the AP point of view
- Provides a small amount of historical information for:
 - Bandwidth
 - Signal-to-noise ratio (SNR)
- Detailed connection log
 - Station connection errors
 - Wireless connection events
 - DHCP events
 - Filterable

FURTINET

Training Institute

Exportable



Select a station in the client list. Then, right-click and select **Diagnostics and Tools** to open diagnostics about a station.

From here, you can perform basic actions, such as quarantining or disassociating a workstation. The health icons are color-coded and will give an immediate indication of any issues, such as poor signal strength or SnR.

There is an option to display a graph which, by default, will show bandwidth but can also show SnR. The graphing is limited to approximately 10 minutes of data.

If you select the **Logs** tab is possible to see a logical log of a station connection events. This log is useful for quickly diagnosing common connectivity issues, such as incorrect passwords or pre-shared keys, because the association and authentication steps the wireless client performs are listed in the log. You can see details of each log event by clicking **Details** to see more information about any failures.

Filter the log and export its contents into a text file for a more detailed analysis.
Wi-Fi Dashboard

- Display widgets to monitor wireless connections
- See an overview of FortiAPs, SSIDs, and clients
- See the bands, radios, and Wi-Fi standards used
- · Widgets available:
 - FortiAP Status
 - Channel Utilization
 - Clients By FortiAP
 - Signal Strength
 - Rogue APs
 - Historical Clients
 - Interfering SSIDs
 - Login Failures

FERTINET. Training Institute



You can see an overview of the wireless devices on the Wi-Fi dashboard. The Wi-Fi dashboard uses widgets to provide a comprehensive view of the health of your network's wireless infrastructure.

The following widgets are available on the dashboard:

- FortiAP Status: Monitor the status of FortiAP devices, both online and offline, and channel utilization.
- **Channel Utilization**: Monitor the radio channel utilization for each FortiAP, and display the number of clients on each channel.
- **Clients By FortiAP**: Monitor the number of clients per FortiAP, and display the Wi-Fi standard used to connect with clients.
- Signal Strength: Monitor the signal strength of Wi-Fi clients and of each band broadcasted.
- Rogue APs: Monitor rogue APs and interfering SSIDs.
- Historical Clients: Monitor the number of Wi-Fi clients in real time over the selected time frame.
- Interfering SSIDs: Monitor FortiAPs that are reporting interfering APs and SSIDs.
- Login Failures: Monitor failed Wi-Fi login attempts on all SSIDs.

Wi-Fi Map

FURTINET

Training Institute

- Create multiple Wi-Fi maps
- Upload a map image using common image file types
- Place FortiAP devices on a map
- Access FortiAP diagnostics and tools

Wi-Fi & Switch Controller > WiFi Maps UM4 Maparage D Die Hagig Maparage D Die Hagigg Magig anweise Discher Discher ← Hourpla 60 đĐ. Mar Parking All Burds - 4 Citari Count - Churnes Bro 🚔 Joek Map – 💐 Lithe Names Q Score Q 000 000 000 Li BadiAPlaj Upcadade0044600 Q © Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 29

You can place FortiAP devices on a custom map that you upload, such as an office floor plan. Wi-Fi maps show the real-time statuses of and alerts for FortiAP devices so that you can quickly see the location and status of each FortiAP device on the map.

FortiAP devices on the map provide radio channels and frequencies. You can access FortiAP device diagnostics and tools when you click a FortiAP device.

Knowledge Check

1. Which widget provides information about channel use?

A. Interfering SSIDs

B. Channel Utilization

F**BRTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 30



Good job! You now understand how to monitor wireless network and FortiAP performance.

Now, you will learn about FortiAP API.



After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objective shown on this slide.

By demonstrating competence in using FortiAP API, you will be to use REST API calls on FortiAP to monitor and apply changes, as required.

REST API

- REST API integration is supported on FortiAP
- · Uses HTTP methods to handle requests
- Two API specifications:
 - CMDB
 - Monitor API
- Two ways to authenticate against the API
 - Session-based authentication
 - Token-based authentication

F**BRTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 33

An API is a set of clearly defined methods of communication between various software components. Web APIs are typically used for communication with web servers or web browsers.

Representational state transfer (REST) is an architectural style often used in the development of web services. It uses lightweight communications between a producer and consumer, making it a popular building style for cloud-based APIs. When web services use REST architecture, they are called RESTful APIs or REST APIs.

FortiAP REST API uses HTTP requests to target specific objects. This results in a much simpler and cleaner interface. There are two API specifications—CMDB API and monitor API.

- CMDB API is used to retrieve and modify CLI configurations, such as creating, editing, and deleting objects.
- Monitor API is used to perform specific actions on endpoint resources, such as restarting, shutting down, and backing up and restoring the configuration file.

There are two ways users can authenticate API REST calls on FortiAP:

- 1. Session-based authentication: The authentication is valid per login session.
- 2. Token-based authentication: The authentication is done through a single API token.

DO NOT REPRINT © F<mark>ORTINET</mark>

API REST Calls

REST Call using GET HTTP method	
Method	Path
List effective variables	https://10.0.13.3/api/v1/cfg-get
List all variables	https://10.0.13.3/api/v1/cfg-meta-get
Get current radios configuration	https://10.0.13.3/api/v1/radio-cfg
Get system performance values	https://10.0.13.3/api/v1/sys-perf
Get system status	https://10.0.13.3/api/v1/sys-status
Get current SSIDs	https://10.0.13.3/api/v1/vap-cfg
Get current FortiAP configuration	https://10.0.13.3/api/v1/wtp-cfg
REST Call using POST HTTP method	
Method	Path
Add or change variables	https://10.0.13.3/api/v1/cfg-set
Reboot FortiAP	https://10.0.13.3/api/v1/reboot
F BRTINET . Training Institute	

The slide shows a list of API REST calls using GET and POST HTTP methods.

Knowledge Check

1. Which method does FortiAP API use to handle requests? ✓A. HTTP

B. FTP

F**BRTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 35



Good job! You now understand how to use FortiAP API.

Now, you will learn about wireless logging.



After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objectives shown on this slide.

By demonstrating competence in configuring syslog on the FortiAP profile and understanding Wi-Fi event logs, you will be able to effectively analyze the logs and take the actions required to troubleshoot Wi-Fi issues.

WiFi & Switch Controller > FortiAP Profiles

SYSLOG PROFILE

New Wireless Syslog Profile

Name

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET

Syslog Profile

- FortiAP can send logs to the syslog server
- Available within FortiAP profile settings
 - Possibly assigned in multiple FortiAP profiles
- Specify the log level in the syslog profile
- Use the CLI to specify the port number

	•	Comments	////		
		Server type	IP FQDN		
		IP	10.0.1.210		
<pre>config wireless-controller syslog-profile edit "SYSLOG_PROFILE" set server-port 514 next end</pre>		Log level Status	Debug Emergency Alert Critical Error Warning Notification Information		
F::RTINET. Training Institute			Debug © Fortinet Inc. All	Rights Reserved.	38

A FortiAP device that is managed by FortiGate or FortiLAN Cloud can send logs, such as event logs and unified threat management (UTM) logs, to the syslog server. Syslog server information is configured in a syslog profile that is assigned to a FortiAP profile.

You can specify the log level in the syslog profile and a server port number using the CLI.

Wi-Fi Event Logs · Provide a historical log of wireless-Log & Report > Events > WiFi Events • related events P5221ETT19001282 radio To view specific station Best Fit All C Reset Table information: Select · Add the following columns: 🗸 Date/ Date/Till Level Action Message SSID Channel Band Data Rate P5221CTT19001282 radio Physical AP # Absolute Date/Time Address Group Add a filter for Station Mac Age Alternate User AP Status • To monitor a specific AP: AP Status Band BSSID Data Rate Detected SN Device ID · Add the following columns Physical AP Encryption Frame Type Group Add a filter for Physical AP Extensive Live additional Log Descriptio Log ID Manufacturer information can be added to the table F RTINET © Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 39 Training Institute

The **Events** table provides a whole-controller historical view of the wireless network. You can use this to identify events that affect both clients and APs over time.

Adding additional columns and filtering allows you to focus in on wireless clients or APs that are misbehaving.

Knowledge Check

1. Which log servers can FortiAP send logs to directly?

✓A. Syslog

B. FortiAnalyzer

F**BRTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 40



Congratulations! You have completed this lesson.

Now, you will review the objectives that you covered in this lesson.

Review

- Review advanced wireless features
- Understand FortiGate guest management
- Understand BLE beacons scanning
- Diagnose managed FortiAP devices
- ✓ View Wi-Fi widgets
- ✓ View the wireless spectrum
- ✓ Configure Wi-Fi maps
- Understand the FortiAP REST API
- Configure the syslog server on a FortiAP profile
- ✓ Review Wi-Fi event logs

FERTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 42

This slide shows the objectives that you covered in this lesson.

By mastering the objectives covered in this lesson, you learned about the wireless technology concepts that you must know to understand Wi-Fi and wireless technologies in general. You also learned how to plan your network for the best wireless signal coverage.



In this lesson, you will learn about troubleshooting secure wireless LAN.



In this lesson, you will learn about the topics shown on this slide.



After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objectives shown on this slide.

By demonstrating competence in understanding the wireless controller, you will be able to identify, collect, and monitor important information about the wireless network.



On FortiAP, the component on the access point (AP) that transmits and receives radio signals is called a radio, or wireless, interface. Both terms are used in the controller management interfaces.



When you look at the metrics and diagnostics of wireless interfaces, it is easy to think only about the radio itself and that it has a retry rate or a percentage of channel utilization.

While this is true, retry rate and percentage of channel utilization indicate the quality and capacity of the air, or RF, *around* the AP. This assessment also includes the clients that use the RF. Many of the measures you take at the AP also impact the clients.



Most of the metrics shown on the controller are measured from the AP or controller point of view.

When an AP transmits network traffic to a client, the controller shows the connection quality of the AP when it transmits *to* the client.

The client is subject to the same RF environment and is likely to have as much difficulty, if not more, to transmit traffic back to the AP.

The client connection quality is *usually* poorer than the AP connection because its transmit power rate is less than the AP, and the antennas on clients tend not to be as good.

This can result in clients being more susceptible to interference, for example.

The AP can't measure the client signal quality directly. Only the client network card can measure this and there is no way for these metrics to be sent back to the wireless network. Often the client operating system doesn't report these metrics to the end user. Usually, the client must install a tool designed specifically to capture these metrics.

Regardless, you can learn a lot about the client wireless experience from the metrics gathered on the controller.

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET What Are the Important Measures? Wireless health Wireless capacity Channel utilization Channel noise Signal strength Association count Link rates Data throughput · Retry rate Loss rate FURTINET © Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. Training Institute

For a large proportion of wireless clients, troubleshooting revolves around ensuring that a number of wireless metrics are within acceptable ranges.

The important measures belong to two broad categories—wireless health and wireless capacity.

Wireless health includes measures of factors that affect connection reliability, such as getting or staying connected to a wireless network. It is a measure of how healthy the RF is around a specific interface. Wireless health assesses how well wireless frames are being transmitted from the APs to the clients. You can check wireless health by looking at the channel noise measured by the interface in a specific area, the signal strength of the client, and the link rates that the client is using.

Wireless capacity measures factors that affect the capacity of the interface and the channel capacity around the interface. It is a measure of channel utilization—how busy the interface and the spectrum is, and the number of clients on an interface. The retry rate can be an indication that the collision rate is high, which can occur when there are large numbers of clients in the network, which is, again, a capacity measure.

A number of metrics are relevant to both categories, however, some are more important than others.

Some of these measures, such as retry and loss rates, are not easily measurable in a FortiWiFi system, however, because these measures are important in the AP and client calculation of link rates, you can use the link rate as a prime indicator of connection quality.

Wireless Health—Channel Noise

Channel noise

- A measure taken by the AP interfaces when not servicing clients
 - An estimate by the interface of the noise floor around the AP in the channel that it is configured to use
 - Not an accurate measure
 - Not always the noise experienced by the client
- The higher the noise, the more difficult it is for the AP and client to transmit
- Typically represented as SnR

Possible causes

- Non-wireless LAN devices transmitting in the 2.4 or 5 GHz ranges. Common examples:
 - Microwave oven
 - Bluetooth devices
 - Wireless cameras and alarms
- Distant wireless APs and devices

High channel noise can be a cause of health and performance issues.

F RTINET.

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 8

The AP interfaces are constantly monitoring the wireless channel they are tuned in to. One of the things an interface can do when it is not servicing clients is take a measurement of the noise floor. Channel noise is a measure of the background wireless signal that the radio cannot interpret as a wireless LAN signal. To a radio, any signal that comes from another device sounds like radio static sounds to a human. Ambient channel noise is generated by many different sources that can interfere with a network. The higher the level of noise the lower the signal-to-noise ratio (SnR), which can affect both the AP and client ability to send a frame. Often both the client and AP radios will respond to the decrease in SnR by reducing the connection link rates. This can result in an acceptable signal strength but an unusually low link rate, indicating that there is potentially a noise issue.

Because the interface is not a dedicated spectrum analyzer, this measure is only an *estimate*. However, it is a very important indicator of potential interference in a specific area of the network. Such interference would cause significant issues with the network if it was both powerful and frequent (a high duty cycle).

Wireless Health—Signal Strength

Signal strength

- A measure taken by the AP interfaces when receiving data from a client
 - A direct measure of the signal strength of the station as it is received by the AP
 - Does not measure the strength of the signal from the AP to the station
- The lower the signal strength, the lower the possible performance of the connection

Possible causes

- Station is far from the AP, attempting to connect to the network from a location that is designed for wireless use, so either:
 - User moves closer to an AP
 - Install an AP if coverage in that location is required
- Or:
 - An AP might be unavailable
 - Might be a sticky client

Signal strength is a significant factor in the performance of a client

F::RTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved.

The controller maintains a list of the receive signal strength (RSSI) for all clients. RSSI is measured by the AP of each client as transmissions occur. It is not a measure taken by the client of the AP signal strength, which arguably is more important, because the majority of data is downstream.

However, it is still possible to infer that the downstream signal strength is somewhat stronger than the upstream signal strength. In general, the transmission power of the AP can be higher than the transmission power of the client, so it is reasonable to expect that the client's signal strength is somewhat less than the signal of the AP.

The lower the signal strength, the lower the ability of the radio to use higher modulation rates. The lower those rates, the lower the connection performance of the client. Low signal scenarios can occur for a number of reasons. Most commonly, someone is trying use the wireless network from a location that was never designed to support wireless devices. As a result, they are simply standing too far away from the AP. At that point, the user must choose to either move to a location that is designed to be supported by the wireless network or, if the location warrants it, install a new AP to improve the signal strength.

Low signal strength may also indicate that an AP has stopped running. The network is designed with overlap to allow for RF redundancy. In the event of an AP failure, there is usually another AP within range even if it has a much lower signal strength. The result is that the client will associate with that other AP, but will appear as a low-signal-strength client.

In more complex RF environments, a client might maintain a connection to the original AP. After the client moves to another location, they remain "stuck" to the original AP, and are known as a sticky client. In these types of design scenarios, low-signal-strength stations can be a fact of life. It may not be possible to eliminate low-signal-strength stations completely, but it is possible to monitor the number of devices that are poorly connected.

Wireless Health—Link Rates

Upstream and downstream link rate

- A measure taken by the AP interfaces when sending and receiving data from a client
- It is a record of the link rates that are used:
 - Link rate used for transmission from AP to client
 - Link rate used for transmission from client to AP
- The lower the link rate:
 - The more time is required to transmit a given amount network traffic
 - The lower the link performance for the client
- The upstream link rate is the best measure of upstream client connection quality
 - Without going to the client itself

Possible causes

- · Station signal strength is low
 - Higher link rates require higher signal strength
- The SnR ratio is small
 - A higher level of noise and/or lower signal reduces the SnR
 - Lower SnR causes clients to use lower link rates, despite having good signal strength
- High retry or loss rate
- Client is associated with an inappropriate interface or is not capable of supporting the latest wireless standards
- · The client is power saving

Link rates are a fundamental measure of link quality.

F::RTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 10

The transmit and receive link rates show the data rates that are being used by the AP, which is the TX, or transmit rate, and client, which is the RX, or receive rate. Both are closely linked to signal strength—they often go hand in hand, but are also impacted by other factors. The AP keeps a record of the link rates used when transmitting to and from each associated client. The ultimate aim for all wireless implementations is to ensure that the link rates are as high as possible for clients. A high link rate means that both the signal strength and the signal quality are good. Because it is possible to measure the upstream link rate directly, this is a great way to check if the client is suffering from RF issues.

The higher the link rates, the faster data is transferred, and the less air time is used for transmissions. This not only ensures high performance for the client, but also allows maximum opportunity for other clients to transmit as well, improving their overall performance. The link rates are calculated by the wireless chipset, based on signal strength, the SnR, and the retry and loss rate of frames. A client might have very good signal strength but a low link rate, which could indicate that the noise floor is higher than is optimal because the SnR is potentially quite small. This prevents the client from using the upper link rates regardless of how strong the signal is. The frame retry and loss rates will also cause a lower connection rate. If either the client or the AP radio is struggling to send frames, for example, there are a large number of collisions because of stations on neighboring APs, the radio can reduce its link rate to attempt to make transmissions more reliable.

Lower link rates may also indicate that the wireless client might be an older client and, as such, might support only older wireless standards where the link rates are a lot less. For maximum efficiency, it is often worthwhile to ensure you replace these older clients as soon as possible with newer-standard clients that support more efficient link rates. Finally, upstream link rates can be reduced when a client enters power save mode. Many handheld devices aggressively reduce links when they are not transmitting data because this can save significant amounts of battery power. However, this does make the client appear as if he is having a poor experience because the signal strength is often strong. Lower link rates are relevant in this scenario when you can see that the client is transmitting data. The radio should be trying to attain the highest link rates possible, and the fact that it isn't indicates that the client might have an RF issue.

Wireless Capacity—Channel Utilization

Channel utilization

- A percentage count of used airtime on the interface channel
 - Around each AP for all interfaces
- It measures all wireless traffic in the channel
 - Controllers own AP and station traffic
 - Any other traffic from any other APs or station in the locality
- The higher the channel utilization the less capacity there is

Possible causes

- · Large number of station connections
- · Poorly connected stations with low link rates
- · High throughput applications
- High numbers of neighboring wireless networks on the same channel

Wi-Fi & Switch Controller > FortiAP Profiles

Monitor channel utilization

Channel utilization is a primary indicator of capacity.

F CRTINET.

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 11

Channel utilization is the primary indicator of capacity around an interface. When enabled, the AP is constantly monitoring the amount of wireless traffic it can decode in the channel, and providing a measure. It is not only accounting for traffic transmitted by its own clients, but it is also is accounting for other wireless traffic on the channel, which could be coming from neighboring APs and wireless clients not associated with your wireless network. The neighboring APs and wireless still use capacity, and your network cannot transmit data while those other transmissions are occurring.

The higher the channel utilization, which is measured in percent, the less the spare airtime that is available. Channel utilization is the most important indicator of wireless capacity.

High channel utilization is usually caused by a high number of station connections, but can also be caused by a smaller number of stations transmitting a large amount of traffic. It does not matter if the stations and APs are your own or if they are neighboring devices.

Wireless Capacity—Association/Station Count

Association count

- Count of wireless devices associated with a wireless interface
- High client counts impact performance but are dependent on:
 - Applications in use
 - · Types of clients associated

Possible causes

- Many connected devices
- Higher than expected count can be caused by:
 - Nearby AP or interface down
 - Unexpected client mix, 2.4 Ghz favored over 5 GHz, or the other way around

Overloading can also be a cause of wireless health issues

F CRTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 12

Another critical metric for your wireless interface is the associated client count. Association count is a measure of the number of clients associated with each interface. A high client count will always affect performance, but the applications in use and the types of clients also matter.

Many devices means many associations. A higher than expected count can be caused by a nearby AP that stops running, or an unexpected mix of clients that prefer one frequency range over another.

Knowledge Check

- 1. Which of the following is a measure of wireless health?
- A. Association count
- ✓B. Link rate

F**BRTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 13



Good job! You now understand how to gather useful information about your wireless network.

Now, you will learn about some of the more common wireless network issues you might come across.



After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objectives shown on this slide.

By demonstrating competence in advanced diagnostics, you will be able to use the packet capture of client and AP-to-controller traffic when escalating connectivity issues to support. You will also be able to use the available debugging tools to resolve issues.

Packet Sniffing of Wireless Traffic

- · Radio can capture only one frequency at a time
 - Use two FortiAP devices to capture both frequencies
- Use FortiAP in sniffer mode that supports the same wireless standards
- Place FortiAP in sniffer mode close to the target AP/client where traffic is to be captured
- Capture file is stored under tmp directory as wl_sniff.pcap
- Must transfer to TFTP server before rebooting or changing radio parameter
 Use ftftp -l /tmp/wl sniff.cap -r sniff.cap -p <IP of TFTP Server>

FERTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 16

Packet captures are useful for troubleshooting all wireless client-related issues, because you can verify the data rate and 802.11 parameters, such as radio capabilities, and identify issues with wireless signal strength, interference, or congestion on the network.

This technique consists of sniffing the wireless traffic directly on the air using FortiAP. Rather than using an existing AP in the network, which risks changing the network behavior or configuration, try using an additional AP as a dedicated sniffer AP.

To make a packet capture, you must set one of the radios to monitor mode. Remember that a radio can listen on only one frequency of traffic at a time. For example, on a FortiAP 222 device set the sniffer mode of radio 2 to capture 5 GHz band traffic, and radio 1 to capture 2.4 GHz band traffic.

If you need to capture both frequencies at the same time, use two FortiAP devices.

Try to use the same capture AP model as the AP for which packets are being captured (or at least one that supports the same wireless standards) and make sure you place it close to either the target AP or client. This ensures that all the traffic is captured.

The capture file is stored only temporarily. You must upload it to a TFTP server before rebooting or changing the radio settings. Do so by using the ftftp command on the AP CLI.

© FORTINET Packet Capture for Wireless Traffic Setting radio to sniffer mode is configurable only through the CLI # config wireless-controller wtp-profile edit FAP231F-default config radio-1 (radio-1) # set mode sniffer (radio-1) # set drma enable (radio-1) # set drma-sensitivity medium (radio-1) # set ap-sniffer-bufsize 32 (radio-1) # set ap-sniffer-chan 1 (radio-1) # set ap-sniffer-addr 00:00:00:00:00:00 (radio-1) # set ap-sniffer-mgmt-beacon enable (radio-1) # set ap-sniffer-mgmt-other enable (radio-1) # set ap-sniffer-ctl enable (radio-1) # set ap-sniffer-data enable end end FURTINET © Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. Training Institute

This slide shows how to set up the radio in sniffer mode. You can configure sniffer mode using the CLI only.

This slide shows an example of editing the FAP220B-default FortiAP profile. You might create a separate profile for a packet capture and assign an appropriate AP to that profile when a packet capture is required.

Note that you can determine the buffer size, which channel to sniff, and the AP MAC address. You can also sniff the beacons, probes, and control and data channels.

With a wildcard of 00:00:00:00:00:00 the AP decodes ALL traffic on that channel resulting in capturing a lot of traffic that might not be required.

DO NOT REPRINT



This slide shows that the wlan00 interface is in monitor mode, together with the frequency that is being captured.

Sources of Information—Controller CLI

• List all stations connected to the FortiAP devices

diag wireless-controller wlac -d sta grep -v 0.0.0.0	
vf=0 wtp=2 rId=1 wlan=Main-Wifi vlan_id=0 ip=192.168.5.50 mac=ac:84:c6:fc:f1:b8 v group= <mark>signal=-37</mark> noise=-95 idle=12 bw=0 use=5 chan=1 radio_type=11N security=wpa mpsk=default encrypt=aes cp_authed=no online=yes mimo=1	/ci= host= user= /2_only_personal
 List all discovered neighboring FortiAP devices 	
get wireless-controller scan	
CMWF VF SSID BSSID CHAN RATE SIGNAL NOISE INT CAPS ACT LIVE AGE WIRED	
UNNN 0 BTHomeHub2 00:26:44:18:34:4f 1 130M -88 -95 100 EPs N 50435 50435 ? RSN CCMP TKIP VEN WPA UNNN 0 BTOPENZONE-H 02:26:44:18:34:50 1 130M -92 -95 100 Es Y 103115 515 ? VEN WME UNNN 0 BTTON 02:26:44:18:34:51 1 130M -90 -95 100 Es N 104075 103003 ? VEN WME UNNN 0 EXT2-BTHub6 1c:a5:32:f1:3b:eb 11 144M -76 -95 100 EPs Y 156386 22 ? RSN CCMP WME VEN VEN V	WME
 Show RF conditions around all FortiAP radios 	
get wireless-controller rf-analysis	
 Shows a list of neighboring APs together with their signal strength, channel, and RF 	⁻ score
 Show client load over time get wireless-controller status Shows a breakdown of total client load over multiple hours and days 	
F#3RTINET. Training Institute	© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 19

In addition to gathering information from the controller GUI, it is also possible to gather information from the controller CLI.

You can generate a list of connected stations and APs as you would see on the GUI.

You can get a better view of the RF status of all the APs by using the get wireless-controller rfanalysis command. Unlike the GUI, which lists only the top most interfered with, you can list all the interfaces.

Specify the wireless termination point (WTP) ID (AP serial number) to focus on one AP.

There is little historical information available from the GUI, so get wireless-controller status is a useful command for monitoring client load over time.

Sources of Information—FortiAP CLI

Useful statistics are available from the AP by running an AP shell command

Connection is through:

- Controller GUI
- FortiExplorer with compatible FortiAP models
- Console cable to AP (if AP has a console port)
- Direct over SSH (SSH needs to enabled)
- Through controller using telnet/ssh
- Through the CAPWAP tunnel

• Access through CAPWAP tunnel can be used when direct SSH/Telnet is not available

- · Usually when an AP is remotely based behind a NAT device
- The FAP report only runs results to the controller after the command is finished
- If a new command is sent to the AP before the previous command is finished, the previous command is cancelled
- The maximum output from a command is limited to 4M, the default output size is set to 32K

F**ERTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 20

The AP CLI can provide specific information about AP and client connectivity.

You can access the AP through the following:

- Controller GUI
- FortiExplorer with FortiAP G models and later
- · Console cable to AP (if AP has a console port)
- Direct over SSH (SSH needs to enabled and password known)
- Through controller using telnet/SSH
- Through the CAPWAP tunnel

Connecting through the CAPWAP tunnel is really useful when an AP is remotely based and cannot be reached by any other method.

Sources of Information—FortiAP CLI (Contd)

- To connect using the controller GUI
 - WiFi & Switch Controller > Managed FortiAPs
 - Right-click the row of the FortiAP that you want to connect to and then select Connect to CLI
- Help or ? to display list of commands
- · Some commands are aliased
- Each AP has a set of configuration and diagnostic commands available
 - cw_diag commands are used or monitoring/diagnostics
 - To increase timeout:
 - cfg -a ADMIN_TIMEOUT=mins
 - cfg -c

FBRTINET. Training Institute

Using username "admin". admin@192.168.5.102's p Send automatic password Staffroom # help exit help ? Commands:	password: l Exit Display this text Synonym for 'help'	Alias: kp panic ut sta usta klog 1000000 1 "dm toff	esg -c"	cw_diag kernel- cw_diag uptime cw_diag ksta cw_diag -c sta cw_diag -relog on cw_diagtlog on cw_diagtlog
arp brotl cfg cw_debug cw_diag		con coff off fon foff wcfg		cw_diagclog on cw_diagclog cw_diagflog 16 cw_diagflog 0 cw_diag -c wtp-
<pre>cw_test_led date diag_console_debug diag_debug_crashlog diag_sniffer dmesg</pre>		cfg rcfg cfg vcfg cfg perf		cw_diag -c radio- cw_diag -c vap- cw_diag sys-
factoryreset fapportal_diag radius_das_diag fap-get-status fap-set-hostname		performance scanclr clr-all apscan scan stascan scan		cw_diag -c scan- cw_diag -c ap- cw_diag -c sta-
fap-fips get Htop ifconfig iptables iwconfig		cld cfg don cwWtpd 0x7fff doff cwWtpd 0		cw_diag -c fcld- cw_debug app cw_debug app
iwlist iwpriv lldpctl Iw cfg80211tool ping		<pre>txq0 get_txq_dump; txq1 get_txq_dump; crash diag_debug_cr.</pre>	dmesg dmesg ashlog read	iwpriv wifil iwpriv wifil
			© Fortinet Inc. All I	Rights Reserved.

The easiest way to obtain information about an AP is to highlight it in the **Managed FortiAP** table and then use the **Connect to CLI** option. However, it is possible to connect directly to the AP if it has a console port, or by one of the other methods listed on this slide.

As with other FortiGate CLI commands, context-sensitive help is available.

By default, the CLI times out in 5 minutes, which can be an issue if you are trying to troubleshoot. You can extend the timeout period by using the cfg command.
DO NOT REPRINT © F<mark>ORTINET</mark>



For specific stations, it is possible to list more detailed RF information by using the $cw_diag -d$ sta command for the MAC address of a specific station.

This can reveal the frames that were lost when the AP failed to send them to a client, together with frames that were retried.

It is not unusual to see a very low number of loss frames (in relation to the TX frame count), but an increasingly large number show that the AP was unable to successfully send a data frame after numerous retries. This can indicate that the station is unable to clearly receive or decode frames from the AP with the result that it is not sending an acknowledgement frame. This can indicate poor signal strength at the client, or a high noise floor.

Retry frames are not unusual. Retries are part of normal wireless LAN network operation, but again, a high number indicates an issue.



The $cw_diag -c$ his-chutel command provides a short history of AP channel utilization for the AP radios. So, rather than taking a one-time measurement, which could be a peak, you can see a plot of the channel utilization for 1 minute.

 cw_diag ksta is an aliased command. The key information that is not available anywhere else is the downstream (AP-to-client) **AND** upstream link rate. Both are great measures of connection quality, but you must understand the range of connection rates the AP and clients are capable of.

For instance, handheld clients will likely have only a single- or dual-stream radio and, as such, would never achieve the same link rates as an Apple MacBook Pro. Review the specifications of the client indicates the maximum rate it is capable of. Reviewing its connection using the cw_diag ksta command shows how close it is to the maximum connection speed.

Note that many devices save battery power by reducing the link rate when the connection is idle. Often, to get a good representation of the link rates, some data must be transmitted and received.

DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET

Sources of Information—Useful AP CLI Commands



© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 24

You can display more detailed interface information using the Iwconfig command.

Knowledge Check

- 1. Which statement is correct about using packet sniffer on FortiAP?
 - A. All radios are available to use packet sniffer at the same time.
- \checkmark B. You can configure only one radio at a time to use the packet sniffer.

2. Which device you can collect information from to troubleshoot wireless issues?

✓A. Wireless controller

B. AP

F RTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 25



Good job! You now understand advanced diagnostics.

Now, you will learn about network connectivity issues.

DO NOT REPRINT © F<mark>ORTINET</mark>



After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objectives shown on this slide.

By demonstrating competence in investigating common network issues, you will be able to perform basic troubleshooting and configuration checks on the network.

Basic Troubleshooting

- · Before beginning detailed troubleshooting, you should first ensure basic connectivity
- Check the simple things first:
 - Is the station connected?
 - Does it have an IP address?
 - · Can I ping or reach important network resources?
 - Has there been a change to the client?
 - Is the basic channel configuration of the network acceptable?
 - Are too many SSIDs being broadcast?

FERTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 28

Before beginning detailed troubleshooting, you should first ensure that there is basic connectivity.

It can be easy to assume that there is a complex issue with the network. Check the basics first as they can save a lot of time.

Locating the Client MAC and IP Addresses

Key information for troubleshooting—obtaining (or not) provides valuable information about the client

- Ask the end user
- · Locating client MAC address:
 - Windows:

F BRTINET. Training Institute

- CLI: netsh wlan show interfaces
- Apple Mac OS/OS X:
 - Terminal: networksetup -listallhardwareports
 Locate the Wi-Fi adaptor
 - 2. Locate the WI-FI adaptor
 - For more detailed information:

/System/Library/PrivateFrameworks/Apple80211
.framework/Versions/Current/Resources/airpor
t-I

C., Ve2NDOWSIA's y stition 3 20 reputs h	wish show interfaces
ibere is 1 interface on th	e system:
Hern Description auto Physical Heless State Padio status Hosted network status C:\WINDOWS\bystemB2>netsh	: bdF1 4 : bdS0 USB-Ad50 662.inac Wireless USB Adapter : <u>S8x6562-5ae8-1cc6-b2</u> 16-f8c69811673f : <u>disconnected</u> : <u>Uardware On</u> : <u>bdFinare On</u> : Not connected : Not available wlan show interfaces
There is 1 interlace on th	e system:
Name Description GUID Physical address SLate SSID BSSID 1. Network type Hadio type Authenticotion Cipher 2. Commaction mode Chammel • Receive rate (Mbps) Transmit rate (Mbps) Signal Profile	: Wili 4 : ASUS USB AC56 02.11ac Mireless USB Adapter : SS065822 5020 40c6 b216 f8c69811673f : ac:90:17:79:9f:f3 : connected : CO30 5 : 20:02:02:18:322:2b : Infracturture : HBP2.11ac : MM2 Personal : COVP : Profile : S00 : S07 : 367 : 106% : 1107%
Hosted network status	: Not available
	© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 29

To troubleshoot an issue with a wireless client, you must have its MAC address and optionally, its IP address.

Normally you can find these details using the controller or AP interface, but if you are troubleshooting a noconnection issue, the controller or AP will not have them. If this is the case, you must locate it manually. In some networks, it's possible to analyze DHCP or DNS to find the client MAC address. Other networks might have security appliances that make a record of the MAC address. Often, the easiest way to find out the MAC address is by looking on the client device.

Different client operating systems have different ways of revealing the wireless card MAC address. On Windows, you can use the GUI, but in later versions it can be easier to use the CLI and enter the NetShell (netsh) command. This command produces a simplified output—MAC addresses are easy to find, as well as the status of the radio. Later versions of Windows can identify whether the radio is turned on or turned off by software or hardware. This can be useful for making sure the end user has turned on the wireless switch on a laptop that can't connect to the network. Many laptops have hardware switches to enable or disable wireless connectivity. One of the most common reasons that a laptop can't connect to the wireless network is because that switch is turned off.

netsh reveals different information depending on whether the client is connected or not, including the channel connected. You can see the channel that is in use, an estimate of the receive and transmit rates, and the percent signal strength.

These measures can vary in accuracy, depending on the quality of the driver, and you should use them cautiously.

Other operating systems use other methods. macOS has a similar CLI option.



For Android and other mobile OSs, you can locate the MAC address in the phone settings. However, in recent mobile OS updates, you can set a virtual MAC address when connected to a new wireless network SSID. This address could be different than the MAC hardware address found in the mobile settings. The virtual MAC address is enabled by default, but can be disabled in the network details of each SSID.

Check IP Address and DHCP Configuration

Problem:

 Client shows as connected in the controller device tables, but doesn't have a valid IP address for the network it is joining

Solution:

- Often, a wireless network is assigned its own VLAN and, as a result, its own IP address schema and DHCP scope
 - Some clients assign themselves a 169 link-local address when they can't claim a DHCP address
 - Make sure the DHCP is not exhausted (on either FortiGate or any other DHCP server in use)
 - If using a bridged network, add a non-FortiGate DHCP option
- · Make sure the client static IP address is configured correctly
 - End user might have changed the IP address configuration
 - FortiWLC can block clients that have incorrect IP addresses using the IP prefix validation in the ESS profile



© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 31

If the controller's device tables show the client is connected but doesn't show a valid IP address for the network the client is joining, this can indicate a problem with the underlying DHCP infrastructure.

Depending on the type of client, you might not see an IP address or a 169 link-local address in the device tables, which indicates that the client couldn't obtain a DHCP IP address. One of the most common causes of this problem is DHCP scope exhaustion. Often, when a wireless network is first implemented, the expectation is that only a few clients will use it. However, over time, more and more clients join the network, especially if it is reliable. The result is that the DHCP scope runs out of IP addresses because it was not designed to handle so many devices.

Many network managers assume a wireless issue on the controller is causing the connectivity problem. Make sure that the supporting infrastructure is working for DHCP, as well as other services that the wireless network relies on, such as the RADIUS server.

More complex networks that use enterprise authentication might contain dynamic VLANs. Dynamic VLANs depend upon the RADIUS server to return the correct tags, otherwise, the client is placed in the incorrect area of the LAN and won't meet the correct connectivity requirements.

Other IP address issues can occur when a device moves between a wireless home network and a wireless work network. For example, if the end user applies a static IP address to the device manually to access the home network, the device won't connect correctly to the work network. Users might also change the IP configuration of the device to avoid security devices. By default, FortiWLC stops a client from joining a tunnelled wireless network if the client's manually configured IP address doesn't match the IP address range in use on the wireless network.

Confirm IP Connectivity

Problem:

• Client shows as connected in the controller device tables, and has a valid IP address, but can't ping other hosts on the network

Solution:

- Key hosts and services on the network should be reachable at layer 3, which you can test using ping. Failing to contact key hosts implies:
 - A policy is potentially preventing traffic flow
 - A captive portal is in place but not triggered

F**BRTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 32

Often a basic ping check of network resources can reveal a layer 3 issue. If IP addresses, such as gateways, DNS servers, and other key resources, are failing to respond, then investigate an intermediate network problem. Often wireless networks are deployed on a new VLAN, so it may be possible that a routing issue or policy is preventing traffic flow, rather than a wireless issue.

One situation in which a wireless AP or controller can interrupt IP address connectivity is when the captive portal is configured and the client's browser fails to be triggered. This can cause the client to be isolated, awaiting the captive portal authentication, and the user does not see a login page when they launch the browser.

Excessive SSID Broadcast

- Each SSID broadcast by an AP requires an quantity of management traffic (frames)
- These frames carry no data. They purely allow the network to operate
- All frames take airtime
- All APs within range and on the same channel will use airtime

Best practice:

- Try to limit the number of SSIDs that you advertise
- Ideally limit to no more than five but be aware that neighboring APs will also contribute to overhead

F::RTINET. Training Institute

an aama Channal	Number of SSIDs									
on same channel	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1	3%	6%	10%	13%	16%	19%	23%	26%	29%	32%
2	6%	13%	19%	26%	32%	39%	45%	52%	58%	64%
3	10%	19%	29%	39%	48%	58%	68%	77%	87%	97%
4	13%	26%	39%	52%	64%	77%	90%	100%	100%	100%
5	16%	32%	48%	64%	81%	97%	100%	100%	100%	100%
6	19%	39%	58%	77%	97%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%
7	23%	45%	68%	90%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%
8	26%	52%	77%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 33

Another best practice that you should consider is the reduction or minimization of the number of wireless networks that your APs broadcast.

The temptation is to broadcast many wireless networks to fulfil many purposes.

However, each wireless network broadcast from an AP requires an amount of wireless management traffic. This traffic, or these management frames, carry no data and take up airtime or wireless capacity.

The table on this slide shows an approximate calculation of the amount of airtime used when the number of APs in a channel broadcast a number of wireless networks (or SSIDs).

For example, if only one AP broadcast 10 networks or SSIDs, approximately 32% of available airtime would be used sending and receiving management frames without actually exchanging any useful data. This calculation also assumes an ideal environment with little or no interference. In the real world, it is likely that additional capacity could be lost to this as well.

Note that it makes no difference if the AP is your AP or a neighboring AP, the same overhead applies.

To minimize the effects, it is a best practice to limit the number of broadcasting networks to five, but preferably fewer. Note that there are various mechanisms, such as dynamic VLANs, that can help limit the need to have multiple wireless networks being broadcast.

Knowledge Check

- 1. Which statement is correct about causing co-channel interference?
 - A. Incompatible FortiAP models
- ✓B. Inappropriate channel settings

F**BRTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 34



Good job! You now understand network connectivity issues.

Now, you will learn about network performance issues.



After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objectives shown on this slide.

By demonstrating competence in understanding network performance issues, you will be able to resolve these types of problems. You will also be able to resolve issues with Service Assurance Manager (SAM) before wireless clients are affected.

AP Overloading—Client Count/Utilization

Problem:

- End users complain of poor performance of the wireless network
- One of the biggest impacts on wireless network performance is too many clients on a radio. For recent wireless standards, wireless interfaces should follow these guidelines:
 - For networks that have clients that regularly transfer large files or stream media, you should aim for 30 clients per radio
 - For networks that have clients that require only basic file, print, and internet access, you should aim for 50 clients per radio
- · Channel utilization also impacts performance
 - Channel utilization not only comes from your associated clients, but neighboring clients and APs on the same channel
 - If channel utilization is regularly exceeding 75%, then additional radio capacity is needed

Solution:

- Ultimately for both scenarios, additional APs may be required
 - Channel planning may mean that these can be deployed only on 5 GHz

F RTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 37

If you are able to correctly design and configure a wireless network then the experience for end users will be great. However, this generally results in end users wanting to connect *more* wireless devices. As a result, one of the most common problems with wireless networks can occur—overloading.

It is important to be continually aware of the number of clients that are connecting to a radio. Modern wireless standards allow clients to transmit and receive data faster than ever, however, it is important to remember that the wireless channel is still a *shared* resource and there are still practical limits on the number of clients that can share the airtime pie, regardless of how fast they can talk.

Future technologies based around multiuser-MIMO will possibly allow clients to simultaneously access the channel at the same time. (MIMO stands for multiple input multiple output.) However, it is currently recommended that interfaces should connect to a maximum of 50 clients when those clients require only basic file and print services. For higher bandwidth clients, such as those used in education environments, then that limit should be closer to 30.

Channel utilization is also a primary indication of capacity. Utilization is not generated only by your APs and clients. Any other neighboring APs and clients also contribute. It might be that your AP has only two stations using it, but when you inspect the channel utilization you might see high numbers. This could be because your workstations are transferring large files, Equally, it could be neighboring networks generating that utilization. If channel utilization is regularly exceeding *75%*, you must consider either adding AP capacity, or, in the case of neighboring networks generating utilization, changing your channel.

When adding APs in a high-density environment, 2.4 GHz channel planning becomes an issue. If you have large numbers of 2.4-only clients, you may not be able to accommodate them easily without resorting to ultra high-density-design practices. Covering these design practices is outside of the scope of this course.

AP Overloading—Poorly Connected Clients

Problem:

End users complain of poor performance of the wireless network

- Poor link rates can be a major source of poor performance. Poor link rates typically occur when:
 - The client has a slow signal strength or SnR
 - A user is too far away from an AP
 - A local source of interference is increasing the noise floor
 - The client may be connecting to the wrong AP or AP radio
 - Clients capable of 2.4 and 5 GHz connections often inappropriately connect to the 2.4 GHz radio

Solution:

- · Where client has poor signal strength:
 - Additional APs might be required. The end users might require coverage from an area that was never anticipated to need coverage
 - Spectrum analysis might be required to locate interference
- To encourage clients to connect to the best radio, you can enable band steering

F CRTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 38

While AP overloading is a big issue, poor link rates can have an equal impact on throughput performance. A client that has a poor link rate is taking much longer to transfer data and is taking excessive amounts of airtime. Multiple reasons cause reduced link rates, but the primary reasons are generally to do with signal quality or that the client is connecting to an inappropriate radio.

The most common cause of poor signal quality is the user not having enough signal. This is often caused when users try to access the wireless network from a location where it was never designed to be. This will also affect any other clients usually connected to the same AP, because that poorly connected client is taking up more than its fair share of their time.

In the scenario shown on this slide, a decision must be made about coverage. It might be that you should install an AP to allow a good quality connection, or perhaps you should discourage end users from trying to connect.

Interference also impacts the connection rates. Note that interference can be highly localized. Interference may not affect the AP, but a client connecting to the AP, which is 20 metres away, could be significantly affected by a local interferer.

Most modern clients are capable of connecting on both the 2.4 and 5 GHz bands. Often when an AP broadcasts a wireless network on both 2.4 and 5 GHz, a client can make the wrong decision when connecting. This can result in an otherwise high-performance client talking very slowly on an inappropriate radio at low link rates. Frequency band steering is an option that is available on FortiAP devices. This allows the AP to encourage the client to associate with the most suitable radio. If you find that large numbers of 5 GHz clients are not connecting on the 5 GHz radio, then you should enable frequency handoff as a load balancing mechanism.

Frequency Interference

Problem:

Another wireless signal overpowers or corrupts your signal causing frame loss, frame retries, and reduction in link rates

- Coherent:
 - A co-channel or adjacent channel Wi-Fi signal, that can be decoded as a Wi-Fi signal
 - Produced by:
 - Neighboring APs
 - · Poor channel planning or too high TX power in the same area
 - Wi-Fi standards largely deal with this type of interference
 - The number of interfering APs and number of associated clients, together with the amount of data exchanged, can have a wildly variable effect
 - The channel utilization measures are a good indication
- Non-coherent:
 - · Non-Wi-Fi interference, such as Bluetooth, microwave, cordless phone, and so on
 - · Can be distant AP or client signals that are no longer decodable
 - · Most APs and all clients cannot analyze non-coherent interference
 - · Specialist equipment is usually required

F**BRTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 39

Wireless energy can take many forms. This energy can present challenges to the successful reception of a wireless signal.

There are typically two types of interference. Coherent interference is generally a reference to wireless devices that are broadcasting nearby. This is not interference in the traditional sense, because our wireless APs and clients recognize it as a wireless signal and, as such, can cope with it. It is still an issue because it reduces utilization, and thus performance.

Non-coherent interference is the traditional interference that can cause issues. This is wireless energy that cannot be recognized as a wireless signal. It could be random energy, for instance, generated by a microwave. Or, it could be another signal generated by a cordless phone, but it's a logical signal that is not recognized as such by the wireless devices.

All of this energy is additive, meaning the more interference there is, the more wireless energy there is. This causes the noise floor to rise, which can cause the signal-to-noise ratio link rates to reduce as well. In some scenarios, the amount of wireless energy can be excessive and can result in the wireless signal being completely overpowered resulting in a loss of connection.

The 2.4 GHz frequency is particularly prone to interference because so many different devices are allowed to operate in that frequency. While APs and clients can assess the level of noise, they cannot identify it or locate it. Specialist hardware is usually required to track down an interferer.

Dedicated Spectrum Analysis

Solution:

Non-Wi-Fi or non-coherent interference requires dedicated equipment to detect

- Some AP chipsets can operate in spectrum analyzer mode
 - APs can be left in place to continually monitor interference
 - Can be difficult to pinpoint interferers
- · Also dedicated equipment available
 - Dedicated equipment is typically mobile and can have a directional antenna. This makes it easy to pinpoint the interferer
 - · Has to be onsite at the time of interference
- Interference is typically a problem in 2.4 GHz
- · A very useful tool in a toolkit

FERTINET. Training Institute



Some modern APs now have the ability to operate in spectrum analyzer mode. This can be very useful for ongoing monitoring in a noisy environment because they can generally be left to log interference events. However, they are less useful when trying to identify the exact location because APs generally lack highly directional antennas that can pinpoint the source. Some chipsets can operate only in AP mode or in spectrum analyzer mode, which can mean that you need to dedicate APs to the task.

Most wireless engineers dealing with networks of any size often purchase a dedicated spectrum analyzer tool. The chipsets and software used in these tools are specifically designed for the analysis of wireless interference. They often come with a highly directional antenna and are mobile, allowing the engineer to walk the site and locate any sort of interference with relative ease. Typically, the software also has a library of interferer signatures that allows the classification of anything detected, for example, microwaves and Bluetooth devices are commonly identified. The downside of dedicated equipment such as this is that it has to be onsite when the interference is occurring.

If the majority of your wireless networks broadcast in the 5 GHz range, then the chance of interference is far less because this range of frequencies was only ever available for wireless LAN use. It may be that you decide that a spectrum analyzer is not required, however, because 2.4 GHz is not going away and is increasingly being used for IoT devices, it is highly advisable for an engineering team looking after a large wireless network to have access to one. There are multiple vendors and multiple devices available on the market. Metageek equipment is commonly used by wireless engineers.

Regular Monitoring Is Essential

Wireless health

As a guide, a healthy interface should maintain rates of:

- Utilization < 75%
- Client count < 30
- Temporary peaks above this are to be expected
- Best possible link rates
- · Be aware of a client's capabilities
- Ensure they are connected to the most suitable interface

Channel noise

- Ideally -92 or weaker (a higher negative number)
- High -80s is OK
- Low -80s is not good
- Signal strength
- · Should match or better design criteria
- In general should be -64 or stronger
- Signal-to-noise ratio
- Should be 15 at minimum, 25 or more is preferable
- Higher speed standards require a greater SnR

F::RTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 41

The lower the channel noise, the better. Signal strength is measured in negative decibels—the greater the negative number, the weaker the signal.

For noise, a signal weaker than -92 is considered optimal. A signal in the high -80s is acceptable. A signal in the low -80s or -70s indicates significant interference that you should investigate using a spectrum analyzer.

The wireless network would have been designed and specified with a target signal strength for clients. You should make sure that the majority of your clients have that minimum signal strength or greater.

It is not unusual to have a small number of stations that are weaker. For example, wireless devices enter and leave buildings, which can cause small numbers of low-signal-strength clients to appear and disappear.

Generally, you should see signal strengths of -64 or stronger, with a good SnR of at least 15, but preferably 25 or more. Newer, higher speed standards will generally require a higher signal strength AND a greater SnR but these numbers provide a good baseline and allow most wireless connections to work.

Finally, the ultimate indicator of health is the link rates that the client and AP use to communicate with each other. Before you can make a judgment on the link rates, you first must understand the specification of the wireless client to determine the maximum link rate you can use. Often devices will be equipped with 1 or 2 stream 2.4 and 5 GHz capable clients. Analysis of the link rates being used may show that rather than connecting near the theoretical maximums 433 or 866 Mbps that you might expect, they are connecting closer to 65 Mbps. Often this is simply a result of the clients connecting to the 2.4 GHz radio rather than a more "suitable" 5 GHz radio. Equally, link rates will be reduced if the underlying metrics (loss/retry/signal strength/noise) are impacted.

Create an Unencrypted Test Network

Problem:

• When a client fails to connect to a wireless network, it can be difficult to identify if the cause is an authentication process or a configuration issue, or if it's an issue with the wireless connection

Solution:

- Create a temporary, open, unencrypted wireless network on an AP interface
 - Publish the network on the same AP as the authenticated network that the client is unable to connect to
- Failing to connect to an open network indicates an RF issue or AP overloading issue
 - If the client is dual-band capable, publish the network on both interfaces, one at a time, to identify which frequency has the problem
- Connecting to an open network but not an authenticated network on the AP might indicate a client configuration or compatibility issue
 - Assuming the supplied credentials or pre-shared key was verified as correct

F::RTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 42

It can be difficult to diagnose where a connection issue is located. An easy way to diagnose this is to remove the authentication process. To do this, create an open network on a single interface of the AP that the client is unable to connect to. If the client *can't* connect to the unencrypted network, then there is an underlying RF issue or AP overloading issue that is causing the connectivity problem. You can also move the network to a different interface enabling you to check connectivity on both the 2.4 and the 5 GHz ranges.

If the client can connect to the open network but not the encrypted network, and the client entered the correct credentials during the authentication process, then RF is not the problem and you should focus your troubleshooting efforts on the client configuration.

Capture a Log of Station Connection

Problem:

• When a client fails to connect to a wireless network, it can be difficult to identify if the cause is an authentication process or a configuration issue, or if it's an issue with the wireless connection

Solution:

- Enable client debug on controller for problematic clients to check at what stage client fails to connect
- · Try to connect from problematic client
- On the controller CLI, issue the following command:

```
diagnose wireless-controller wlac sta filter <your station MAC address> 2
```



© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 43

While connecting to an unencrypted test network is a useful test, often there is a need to drill down into the connection process to see what is failing.

You can do this using the diagnose wireless-controller wlac sta_filter command on the CLI.

This will capture a step-by-step log of connection attempts made by your station.

By using this log, you should be able to determine which bond process is failing.



This slide shows a sample debug message for successful client association with WPA PSK security.

It is important to note the messages for a correct association phase, four-way handshake, and the DHCP phase.

<section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header>

For comparison, this slide shows a failed client association because of a WPA PSK passphrase mismatch.

Note the error message on the four-way handshake process, which indicates an invalid MIC, and after many tries, the client is denied.

Service Assurance Manager

- Diagnostic software implementation
- · Requires a dedicated FortiAP device
 - Configure FortiAP in SAM mode
- Reviews wireless network health
 - No need for overlay sensors
- · Offers predictive health checks and reports

• FortiAP runs SAM mode

Another FortiAP radio set to operate

F CRTINET. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 46

SAM is a predictive diagnostic software tool for remotely diagnosing the health of wireless networks without requiring overlay sensors. With SAM, the network automatically performs predictive health checks and reports any issues before end users are impacted.

You can configure FortiAP to run in SAM mode, where a radio is designated to operate as a client and perform tests on another FortiAP device. SAM conducts ping tests and iPerf tests are used in intervals, with results captured in the Wi-Fi event logs. This allows FortiGate to verify and ensure that an existing Wi-Fi network can provide acceptable services.



DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET SAM Mode · Configure FortiAP in SAM mode config wireless-controller wtp-profile edit "FAP231E-sam" Enable sam-captive-portal to connect config radio-2 with SSIDs that have a captive portal set sam-ssid "test-sam" set sam-bssid 00:00:00:00:00:00 set sam-security-type wpa-personal set sam-captive-portal disable set sam-password SAM supports iPerf testing set sam-test iperf set sam-server "iperf.he.net" set iperf-server-port 5001 set iperf-protocol tcp set sam-report-intv 60 end end FURTINET. © Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 47 **Training Institute**

Configure the managed FortiAP profile to use SAM mode to diagnose the health of wireless networks of the production FortiAP device. If the SSID in the production FortiAP device is using captive portal, enable samcaptive-portal on the SAM-mode FortiAP device to configure further settings such as username and password.

Knowledge Check

1. What is the recommended maximum channel utilization?

A. 50%

- <mark>√</mark>B. 75%
- 2. How many FortiAP devices are required to implement SAM?
 - A. Only
- ✓B. Two or more

F**BRTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 48



Good job! You now understand network performance issues.

Now, you will learn about FortiAlOps.

DO NOT REPRINT © F<mark>ORTINET</mark>



After completing this section, you should be able to achieve the objectives shown on this slide.

By demonstrating competence in FortiAlOps, you will be able to explore methods to detect unusual patterns to troubleshoot network and security issues in wireless LAN.

FURTINET

Training Institute

FortiAlOps—Challenges

- Too much wireless data to monitor
- Experts required to focus on wireless LAN
- Time consuming troubleshooting process
- Poor use of network resources



The common problems administrators face when troubleshooting networks usually require highly skilled and time-intensive investigation and remediation. Network administrators are required to be experts in various technologies such as wireless LAN, routing, and switching.

Users often report issues using vague statements, such as "slow connection" or "unable to open a web page". Administrators as a result struggle to understand the issues from the initial report.

Inadequate resources can lead to poor use of network resource. Whether it is insufficient bandwidth, outdated hardware, or lack of proper network infrastructure, lack of these resources increase the challenges network administrators face to troubleshoot the issues.

FURTINET

Training Institute

FortiAlOps—Solution

- Uses AI-powered insights and ML resources
- Reduces technical requirements and faster root cause analysis
- Fast mean time to recover
- Improves network and application availability and user experience
- Offers similar GUI experience to FortiOS
- Relies on logs from the wireless controller



FortiAlOps leverages artificial intelligence (AI) and machine learning (ML) to enhance network operations. FortiAlOps easily monitors large amounts of data points and reports of wireless LAN and LAN traffic, including layer 1 details. These details can include full radio frequency (RF) spectrum analysis to help understand interference on the Wi-Fi network.

FortiAlOps includes built-in tools to probe the network to help you understand and diagnose network issues.

You can use FortiAlOps to help reduce technical support tickets by identifying and correcting issues before they start impacting users.

The FortiAlOps GUI is like the FortiOS GUI. It offers tools that are available in FortiOS, but with more GUI elements to help improve user experience.

F RTINET. Training Institute

FortiAlOps Single-Pane Management

- Offers unified LAN and WAN edge monitoring and troubleshooting using AI-powered insights
- Single-pane management with GUI aligned to Fortinet GUI experience
- Historical data and trends with drill-down data
- SAM predictive diagnostics



FortiAIOps single-pane management provides unified monitoring and troubleshooting for both LAN and WAN edges, leveraging AI-powered insights. It offers a single-pane management interface with a GUI aligned to the Fortinet experience. Additionally, users can access historical data and trends, along with drill-down capabilities, and benefit from Service Assurance Manager (SAM) predictive diagnostics.

FURTIDET

Training Institute

FortiAIOps Wireless SAM

- Proactive baseline monitoring
- Schedule measurement and threshold testing
 - Evaluate connectivity
 - Measure throughput
- Support FortiGate managing FortiAP devices

rosaro + E nopea				Growing Base Base Base Base Base Base Base Base
in i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	12) Security for a statuse a case of account of their agreementation of Q Box de Leadery B & Leadery B &	Note of the set many of the set many of the set of the	is a linear second for one of the second second for the second second for the second second for the second second for the second se	a
POPULATE ATT				- 1960 W 20 PLD - 23

FortiAIOps wireless SAM offers proactive baseline monitoring. You can schedule performance measurements to evaluate connectivity and throughput of FortiAP devices. FortiAIOps supports the FortiGate wireless controller in managing compatible FortiAP devices.

Knowledge Check

- 1. What empowers FortiAlOps to become a powerful predictive tool to troubleshoot network issues?
- A. Machine learning
 - B. Security incident reporting

F**BRTINET**. Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 55



Congratulations! You have completed this lesson.

Now, you will review the objectives that you covered in this lesson.

DO NOT REPRINT © F<mark>ORTINET</mark>

Review

- Gather information on clients and significant metrics
- ✓ Gather information about the wireless controller and access points
- Gather information about the RF environment
- Perform packet capture of client traffic
- Perform packet capture of AP-to-controller traffic
- Review CLI troubleshooting commands on FortiAP
- Review CLI troubleshooting commands on the controller
- Perform basic troubleshooting
- Investigate client configuration
- Investigate network channelization
- \checkmark Explore issues that can cause or contribute to wireless performance issues
- Implement predictive health checks
- Explore FortiAIOps predictive analytics and remediation
- Learn FortiAlOps monitoring practices
- Understand anomaly detection techniques

F:BRTINET

Training Institute

© Fortinet Inc. All Rights Reserved. 57

This slide shows the objectives that you covered in this lesson.

By mastering the objectives covered in this lesson, you learned about troubleshooting tools and commands and collect information of the wireless network.
DO NOT REPRINT © FORTINET



F

No part of this publication may be reproduced in any form or by any means or used to make any derivative such as translation, transformation, or adaptation without permission from Fortinet Inc., as stipulated by the United States Copyright Act of 1976.

Copyright© 2024 Fortinet, Inc. All rights reserved. Fortinet®, FortiGate®, FortiGate®, and FortiGuard®, and certain other marks are registered trademarks of Fortinet, Inc., in the U.S. and other jurisdictions, and other Fortinet names herein may also be registered and/or common law trademarks of Fortinet. All other product or company names may be trademarks of their respective owners. Performance and other metrics contained herein were attained in internal lab tests under ideal conditions, and actual performance and other results may vary. Network variables, different network environments and other conditions may affect performance results. Nothing herein represents any binding commitment by Fortinet, and Fortinet disclaims all warranties, whether express or implied, except to the extent Fortinet enters a binding written contract, signed by Fortinet's General Counsel, with a purchaser that expressly warrants that the identified product will perform according to certain expressly-identified performance metrics and, in such event, only the specific performance metrics expressly identified in such binding written contract shall be binding on Fortinet. For absolute clarity, any such warranty will be limited to performance in the same ideal conditions as in Fortinet's internal lab tests. In no event does Fortinet make any commitment related to future deliverables, features, or development, and circumstances may change such that any forward-looking statements herein are not accurate. Fortinet disclaims in full any covenants, representations, and guarantees pursuant hereto, whether express or implied. Fortinet reserves the right to change, modify, transfer, or otherwise revise this publication without notice, and the most current version of the publication shall be applicable.